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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA, Case No. S075136
Plaintiff and Respondent, (Monterey Superior Court
No. SC942212(C))
VvS.

DANIEL SANCHEZ COVARRUBIAS,

Defendant and Appellant.

TO THE HONORABLE RONALD M.GEORGE PRESIDING JUSTICE
AND THE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE CALIFORNIA SUPREME
COURT:

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. The Judgment

This is an appeal by appellant Daniel Covarrubias from a Monterey
County judgment of guilt for first degree murder with special circumstances,
attempted murder, assault, robbery, burglary and conspiracy. Mr. Covarrubias
also appeals from the judgment sentencing him to death.

B. Overview

The present case stands apart from the vast majérity of capital cases
which this Court has reviewed.

As the judge observed there was “an inexplicable disconnect” between

Mr. Covarrubias’ character and the crimes he was accused of committing. (72



RT 14218.)' Mr. Covarrubias had no prior felony convictions and no
ingrained history of criminal violence. And, all the witnesses who knew Mr.
Covarrubias consistently recounted his generosity and warmth. He loved his
family — which included a wife and four young children — and worked hard to
provide for them. In sum, it would have been totally out of character for Mr.
Covarrubias to have knowingly participated in the charged crimes.

Nor did the prosecution prove that Mr. Covarrubias knowingly
committed the charged crimes. Rather, Mr. Covarrubias’ convictions and
death sentence appear to be founded on vicarious liability which allowed the
acts and intent of the perpetrators to be constructively imputed to Mr.
Covarrubias. And, even if Mr. Covgrrubias’ lack of knowledge was the
product of criminal negligence or implied malice, such a mental state was, as
a matter of law, insufficient to trigger death eligibility under California law
and the federal constitution.

Moreover, none of the principal perpetrators of the crimes received the
death penalty — including Antonio Sanchez who — as conceded by the
prosecutor — “really was the one that had the bone to pick here. He was the one
that had it in for [the victim] Ramon Morales.” (52 RT 10224:19-24.)

But the most unique feature of this case is that the most important
disputed issue at the guilt/death eligibility trial — whether appellant had the
intent to steal required to convict him of robbery felony murder and conspiracy
to commit robbery — was never resolved by the jurors due to crucial omissions
in the definition ofvrobbery which governed the jurors’ deliberations.

The circumstances regarding this crucial omission of the required

' In attempting to address this obvious “disconnect” the prosecutor could

only speculate that it was appellant’s “nature” to commit such crimes.
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elements of robbery were as follows:

The prosecution alleged that appellant knowingly and intentionally
conspired with Antonio Sanchez, Joaquin Nufiez and Jose Luis Ramirez to rob
and kill Ramon Morales. According to the prosecution, appellant and the
others, two of whom were armed with rifles, entered Ramon Morales’
residence for the purpose of robbing and killing whomever was present. These
allegations were primarily dependent on the credibility of a single accomplice-
witness, Jose Luis Ramirez, whose criminal exposure was reduced from
special circumstance murder to less than a 12 years in exchange for his
testimony against appellant.’

The story, as told by the defense, differed from the prosecution’s. While
appellant conceded that he entered the Morales residence with Antonio
Sanchez and Joaquin Nuiiez, appellant denied conspiring to rob and murder
Morales. Instead, appellant believed the reason for going to Morales’ residence
was to obtain property belonging to Antonio Sanchez and not to rob, kill or
otherwise harm the occupants of the residence.’

The defense also contended that knowing participation in a conspiracy
to rob and kill was inconsistent with appellant’s character. As mentioned
above, appellant had no prior felony convictions, no history of violent criminal

conduct and was not involved with gangs or illegal drugs. In a word, he was

? Neither Antonio Sanchez nor Joaquin Nufiez — both of whom fled to Mexico
— were ever brought to trial in California. They were later taken into custody
in Mexico but not extradited to the United States. (71 RT 14012-16.) Appellant
was forcibly abducted by bounty hunters from his home in Mexico and
returned to Salinas to stand trial. (/bid.)

* Appellant conceded that Antonio Sanchez and Joaquin Nufiez took weapons
to Morales’ residence but maintained that they were only a precaution due to
a prior threat by Ramon Morales to kill Antonio Sanchez.

3



a “nice” guy.

In sum, this trial turned on the factual question of whether appellant
intended to rob and murder as asserted by the prosecution or whether appellant
intended to help Antonio Sanchez take his own property without harming
anyone as contended by the defense.

For their part, the jurors apparently had little faith in the credibility of
the key prosecution witness: Jose Luis Ramirez. The jurors unanimously
rejected Ramirez’ assertion that appellant used a knife on the occupant of the
residence immediately after entering the Morales residence. And, the jurors
also failed to find the special allegations that appellant (1) used a handgun and
(2) conspired to commit murder. Thus, even the prosecutor was forced to
acknowledge that appellant may have “believed that the guns were not going
to be used” and that “Antonio was just going to get some of his items back

.”4

However, even those jurors who did accept appellant’s explanation
were permitted — in fact required — to convict him of robbery and the other
robbery based charges including first degree felony murder. This is so because
the definition of robbery which governed the jurors deliberations did not
require a finding that appellant intended to steal, i.e., to permanently deprive
the owner of the property taken. Instead the instructions only required the
taking of property in the possession of another person with the intent to
permanently deprive that person of the property. Thus, even if appellant only
intended that property belonging to Antonio Sanchez be taken from the
Morales residence, under the instructions he was still guilty of robbery and

robbery-felony murder because Antonio Sanchez’ property was taken from

* 67 RT 13228-29.



another person with the intent to permanently deprive that person of the
property.

In sum, the guilt, special circumstance and penalty verdicts should be
reversed because appellant’s convictions and death sentence are founded on
a disputed factual allegation that the prosecution was never required to prove.
C. The Guilt Trial

In November 1994 Ramon Morales and two other persons were shot to
death in their Salinas residence. Also, an infant received non-fatal injuries
during the shootings. The prosecutor contended that four persons — Antonio
Sanchez, Joaquin Nufiez, Jose Luis Ramirez and appellant — conspired to
burglarize the residence for the purpose of robbing and murdering Ramon
Morales and anyone else who was present. On November 28, 1994, all four
alleged perpetrators were charged with three counts of first degree murder with
special circumstances as well as additional counts of robbery, burglary and
conspiracy. They were also charged with assault and attempted murder as to
the infant-victim.’

However, appellant was the only one of the four to be tried for these
crimes.® Neither Antonio Sanchez nor Joaquin Nufiez were brought to trial;
they were in custody in Mexico and had not been extradited. (71 RT 14008;
14012-16.) And, Jose Luis Ramirez received a plea-bargained sentence of 11

years, 8 months in exchange for his testimony against appellant. (40 RT 7802-

* See 1 CT 68-70 (municipal court) [complaint] [Note: first number refers to
Clerk’s Transcript volume].

6See 5 CT 1119-1138 [Information].



04; 7813-14; 42 RT 8233-38; Exhibit 52.)’

Proceedings were commenced against appellant in 1996 e‘lfter he was
abducted at gun point by bounty hunters from his home in Mexico. (71 RT
14012-16.)

Judge Robert Moody — a municipal court judge on temporary
assignment to superior court — presided over the proceedings. (4 CT 756-57.)

In February 1997, prior to jury selection, the judge ordered appellant to
wear a REACT stun belt which was designed to deliver 50,000 volts of
electricity for 8-10 seconds if activated. The intent of the device was to
impose “total psychological supremacy” over appellant (Supplemental Clerk’s
Transcript [hereinafter “SCT”] 838) and to “maintain [] an invisible leash
between the mind of [appellant] and the officer capable of activating [the belt]
....7 (3SCT 845)

“[TJust knowing the belt contain[ed] a jolt of 50,000 volts of unleashed

electricity . . .” would have had a “unique” psychological impact on appellant.

(3 SCT 839.)* Appellant was compelled to wear the stun belt, over objection,

7 The prosecution also alleged that a fifth person, Lorenzo Nufiez, was

involved in the alleged conspiracy although he was not present at the time of
the shootings. (See 1 CT 14-26.) Nuiiez was tried and convicted of three
counts of murder, attempted murder, assault with a firearm, residential
burglary, conspiracy, residential robbery, unlawful assault weapon activity, and
grand theft of a firearm in a separate trial. However, Nufiez’ sentence was
later vacated (Nusiez v. Garcia (2001 N.D. Cal.) 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
12637) and the Monterey County District Attorney’s office declined to retry
the case. (Monterey Superior Court No. 942212(A).)

¥ The REACT stun belt literature described its effect as follows:

“The most unique feature of the belt is the psychological impact
rendered on the wearer. Just knowing the belt contains a jolt of
(continued...)



throughout his jury trial. (2 SCT 318.) Appellant renewed his objection to the
stun beltin August 1998 but the judge refused to reconsider the order requiring
appellant to wear the belt. (27 RT 5211-12.)

On March 3, 1997 the judge — with the agreement of the prosecutor —
granted the defense motion for a continuing order that all defense objections
are made on all applicable state and federal grounds. (11 RT 2007; 2025; 27
RT 5202 [order reaffirmed on August 10, 1998]; see also 3 CT 675-76 [written
motion].)

In June of 1998 Judge Moody, Judge Phillips and Judge Price engaged
in plea discussions with appellant’s attorney and the district attorney. Judges
Price and Phillips both “felt strongly” that a life without parole sentence would
be a “fair and prudent disposition of this case.” (2 SCT 316.) Judge Moody
agreed with this assessment. (22 RT 4202-04.) However, the district attorney
continued to demand a death sentence.’

During jury selection, which commenced in Augustof 1998,'° the judge

¥(...continued)
50,000 volts of unleashed electricity at officer discretion,
prompts the most violent inmate into becoming a complying
customer.” (3 SCT 839.)

The belt literature also stated: “Distraction! That is why the Belt works so
well.” (3 SCT 843.)

® On June 25, 1998, Judge Moody ruled that, because the prosecution was not
willing to accept the plea agreement, the court had no authority to accept the
plea agreement. (24 RT 4602-17; 4 CT 806.)

' Jury selection originally commenced in March, 1997, and continued for
three days. (10 RT 1816; 3 CT 698.) However, on March 6, 1997, the Sixth
District Court of Appeal agreed to hear the defense writ petition on
sequestered voir dire and all proceedings were stayed pending the Court of

(continued...)



excused several prospective jurors for cause based solely on their written
responses to questions about the death penalty on the juror questionnaires and
denied the defense an opportunity to orally voir dire the jurors. (RT 6201-15;
6601; 6606-11.)

At trial the prosecution relied on robbery-based theories of liability as
to all ten counts. (See Claim 10 § E(2), pp.150-51, incorporated herein
[robbery based theories of liability to all ten counts and felony murder special
circumstances].) Appellant defended against these theories — which primarily
depended on the testimony of accomplice Jose Luis Ramirez — by attacking the
credibility of Ramirez and affirmatively contending that appellant had no
intent to rob or kill the victims. (See Claim 10 § B(2), pp.141-46, incorporated
herein [defense evidence negating alleged intent to steal the property of
another].) In particular, appellant maintained that he only intended to help
Antonio Sanchez take his own property which was in the Morales residence.
(4 SCT 1036-39.)

However, the robbery instruction failed to require a juror determination
of appellant’s defense because it omitted two essential elements: (1) intent to
steal (i.e., to permanently deprive the owner of the property), and (2) the taking

of property belonging to another person. (6 CT 1307-08.) Moreover, there was

19(...continued)
Appeal decision. (17 RT 3202;3 CT 711.)

On May 7, 1998, the Court of Appeal issued its peremptory writ of
mandate. (3 CT 779.) This writ ordered the trial court to “exercise your
discretion to decide whether it is practicable in petitioner’s case to conduct
voir dire in the presence of other jurors.” (3 CT 779.) Jury selection began
anew in August of 1998. (RT 5401-02.)
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no instruction on claim of right as a basis for negating intent to steal.''
During deliberations the jurors sent out written notes requesting: a
readback of the testimony of Jose Ramirez, Bertha Sanchez and Amy Trejo (5
CT 1196);"* a list of the overt acts in the conspiracy count (6 CT 1200);'"* to
see “the wall” (a portion of the wall from the Morales residence) and the
mannequins (clothed in the victims’ bloody clothing) which were used as

demonstration exhibits (6 CT 1198),'* and clarification of the instructions.'®

"' The defense did not request a claim of right instruction. (But see Claim 12,
pp. 195-205, incorporated herein [the judge had a sua sponte duty to instruct
on claim of right].)

'2 On September 2, 1998, the court received a note from the jury requesting a
readback of the testimony of several guilt phase witnesses. (54 RT 10601-03;
6 CT 1196 [note]; 4 CT 957 [minute order].) The judge ordered that the
requested testimony would be read to the jury in the deliberation room with
only the jurors and reporter present. (54 RT 10602.)

"> On September 3, 1998, the court received a note from the jury requesting
that they be given a written listing of the six overt acts charged with respect to
the conspiracy. (55 RT 10801-02; 6 CT 1200 [note]; 4 CT 960 [minute
order].) Over the objection of the defense, the jury was provided with a list of
the overt acts which included the arson overt act the judge had omitted in the
oral instructions. (55 RT 10801-02; 6 CT 1328-30.)

'* In response to this request, the judge contacted counsel and allowed the jury
to enter the courtroom to view the wall and mannequins because they were too
big to send into the jury room. (55 RT 10804.)

'> On September 8, 1998, the judge noted the receipt of two questions from
the jury. The first asked, “If property is taken from the place before a person
arrives, is it robbery or burglary or both?” The second stated, “We need
definition and clarification of ‘a principal was or was not armed with a firearm,
to wit, a .38 caliber handgun and .30/.30 rifle’.” (56 RT 11001-11003; 6 CT
1201 and 1202 [notes]; 962-64 [minute order].) The judge responded by
rereading the burglary and robbery instructions and giving an additional “off-

(continued...)



The jurors also sent out a number of inquiries which were not answered on the

record.'®

After over 18 hours'’ of deliberation over four days (4 CT 956-63; 53

(...continued)
the-cuff” explanation of robbery and burglary. (56 RT 11003-07.) The
defense objected to the “off-the-cuff” explanation. (56 RT 11007;4 CT 962-
64.) The judge also explained that the arming enhancement could be found if
any of the principals were armed with either the .38 caliber handgun or the
.30/.30 rifle. (56 RT 11006.)

The jury also submitted two notes requesting clarification of conspiracy.
(56 RT 11009-11; 6 CT 1204 [note]; 1216 [note]; 4 CT 963 [minute order].)
The judge responded to one of the juror questions but not the other and the
defense objected. (56 RT 11013-17.) Later that day, the jury returned its
verdicts regarding the guilt allegations. (56 RT 11018-48; 4 CT 963-66.)
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See 6 CT 1209 (not dated) [“Can we get more copies of the jury
instructions? (Maybe 2 or 3)” ]; 6 CT 1211 (9/21/98) [Requesting “...6 copies
of the instructions”]; CT 1214 (not dated) [“Can we look at the argument?”’];
6 CT 1217 (not dated) [“Could we have the exhibits raised. So they may be
more easily viewed by jurors? (Maybe moved more to judge’s right)”; 6 CT
1220 (possibly 8/19/98) [“If witness Delia [Longoria]... is to be recalled could
we have an interpreter assist her during her testimony. I felt she couldn’t
understand the questions put to her by defense counsel”]: 6 CT 1221 (8/25/98)
[“Question for prosecution: 1) What about the coroner’s report? Will we get
it? 2) How many times each body shot, where and by what caliber/type of
bullet? 3) Who owned the white bus in the driveway @ crime scene?” 4) why
is trial being held so long after the crime? 5) where is Morales’ daughter
today? 6) where is Antonio? 7) Where is Joaquin?”’]; 6 CT 1215 (possibly
8/26/98) [“Prosecutor: Please clarify what the “taser” is. Do you mean the
projectile version or the non-projectile version?”’]; 6 CT 1222 (not dated)
[“Where is Dan C’s wife? Why has she not testified on his behalf?”].

'7 The clerk’s minutes show the starting time of deliberations for each day.
Assuming the jurors stopped deliberations at 5:00 p.m. each day and had
breaks totaling approximately 2 hours for each full day, the hours of
deliberation were as follows:

(continued...)
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RT 10475-11048), the jurors, on September 8, 1998, found appellant guilty of
first degree murder (3 counts); attempted murder (1 count); assault with a
deadly weapon (1 count); first degree robbery (3 counts); first degree burglary
(1 count); and conspiracy to commit robbery and burglary (1 count). (4 CT
967-997.) The jurors also found the arming enhancement and the three special
circumstance allegations to be true: multiple murder, robbery felony murder
and burglary felony murder. (4 CT 968; 972; 976; 979.)"*

However, the jurors could not agree on the conspiracy to commit
murder allegation. (4 CT 997; 56 RT 11046.)"°

As to all Counts, the jurors unanimously found the use of a knife
allegation untrue (4 CT 969-70; 973-74; 977-78; 981; 983; 985; 988; 991;
994), and could not agree on a verdict as to the special allegation that appellant

used a firearm. (56 RT 11019; 11021; 11026; 11032;11036; 11047-48;4 CT

'"(...continued)
9/1/98 [commenced 3:45 pm]- 1 hour 15 minutes (4 CT 956-57)
9/2/98 [commenced 9:00 pm]— 6 hours (4 CT 958-59)
9/3/98 [commenced 9:00 pm]— 6 hours (4 CT 961-62)
9/8/98 [commenced 9:00 pm/ returned verdict 4:00 pm]- 5 hours (4 CT
962-63)

Total — 18 hours 15 minutes

'® The jurors also found the following enhancements as to Counts 1-9:

(1) That a principal was armed with a .38 handgun and a .30/.30 rifle
per Penal Code § 12022(a)(1) and

(2) That a principal was armed with an assault rifle (AR-15) per Penal
Code § 12022(a)(2). (4 CT 969; 973; 977; 980-81; 984-85; 987-88; 990-91;
993-94.) No firearm enhancements were alleged as to Count 10, conspiracy.
(4 CT 996-97.)

' The numerical breakdown was 11 to 1. (56 RT 11046.)

11



970; 974; 978; 981; 983; 985-86; 988-89; 991-92; 994-95.)*°
D. The Penalty Trial

At the penalty trial the prosecution was permitted to present — without
any cautionary instructions — extensive victim impact testimony. The judge
also permitted the jurors to view, over defense objection, an emotionally
charged audio-video montage during the prosecution’s closing argument. (See
Claim 59, pp.537-52, herein.) During their second day of penalty deliberations,
the jurors asked for additional sets of the written instructions. (6 CT 1211.)
Shortly before returning the death verdict the jurors sent out a note asking, “If
we can’t come to an agreement on a penalty, is it a mistrial or default to life in
prison [without] parole, or does judge make decision?” (6 CT 1212; RT
13601-02.) The judge responded by admonishing the jurors not to consider the

returned its verdict of death on September 22, 1998. (5 CT 1067.)

consequences of any failure to reach a verdict. (RT 13603-06.)*' The jury

E. Sentencing

1. Mexican Consulate Evidence

On October 15, 1998, the matter came on calendar for sentencing. At
this proceeding, the defense advised the court that a representative of the

Mexican Consulate would be making a presentation regarding the applicability

20 The numerical breakdown was 11 to 1 as to the use of a firearm allegation
in Counts 1 and 2. (56 RT 11022; 11047-48.)

I The jurors also sent out the following notes during the penalty deliberations:
The judge mentioned a juror note concerning whether the jurors’
admonishment was still in effect, but this note does not appear in the Court
Transcript (9/15/98,61 RT 12001); CT 1211 (9/21/98) [Requesting “...6 copies
of the instructions”]; CT 1212 (9/22/98) [“If we can’t come to an agreement
on a penalty, is it a mistrial or defaults to life in prison w/o parole, or does
judge make decision”].

12



of a 1994 Executive Agreement signed by the United States and Mexico. (71
RT 14003-08.) The representative of the Mexican Consulate argued that the
imposition of the death penalty on appellant would be “unfair” because the
criminal abduction of appellant from Mexico to the United States by bounty
hunters exposed appellant to the death penalty while the other persons
involved in the crime who were in Mexico did not receive the death penalty.
(71 RT 14012-16.) Moreover, the two others involved who were in custody
in Mexico [Antonio Sanchez and Joaquin Nuilez] could not testify at
appellant’s trial in the United States but could have testified had he been tried
in Mexico. (71 RT 14012-16.) The court put the matter over so the
prosecution could address the issue. (71 RT 14016-17; 5 CT 1120.)

On October 27, 1998, the prosecution argued that the court should only
review the evidence presented to the jury and should limit its ruling to an
assessment of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. The defense
argued that the evidence presented by the Mexican Consulate should also be
considered. The defense filed documents from the Mexican Consulate which
were made part of the record. (72 RT 14201-04.)

The court concluded that it would only consider the evidence presented
to the jury during trial and stated that it was not up to him to attempt to pass
on aspects of international law. (72 RT 14204-07.)

2. “Troubling Aspects” Of The Case

Before imposing the death penalty the judge commented on certain
“troubling aspects” of the case. The judge observed that appellant did not fit
“the pattern” of a death row inmate: he has “considerably more humanity to
him than most of the others.” (72 RT 14219.) The judge was also troubled by
the “disconnect between the evidence of the defendant’s character and the

enormity and monstrosity of the crimes he committed.” (72 RT 14217-18.)
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Nevertheless, the judge sentenced appellant to death. (72RT 14219-22;
5CT 1064.)
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GUILT PHASE: STATEMENT OF FACTS
A. Overview

1. Summary Of The Central Factual Issues

On November 16, 1994 Ramon Morales, his wife Martha Morales and
her brother Fernando Martinez were shot to death in their residence at 1022
East Market Street in Salinas. The Morales’ infant daughter was also shot, but
survived.

Monterey County charges were filed against Antonio Sanchez, Joaquin
Nuifiez, Jose Luis Ramirez and appellant. (1 CT 68-70; 5 CT 1119-1138.)*
However, appellant was the only one brought to trial.”®

At appellant’s trial, the prosecution alleged that appellant and the three
others conspired to enter the Morales’ home and to rob and kill Ramon
Morales and anybody else in the residence. The allegation that appellantjoined
in the plan to rob and murder the victims was primarily** based on the

testimony of Jose Luis Ramirez that:

> See Statement Of Case, § C, p. 6, fn. 7, herein [re: separate charges filed
against Lorenzo Nufiez who was not present during the shootings].

> Antonio Sanchez and Joaquin Nufiez were taken into custody by Mexican
authorities but not extradited for trial in the United States. (71 RT 14012-16.)

Jose Luis Ramirez was allowed to plead guilty to 3 counts of robbery
and a burglary charge, and received a sentence of 11 years, 8 months in
exchange for testifying against appellant. (40 RT 7802-04; 7813-14; 42 RT
8233-8238.) If Ramirez had notbeen able to testify against appellant he would
have received a life sentence. (42 RT 8238; Exhibit 52.)

** Besides the testimony of Jose Luis Ramirez the prosecution relied on

physical evidence including: the ransacking of the house, appellant’s
fingerprints on two boxes of ammunition and a “Huggies” box, Jose Luis
Ramirez’ fingerprints on a tackle box, and the fact that other witnesses saw
Jose Luis Ramirez after the shootings with three items he said were taken from
the Morales residence.
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(1) Antonio Sanchez and victim Ramon Morales had a running dispute
which included threats against each other’s lives.

(2) Prior to the shootings Antonio Sanchez, Jose Luis Ramirez, Joaquin
Nufiez and appellant obtained the rifles used in the shootings, committed arson
to obtain money for ammunition,** test-fired the rifles, drove to the victims’
residence in appellant’s car (with appellant driving) and entered with Antonio
Sanchez and Joaquin Nufiez carrying the rifles and appellant carrying a knife.

(3) Before going to Ramon Morales’ house, Antonio Sanchez and
appellant discussed the alleged plan to rob and kill Ramon Morales.

(4) Immediately after they entered appellant held a knife to the
occupant’s throat. |

(5) After entering the residence Antonio Sanchez told Jose Luis
Ramirez to take anything he could.

(6) Appellant took two handguns from a box in the kitchen of the
residence and gave one to Antonio Sanchez.

Appellant did not dispute the allegations that he drove himself and the
three others to the Morales residence, entered with the others and handled
certain items in the residence. Nor did he dispute that he was present when the
victims were shot. However, appellant maintained that his only intent was to
help Antonio Sanchez obtain his (Antonio’s) own things from the Morales
residence and that he did not intend to rob, kill or otherwise harm the victims.
Appellant also disputed the allegation that he used a knife and a .38 handgun.

Accordingly, the evidence raised four central factual issues for the

2 The arson was alleged as an overt act vis-a-vis the conspiracy charge.

However, there was no evidence that appellant participated in the arson other
than his association with Antonio Sanchez. (See Guilt Phase: Statement Of
Facts § B(6), pp. 24, incorporated herein.)

16



jurors to resolve:

[a—y

. Did appellant use a knife to assault one of the victims?
2. Did appellant shoot the victims with a .38 handgun?

3. Did appellant act with a premeditated and deliberate intent to kill?

4. Did appellant act with the intent necessary for robbery and burglary
and the robbery-based theories of liability as to the murder, attempted murder
and conspiracy charges?

The jury did not accept the prosecution’s theories as to first three issues.
The jurors unanimously found that the use of a knife allegation was not true
and they failed to reach a verdict on the use of a .38 handgun and conspiracy
to commit murder allegations.

On the other hand, the jury did find appellant guilty of robbery, burglary
and conspiracy to commit robbery and burglary. Also, the jurors found the
robbery and burglary felony murder special circumstance allegations to be true.
Thus, it is apparent that the jurors resolved the fourth issue — intent to commit
robbery and burglary — in favor of the prosecution to all ten counts on those
predicate offenses. And, it is also apparent the jurors relied on the above
findings to convict appellant of first-degree murder. (See People v.
Demetrulias (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1, 24-5 [“The robbery-murder
special-circumstance finding also dictated a finding of first degree felony
murder under section 189 and the corresponding felony-murder instruction
...7]; see also People v. Sanders (1990) 51 Cal.3d 471, 509-10 [same].)

In sum, the key factual issue in this trial was whether appellant acted
with the intent necessary to warrant conviction of burglary and robbery and the
associated special circumstances. The evidence relevant to this issue is

discussed below.
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2. Summary Of Evidence Regarding Intent To Steal

The prosecution contended that appellant had the necessary knowledge
and intent for robbery and burglary based primarily on the testimony of the
accomplice-witness, Jose Luis Ramirez, regarding an alleged discussion
between appellant and Antonio Sanchez of a plan to rob and murder the
victims. Also, Jose Luis Ramirez testified that after entering the residence,
Antonio Sanchez told Jose Luis to take what he could.?

The prosecution also relied on the testimony of Jose Luis Ramirez to
argue that appellant personally committed robbery by taking two handguns
from a box in the kitchen of the residence.

In sum, the primary evidence of appellant’s alleged intent to steal came
from Jose Luis Ramirez.”’

The defense, however, attacked the credibility of Ramirez on numerous

28

grounds.” Additionally, in a video statement offered by the prosecution,

6 Jose Luis Ramirez maintained that he was helping his uncle, Antonio

Sanchez, steal Ramon Morales’ things because that was what Antonio Sanchez
wanted. Jose Luis Ramirez testified that he searched the house looking for
things to “steal” and that he made three trips from the house to the car taking
items such as a VCR and stereo equipment. He also took a necklace from the
bed stand, and a jar of “Tres Flores” [three flowers] hair oil-which was the
brand Jose Luis used. Jose Luis Ramirez took these items, as well as a .32
handgun (that Antonio Sanchez gave him from inside the house) with him
when he fled.

7 The prosecution also relied on the fact that appellant’s fingerprints were
found on several items of property in the Morales residence. However, this
fact was also consistent with appellant’s claim that he was looking for property
that belonged to Antonio Sanchez. |

8 First, Jose Luis Ramirez had received a favorable plea bargain in exchange
for his testimony. Second, Ramirez admitted that he had deliberately lied to
(continued...)
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appellant denied that he acted with intent to steal. Appellant stated that he
only intended to help Antonio Sanchez get some things which Sanchez had left
at the Morales residence. Appellant also denied any intent to help Jose Luis
Ramirez loot the house.

The defense also relied on evidence of appellant’s non-violent character
— especially when intoxicated — to argue that appellant did not know about the
alleged plan to rob and kill. Furthermore, appellant did not know Ramon
Morales and had no motive to kill or rob him.

Appellant’s contention that he only intended to take certain items
belonging to Antonio Sanchez was further corroborated by the fact that
numerous items of value were not taken, including $378 in cash.

B. Events Prior To The Entry Of The Morales Residence

1. Prior Friendship Between Antonio Sanchez and Ramon Morales

Antonio Sanchez and Ramon Morales had been “good friends.” (42 RT
8208.) They lived in the same house until August, 1994. (40 RT 7808-09; 41
RT 8052-53;43 RT 8448-52; 44 RT 8641-45.) They were friendly with each
other and would drink together socially on a regular basis. (44 RT 8643-44.)
In August or September, 1994 Antonio and Ramon stopped living
together because the house they were living in was too crowded. (43 RT 8452;

8646.) Ramon, Martha, their infant daughter and Martha’s brother, Fernando,

?8(...continued)

the police about how he saw appellant take the handguns. Third, Ramirez
made numerous contradictory statements about the events prior to the alleged
assailants’ entry. Fourth, Ramirez made contradictory statements about
whether appellant had a handgun and used a knife. Fifth, Ramirez made a post-
crime statement inconsistent with his testimony that there was a plan to rob
and kill the victims. Sixth, Ramirez was intoxicated when he allegedly saw
and heard the matters about which he testified.
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moved to the converted garage at 1022 East Market in Salinas where the
shootings occurred. (39 RT 7663-64 [Longoria].)* Antonio lived with his
sister for a while and then went to Mexicali for about a month before returning
with appellant in November of 1994. (44 RT 8620-24; 8662.)*

2. Dispute Between Antonio And Ramon

Antonio and Ramon were still on good terms when they stopped living
together in August or September, 1994. (44 RT 8646 [Arturo]; 8705 [Amy
Trejo].) However, at some point thereafter, a dispute occurred between the
two.

According to Jose Luis Ramirez, the dispute related to drug dealing. (42
RT 8208.)*" On the other hand, Arturo Perez, who lived with Antonio and
Ramon for approximately six months, had never seen or heard any evidence
of drug dealing or other illegal activity. (44 RT 8620; 8640-45.) According to
Perez, Antonio worked in the fields®? and as an automobile mechanic; Ramon
bought and sold cars for a living. (44 RT 8641; 8651.) Perez testified that the
dispute between Sanchez and Morales was about payment for repairing an

automobile. (44 RT 8621-22; 8643-45.)>

2 Lorenzo Nuiiez also lived in the East Market residence. (39 RT 7672; 7694;
44 RT 8623.)

3% After he returned from Mexicali, Antonio lived with his niece Amita. (44
RT 8704.)

*1 Appellant was not involved with drugs. (41 RT 8063.)

32 The prosecution presented payroll records showing that Ramon worked in
the fields. (46 RT 9088-91.)

** Amy Trejo testified that the dispute was about money from something that
happened when Antonio Sanchez and Ramon Morales were living together.
(continued...)
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According to Jose Luis Ramirez, Antonio and Ramon had each
threatened to kill the other. (42 RT 8207-08.) Amy Trejo heard Antonio say
that he wanted to kill Ramon but she didn’t take it seriously. (44 RT 8721.)*
Jose Luis Ramirez apparently didn’t take the threats seriously either.*

Appellant knew that Ramon had threatened Antonio. (4 SCT 1037;
Exhibit 85A.) However, appellant did not believe that Antonio intended to kill
or rob Ramon when they went to the Morales residence on November 16,
1994. (Ibid.) He believed Antonio simply intended to get some property
Antonio had left at Ramon’s residence and did not know or believe that
Antonio Sanchez intended to harm anyone. (/bid.)

3. Evidence That Ramon Morales And Antonio Sanchez —But Not
Appellant — Were Involved With Drugs

Jose Luis Ramirez testified that Antonio Sanchez and Ramon Morales
sold drugs and stole cars together. (41 RT 8051-52; 8061-62; 42 RT 8208.)

Other evidence of Ramon Morales’ drug dealing included discovery of
a “triple-beam” scale in a chicken coop outside his residence. (46 RT 9078.)
Also, Ramon carried a pistol (41 RT 8062-63; 39 RT 7684; 39 RT 7704; 38
RT 7410); other firearms were in a locked box in his residence (46 RT 9073);

additional guns were found in a box in the bedroom and in the chicken coop

33(...continued)
(44 RT 8703-8705.)

3 See also footnote 35, below.

** He told Antonio Sanchez on the phone after the murders that “I didn’t think
you were going to do that.” (42 RT 8248-49.) If Jose Luis Ramirez had
thought that anything serious was going to happen to the Morales he would
have warned them before he and the others entered the residence. (42 RT
8242; 8250.)
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behind the Morales residence (50 RT 9870-72 [defense]); and Ramon used an
alias when renting the converted garage. (39 RT 7664-65.) A small amount
of hashish was found in the bedroom of the Morales residence. (46 RT
9077.)*

However, appellant was not involved in the sale or distribution of
drugs. (41 RT 8063.)

4. Appellant’s Transportation Of Antonio Sanchez And Joaquin
Nufiez To Salinas

In October of 1994, Antonio Sanchez went to Mexico where he stayed
for about a month. (44 RT 8620-24; 8662.) Thereafter, appellant — who was
a cousin of Antonio Sanchez and Joaquin Nufiez (40 RT 7805-08; 43 RT
8411-12; 8427) — drove them to Salinas from Mexico, ar%iving around
November 11, 1994. (43 RT 8410-13.) It was not unusual for appellant to
transport family members back and forth across the Mexican border.”’

Appellant planned to return to Mexico after a few days. However,
because appellant’s sister, Bertha Sanchez, had plans to go to Mexico on
November 17, appellant decided to wait until then and go with Bertha. (43 RT
8413-14.)

3¢ Cockfighting paraphernalia and roosters were also found in the chicken
coop, as well as a triple beam scale which is used to “measure out the amount
of narcotics you are going to sell.” (46 RT 9078.) However, the scale could
have been used to weigh food for the roosters. (46 RT 9078-79; 9085-87.)

3" Jose Luis Ramirez testified that appellant was a “coyote” who brought
people who did not have papers from Mexico into the United States. (41 RT
8055; 8071-72.) DA investigator Richard Moore ordered driver licenses from
the DMV for appellant. One of the licenses had the name Arturo Saucedo and
the other the name Daniel Covarrubias. (48 RT 9470-75.) [In argument to the
jury defense counsel stated that appellant was a coyote. (52 RT 10269 [guilt];
59 RT 11634 [penalty].).] However, according to appellant, he only engaged
in coyote activities for his friends and family. (See 64 RT 12625 [penalty].)
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5. The Rifles Used In The Shootings

The day before the killings, Lorenzo Nuiiez, who lived with the Morales
(39 RT 7694), came over to Bertha Sanchez’ residence, where appellant was
staying. (43 RT 8415-16.) While appellant was in another room making a
phone call, Lorenzo took out two rifles (43 RT 8415-16; 8431) from under the
sofa. (43 RT 8416; 8433.) In his video statement appellant said that Lorenzo
gave him the rifles to sell in Mexico to raise money to bring Lorenzo’s wife
and daughter to Salinas. (4 SCT 1036.) Bertha was very upset when she saw
the rifles and she told appellant to take them out of the house, so appellant took
them to his car. (43 RT 8418; 8432.)*® Bertha could not identify the
demonstration rifles (an AR-15 and a .30/.30) shown to her by the prosecutor
as “similar” to the rifles she saw in her house because she didn’t “know
anything about weapons.” (43 RT 8417.)

According to Jose Luis Ramirez, on the day of the shootings there were
two rifles in the trunk of appellant’s car: an AR-15 automatic and a .30/.30
lever action. (40 RT 7859-62.) Jose Luis Ramirez thought that Antonio
Sanchez was the one who put the rifles in appellant’s car. (40 RT 7847.) Amy
Trejo saw Antonio Sanchez move a box of guns from Antonio’s trunk to the
appellant’s trunk. (44 RT 8694-95.) She wasn’t sure what kind of guns were
in the box. (44 RT 8707-08.)

On the afternoon of the killings, Antonio Sanchez and Joaquin Nufiez
each displayed a rifle at Amy Arrendondo’s residence. (43 RT 8462-63.)
Antonio Sanchez, Joaquin Nuiiez and Jose Luis Ramirez were also the ones
who purchased ammunition for the rifles and who test fired the rifles. (See

Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § B(7) and (10), pp. 25-27 below,

% See also p. 45, herein [Defense Evidence § 3].
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incorporated herein.) Antonio Sanchez carried the AR-15 and Joaquin Nufiez
the .30/.30 when they entered the Morales residence. (41 RT 8008-09; 8019-
20.)

Jose Luis Ramirez never saw appellant handle either of the rifles. (41
RT 8011; 42 RT 8205.)

Appellant did not have a firearm when they entered the Morales
residence. (41 RT 8011.)*°

6. Burning Of Avalos’ Truck; Obtaining $100 From The Trailer
Park

In the early morning hours of November 16, 1994, Juan Martinez
Avalos’ produce truck was set on fire. He did not know who bur?ed his truck,
but he had parted on bad terms with his produce business partner, Angel
Martinez. (43 RT 8486-91.) Avalos reported the fire to the police. (RT
8492.)*

Jose Luis Ramirez told DA Investigator Richard Moore that Antonio
Sanchez picked up a $100 bill from a trailer park in North Salinas in payment
for burning a vehicle on November 15, 1994 and so testified. (43 RT 8495-

96.)*' Jose Luis Ramirez said the $100 was paid by a lady in one of the trailers

¥ Delia Longoria testified that she saw appellant leave the residence carrying
arifle. (39 RT 7710.) However, Longoria, who was highly traumatized at the
time of the observation, could only see a part of the rifle above the fence. (39
RT 7696-97.) Longoria also appeared to have trouble understanding the
questions which were asked in English without an interpreter. (See 6 CT 1220
[juror note stating that Longoria “couldn’t understand the questions put to her
by defense counsel”].)

40 In the police report his name was stated as Martinez. (43 RT 8498.)

‘1 However, Moore’s testimony that Jose Luis Ramirez said the $100 was for
burning a truck was admitted only for the purpose of explaining Moore’s
(continued...)
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for a debt owed to Antonio Sanchez.*’ Jose Luis Ramirez was not permitted to
testify that the debt was payment for burning a vehicle. (40 RT 7831-35.)

After interrogating Jose Luis Ramirez, and in response to Jose Luis
Ramirez’ statement about the burning of the vehicle, Moore reviewed the
report about the burning of Avalos’ truck. (43 RT 8498.) He had Jose Luis
Ramirez show him the trailer where Antonio Sanchez obtained the $100. (40
RT 7832.) Moore also contacted Avalos, who stated that his truck had been
burned that night, and showed Moore the trailer where the people lived whom
he suspected were responsible for the burning. This was the same trailer (# 35)
where Jose Luis Ramirez said Antonio had obtained the $100. (43 RT 8499-
8500.)

Other than his association with Antonio Sanchez, there was no evidence
that appellant was involved in the arson.

7. Purchase Of Ammunition At JKD

According to Jose Luis Ramirez, on the afternoon of November 16,
1994, appellant drove Antonio Sanchez, Joaquin Nufiez and Jose Luis Ramirez
to the JKD Shooting Sports store on North Main Street in Salinas after
receiving the $100 bill at the trailer park. Antonio Sanchez purchased
ammunition and a clip for an AR-15 assault rifle and possibly .30/.30

ammunition. (40 RT 7838-39; 42 RT 8281-83.) Antonio paid for the

41(...continued)
investigation and was not to be considered as to whether there actually was an
arson. (43 RT 8495-96.)

** Jose Luis Ramirez testified that appellant got out of the car while they were
at the trailer park and looked at a rifle that was hanging in a pickup truck
parked there. According to Jose Luis Ramirez, appellant said he was going to
steal the rifle if the person in the trailer didn’t pay Antonio Sanchez the money
owed to him. (40 RT 7833-34.)
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ammunition with a $100 bill. (40 RT 7840-41; 42 RT 8275.) Appellant
waited in the car while the three others were in the store. (40 RT 7837.)

James Fletcher, who worked at JKD Shooting Sports, remembered three
young Hispanic men who purchased ammunition for an AR-15 and another
kind of rifle. (42 RT 8260-62.) Appellant was not one of the three men who
purchased the ammunition. (42 RT 8276.)

Based on the register receipt, Fletcher was certain that the transaction
took place early in the morning on November 15, not in the afternoon on
November 16, 1994. (42 RT 8273-74.) Fletcher testified that “. . . I can say
with absolute, unequivocal, bet-my-life-on-it certainty that [November 15] is
the correct date.” (42 RT 8273-74.)

8. Drinking Throughout The Afternoon And Evening

Appellant and the others purchased beer and drank throughout the
afternoon and evening at various locations. (40 RT 7836; 7841-43; 43 RT
8458-61[at Aunt Amy’s]; 40 RT 7843-44 [at Amita’s]; 7851-53 [at Bertha’s].)

9. Prosecution Evidence Of Appellant’s Intoxication On November
16, 1994

Jose Luis Ramirez testified that during the day of November 16, 1994
they bought two 24-can cases of beer, or four twelve packs which the four of
them drank — each drinking about the same amount. (41 RT 8066-67; see also
Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § G(2), pp. 150-51, incorporated herein.)*

Amy Arredondo testified that appellant and the others were drinking
beer at her house around 5:00-5:30 p.m. (43 RT 8458-61.) Appellant was
intoxicated when they left. (43 RT 8462.)

“*  Appellant was slightly built. (See 5 CT 1101 [FBI report of 7/25/95
indicating that appellant was five feet, six inches tall and weighed 125
pounds].)
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Bertha Sanchez testified that during the afternoon of November 16,
1994 she saw appellant drive up outside of her house as she was leaving to do
laundry. (43 RT 8419-20.) Antonio Sanchez, Jose Luis Ramirez and Joaquin
Nufiez were with him. (43 RT 8420.) When she returned at 7:30 or 8:00 they
were still there. (43 RT 8421.) She was mad at them because they were
outside drinking. She told appellant to leave. (43 RT 8421;8429.) Berthahad
seen appellant drinking on many occasions and that evening she believed he
was drunk. She would not have felt safe riding in a car that appellant was
driving. (43 RT 8429-30.)

When intoxicated, appellant was “very happy, a dancer.” (43 RT 8429;
8447.)* There was no evidence that appellant was a violent person. (See e.g,
44 RT 8711 [appellant was “nice” and got along with everyone else].)

10. Test Firing Of The Rifles

According to Jose Luis Ramirez, after leaving Bertha’s house, the men
drove to “the mountains” to test fire the guns. (44 RT 8755-56.) Antonio
Sanchez and Joaquin Nufiez loaded the rifles and fired them out the car
windows while appellant was driving. (40 RT 7859-63.)

Robert Falcon lived on Old Stage Road in the country outside of
Salinas. (48 RT 9485.) On November 16, 1994, Falcon heard shots being
fired in the area and reported this to the police. (42 RT 8257; 48 RT 9486.)*

11. Events After The Test Firing

Jose Luis Ramirez testified that after test-firing the rifles, Antonio said

* The prosecution evidence of intoxication was corroborated by the testimony
of defense witness Jorge Acosta. (See Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § G(2),
pp. 150-51, incorporated herein.)

4 Richard Moore testified that Falcon made the report at 8:03. (48 RT 9486.)
Falcon testified he thought it was “around 9:00.” (42 RT 8257.)
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that they were going to kill Ramon Morales’ brother, Guillermo. (40 RT
7863-64.) However, before going to Guillermo’s residence, they went to the
house of one of Jose Luis Ramirez’ friends because appellant had asked for a
smaller

weapon. (40 RT 7864.)* The friend wasn’t home so they drove to
Guillermo’s house. (40 RT 7865.) Jose Luis Ramirez testified that appellant
said that he would go to Guillermo’s door because no one would recognize
him. (40 RT 7865.) Appellant went to the front door but then returned shortly
because no one answered the door. (40 RT 7867.) They then went to “Frank’s
house” because Antonio wanted to kill him also. Frank also owed Antonio
money. (40 RT 7867.) They drove to the motel where Frank was staying, but
no one got out of the vehicle there. (41 RT 8004.)

12. Driving To The Morales Residence

After driving to the motel where Frank was staying, appellant drove
Antonio Sanchez, Jose Luis Ramirez and Joaquin Nuiiez to the Morales
residence. (41 RT 8004.) Appellant parked the car near the residence. (41 RT
8005-06.) According to Jose Luis Ramirez, appellant went to the front door
first because no one would know him. (41 RT 8007.)"

C. The Purpose Of Going To The Morales Residence
According to Jose Luis Ramirez, Antonio Sanchez and appellant

planned to rob and murder Ramon Morales and anyone else who was present

46 Jose Luis Ramirez never mentioned going to his friend’s to get a gun in any
of his interviews or prior testimony. (42 RT 8233-34.) Nor was it mentioned
in the summary of the case in the plea bargain agreement. (Exhibit 52.)

47 According to Jose Luis Ramirez, when Antonio Sanchez became nervous,
appellant said, “Just go ahead and go inside the house.” (41 RT 8013.)
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at the Morales residence. (40 RT 7854; 41 RT 8007.)*

According to appellant — who did not know Ramon and was not a party
to the disagreement between Ramon and Antonio (41 RT 8007) — the group
went to Ramon’s residence merely to “pick up”some things which Antonio had
left there. (50 RT 9816-17, Exhibit 85A [appellant’s video taped statement];
4 SCT 1037.) They took guns as a “precaution” because Ramon had
threatened Antonio. (4 SCT 1037.) There was no plan to “loot” the residence
or to kill anyone. (/bid.) Numerous items of value — including $378 in cash
— were not taken from the residence. (See Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts §
E(3), pp. 36-37, incorporated herein.)

As acknowledged by the prosecutor, the jurors’ failure to agree as to the
special verdicts suggested that at least some jurors may have believed that
appellant only intended to take Antonio Sanchez’ property. (67 RT 13229.)
D. Events At The Morales Residence

1. Entry Of The Residence

According to Jose Luis Ramirez, appellant walked up to the door of the

* However, when Jose Luis Ramirez talked to Antonio Sanchez on the phone
the day after the killings Jose Luis Ramirez said “I didn’t think you were going
to do that.” (42 RT 8247-48.) If Ramirez had thought that anything serious
was going to happen to the Morales he would have warned the couple before
the men entered the residence. (42 RT 8242; 8250.)

Amy Trejo heard Antonio Sanchez say he was going to kill Ramon
Morales but she didn’t take him seriously. (44 RT 8696-97 [Antonio wanted
“to get” Ramon Morales and Ramon Morales wanted “to get” Antonio
Sanchez]; 44 RT 8720-21.) Amy was surprised by the killings because they
were not the “type of people” who would do anything like that. (44 RT 8712-
13.) Antonio Sanchez used the terms “to get” or “to kill” as a way of
expressing his anger. (Ibid.) It “. .. never, never crossed [her] mind [that he
would actually kill Ramon].” (44 RT 8713.)
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Morales residence and knocked. (41 RT 8013.)* There was no answer and no
sound coming from the house so appellant opened the door which was not
locked. (41 RT 8014-15.)>° Appellant and the others entered the residence.
(Ibid.) As they did Antonio Sanchez had the AR-15 rifle and Joaquin Nufiez
had the .30/.30. (41 RT 8008-09; 8019-20.)

2. Whether Appellant Used A Knife After Entering The House

According to Jose Luis Ramirez, immediately after they entered the
residence appellant held a knife to the throat of Fernando Martinez, who was
sleeping on the living room floor and appellant told Fernando Martinez not to
look at anyone. (41 RT 8015-17.) However, the jurors unanimously rejected
this testimony and found that the use of a knife allegation was not proved. (4
CT 969-70; 973-74; 977-787.)

3. Searching The Residence

According to Jose Luis Ramirez, Antonio Sanchez pointed the
automatic rifle at Fernando while the others searched the residence. The house
appeared to have been thoroughly searched. (38 RT 7428; 7435; 7439; 45 RT
8865; Exhibits 3, 5(D) and 65; see also Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § E(2),
p. 36, incorporated herein.)’' In the words of the prosecutor the “house [was]

“tossed.” (37 RT 7253.)

4 Appellant went to the door first because, according to Jose Luis Ramirez,
the residents wouldn’t know or recognize appellant. (37 RT 7252; 41 8007.)

¢ The police found no evidence of forced entry. (45 RT 8881-86.)

51 Boxes of .38 and .380 ammunition (.38 and .380 are different calibers) and
a “Huggies” box on the bed in the bedroom each had fingerprints matching
appellant’s. (See Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § E(6), p. 38, herein.) Jose
Luis Ramirez’ fingerprints were found on a cash/tackle box which was also on
the bed. (Ibid.)
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4. Taking Of Items From The House By Jose Luis Ramirez

Jose Luis Ramirez testified that Antonio Sanchez told him to take
whatever he could from the house. (41 RT 8020; 42 RT 8215.) Jose Luis
Ramirez made three trips from the house to the car taking items such as a VCR
and stereo equipment. (41 RT 8019-20.)*> Jose Luis Ramirez also took a
necklace from the bed stand and a jar of “Tres Flores” hair oil-which was the
brand Ramirez used. (41 RT 8042; 8045-46;44 RT 8633; 8649-50; 8655-56.)
He also took a .32 caliber handgun which Antonio gave him shortly after they
entered the residence. (41 RT 8022-23; 8042; 42 RT 8238-39.) Jose Luis
Ramirez took the .32 handgun, the necklace and the hair oil with him when he
left. (41 RT 8042.) Appellant denied any intent to help Jose Luis Ramirez
“loot” the residence. (4 SCT 1037.)

5. Taking Of Handguns From The Locked Box

Jose Luis Ramirez told the police that he didn’t see appellant with any
kind of gun at any time on November 16, 1994. (41 RT 8011.) On another
occasion, however, Jose Luis Ramirez told the police that appellant took two
guns from a box in the kitchen and gave one of the guns to him (Ramirez) and
put the other one in Antonio’s pocket. (42 RT 8225-28.) At trial Jose Luis
Ramirez testified that appellant kept one of the guns for himself and put the
other in Antonio Sanchez’ coat pocket. (41 RT 8032-33.)

Ramirez also told the police that while he was standing outside the
residence and looking through the window he saw appellant in the house with
a gun in his hand. (42 RT 8217-18.) However, because appellant would not
have been visible through the window, Jose Luis Ramirez was forced to admit

at trial that he had deliberately lied to the police. (See 42 RT 8217-18.) He

%2 No other evidence was presented regarding the VCR and stereo equipment.

31



then changed his story and testified that he was looking through the front door
when he saw appellant with a gun. (/bid.)

The jurors could not agree whether or not the prosecution had proved
the special allegation that appellant personally used a .38 handgun. (4 CT 970;
974; 978; 981, 983; 985-86; 988-89; 991-92; 994-95.)

6. The Arrival Of Ramon And Martha Morales

When Jose Luis Ramirez was outside on his third trip to the car with
items taken from the house, he saw Ramon and Martha Morales drive up. (41
RT 8025.) Jose Luis Ramirez went inside and told the others. (41 RT 8025-
26.) According to Jose Luis Ramirez, everyone hid and when the Morales’
entered, Antonio confronted Ramon with the automatic rifle. (41 RT 8028-
31.) Martha Morales and the infant were taken into the bedroom by Joaquin
Nufiez while appellant was in the kitchen. (41 RT 8030-31.)

Jose Luis Ramirez did not warn the Morales’ about going inside even
though he could have done so since he was outside when they arrived. (41 RT
8025.)*

7. The Shootings

Jose Luis Ramirez testified that he first heard .30/.30 shots as he was

walking away from the residence.’® He began to run and then heard another

3 He testified that he did not warn them because he was afraid Antonio
Sanchez would “do something to me.” (42 RT 8213-14; butsee 42 RT 8248-
49 [Jose Luis Ramirez didn’t think Antonio Sanchez was going to kill the
victims].)

>4 Jose Luis Ramirez originally testified that after he heard the shots he started
to walk toward the front of the house. (41 RT 8036.) Subsequently, he
testified that he was “in the front door” when he first heard the shot and
walked out. (41 RT 8037.) He continued walking and heard another shot.
After he heard the first shot he ran down the walkway (42 RT 8242.)
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.30/.30 shot and about 20 rounds of automatic rifle fire after that. (41 RT
8037.)%

Delia Longoria, a close neighbor, testified that she first heard automatic
fire then regular shots. (39 RT 7668-69; 7678.)

From across the street, Glenn Evans heard only the automatic fire. (39
RT 7650-52.)

Ramon Morales was shot and killed in the living room and sustained at
least 18 bullet wounds, one from a .38 and the rest from a .223 caliber
automatic weapon. (48 RT 9412-15.) The shots were fired from two
directions: from the kitchen area and from the front door area. (62 RT 12225-
27.) Fernando Martinez was shot and killed in the hallway area and sustained
one .30/.30 caliber wound to the back of the head from less than a couple of
inches away and one .38 handgun wound to his back. (48 RT 9433-34; 9469.)
Martha Morales was shot and killed in the bedroom; she sustained a .30/.30
caliber wound, a .38 caliber wound and a .223 caliber wound. (48 RT 9417-
18.) The infant, whom Martha was holding when she was shot, sustained two
non-fatal .38 caliber wounds. (46 RT 9014; 47 RT 9283-84; 9291; 62 RT
12242.)

8. Whether Appellant Fired A Weapon

Jose Luis Ramirez was not present during the shootings but testified
that appellant was holding a handgun shortly before he heard the first .30/.30
rifle shots. (42 RT 8217-18; 41 RT 8036-37.) Appellant’s fingerprints were
found on boxes of handgun ammunition in the bedroom. (46 RT 9039-53.)

Delia Longoria, who saw the men leaving the victims’ residence after the

%% 18 spent .223 cartridges and at least four .30/.30 casings were found in and
around the scene. (See Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § E(7)(a), p. 38,
incorporated herein.)
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shootings, testified that appellant was carrying a rifle when she saw him. (39
RT 7710; but see Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § B(5), p. 24, fn. 39,
incorporated herein.)

In appellant’s video statement he said that “[w]e fired the weapons we
had” out of fear after Ramon Morales “pulled out a gun . . . in order to defend
ourselves . . . we shot like crazy because we shouldn’t have done anything
... to his wife . . . but the crime took place out of fear....” (4 SCT 1037-38.)

The jurors did not reach a verdict on the use of a firearm allegation
charged against appellant. (See Statement Of Case § C, pp.11-12, herein.)

9. Jose Luis Ramirez’ Flight And Disposal Of The Property He
Took

Jose Luis Ramirez fled on foot to his cousin’s house. (41 RT 8042-43.)
He left the .32 caliber handgun, the necklace and the “Tres Flores” hair oil
there that night. (41 RT 8044; 44 RT 8630-34.) The next day Jose Luis
Ramirez returned and picked up all three items. (41 RT 8045-56; 44 RT 8635-
37.) He gave the handgun to his friend, Daniel Barba, who was a gang
member. (42 RT 8243.) With the help of his cousin’s husband, Arturo Perez,
Jose Luis Ramirez pawned the necklace, receiving $40. (41 RT 8045-46.)

10. The Flight Of Appellant, Joaquin Nufiez and Antonio Sanchez

After the shooting, appellant, Joaquin Nufiez and Antonio Sanchez

56/57

drove off in appellant’s car with appellant driving. (41 RT 8039-40.)

¢ Atapproximately 9:00 p.m. on November 16, 1994, appellant borrowed $50
from Jesus Hernandez for gas. (43 RT 8435-37; 8443-44.) A collect call was
made from a pay phone in Greenfield outside of a business to the phone
number of appellant’s wife, Yolanda Garay at 9:46 p.m. on November 16,
1994. (48 RT 9475-81.)

7 The record did not establish whether or not Antonio Sanchez and Joaquin
(Tontinued...)
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Appellant drove to Mexico where he remained until he was abducted by
bounty hunters. (But see 11 RT 2017-19; 3 CT 683-88 [defense precluded
from referring to the bounty hunter abduction].)

11. Summary Of The Items Taken

The evidence, as discussed above, revealed four discrete takings upon
which the robbery convictions could have been based:

1. VCR and stereo equipment that Jose Luis Ramirez said he put in the
trunk of the car. (41 RT 8019-20.)

2. .32 handgun that Ramirez said Antonio Sanchez gave him inside the
Morales residence. (41 RT 8022-23; 42 RT 8238-39.)

3. Two handguns Ramirez said appellant took out of the locked box in
the kitchen. Appellant allegedly kept one and put the other in Antonio
Sanchez’ pocket. (41 RT 8025-33.)

4. The gold necklace and hair oil that Ramirez took from the night
stand in the bedroom and carried with him when he fled from the Morales
residence. (41 RT 8044-45; 44 RT 8635-37.)

E. The Crime Scene Evidence

1. Overview

Salinas Police Department criminalist Larry Waller was called at
approximately 9:00 p.m. on November 16, 1994 to report to the scene of a
multiple homicide at 1022 East Market Street in Salinas. Waller was the chief

crime scene investigator on this case. (46 RT 9054-55.) Waller videotaped the

%7(...continued)

Nufiez went to Mexico with appellant. Antonio Sanchez did end up in Mexico
as evidenced by his call to Jose Luis Ramirez during which he asked to have
his things sent to Mexico (41 RT 8058; see also 71 RT 14012-16 [testimony
of Mexican Consulate representative at appellant’s sentencing].)
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crime scene before collecting any evidence and took photos of each of the
victims as they were found. (45 RT 8859; 8887-89 [Exhibit 65].)*
2. The Residence Had Been Thoroughly Searched

The house was a detached garage which had been converted into a
residence. (38 RT 7414-15; 7469; 44 RT 8622; 45 RT 8807.) The home was
a one bedroom, single-family residence, with a kitchen, living room and
bathroom. (45 RT 8807.) The living room and kitchen were approximately
10 x 10. (38 RT 7428.)

There were things strewn out on the kitchen floor (38 RT 7428; Exhibit
3) and the garbage can had been dumped over. (45 RT 8865.)

The mattresses were tossed about, the TV was knocked over, and other
items in the room were disturbed. The bedroom was in disarray. (38 RT 7435;
7439; 45 RT 8865; 46 RT 9077; see also Exhibit 5(D) [photo]; Exhibit 65
[videotape taken by Detective Waller].)

Jose Luis Ramirez testified that he and Joaquin Nuifiez searched the
house looking for things to steal. (41 RT 8018; 8020.)

The state of disarray in the house made it appear that someone was
“looking for items to take.” (53 RT 10405 [DA’s argument].)

3. Cash And Property Not Taken From The Residence

a. No Cash Was Taken From The Victims
Each of the victims had cash on their person which was not taken.
Ramon Morales had $204.37 in his pockets, Fernando Martinez had $123.00
and Martha Morales had $51.00 in her purse. (46 RT 9107-09; 47 RT 9206-

% Waller was at the scene for 38 hours straight during the night of November
16 and the morning of November 17, 1994. (46 RT 9012-13.)
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07.)”
b. Other Items Of Value Were Left
Various items of value that were not taken included jewelry (48 RT
9409), a watch (RT 9408-09), a television (RT 7439), five boxes of
ammunition (RT 8828; RT 8833-34; RT 9032; RT 9067; RT 9069), a Taser
gun (RT 9070) and three handguns (RT 9073; RT 9081-84; RT 9871).

4. Spent Casings and Bullets Found At The Scene

Investigators found 18 .223 caliber spent casings, which could have
been from an automatic rifle such as an AR-15, throughout the residence and
outside as well. (45 RT 8889-93;9013-18.) There were also four spent .30-
.30 casings. (45 RT 8905-06.)°

5. Firearms and Unused Ammunition Evidence Found At The
Scene

A box of .22 caliber ammunition was found by the trash in the kitchen,
a box of .32 caliber bullets was found on top of the refrigerator and another
box of .22 caliber ammunition was found on the floor by the TV cart in the
southeast corner of the bedroom. (46 RT 9067-69.) Waller collected a box of
45 .380 automatic full metal jacket bullets. (46 RT 9032-39 [Exhibit 50].) The
box, which was designed to hold 50 rounds, was partially open at the end. (46
RT 9038-39.)

Waller also found a box of .38°%" full metal jacket rounds in the

bedroom. (Exhibit 51A.) The box was partially open and there were at least

** The total amount of cash was approximately $378.

% Waller, Gates and McLaughlin also collected actual bullets at the scene
which were .30/.30 caliber. (45 RT 8908-09; 47 RT 9268-70.)

61 38 caliber is different from .380 caliber. (46 RT 9033.)
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four rounds missing from the box. (46 RT 9039-40).

A .380 automatic handgun was found in the wooden box in the kitchen.
There were no usable prints on it. (46 RT 9073-75.) Waller didn’t run any
tests on this weapon. (46 RT 9073-75 [Exhibit 49/Item 19].) The police also
found a Taser gun on the floor next to the TV cart in the bedroom. (46 RT
9070-71.) Two additional hand guns and a .22 rifle were found during
subsequent searches of the residence In January and February 1995 by the
prosecutor’s investigator. (46 RT 9081-84.)

6. Fingerprints

Jose Luis Ramirez’ fingerprints were found on the bottom portion of the
cash/tackle box on the bed. (46 RT 9043-45; 9052-53.) Appellant’s
fingerprints were found on a “Huggies” box and a box of .380 ammunition
which were also on the bed. (46 RT 9039-53.) A fingerprint found on the box
of .38 ammunition also matched appellant. (46 RT 9051-53.)*

There was a wooden box in the kitchen on the floor between the
refrigerator and the stove. It had been pried open. There were no usable prints
on the box. (46 RT 9029-32.)

7. Ballistics Expert Testimony

a. Shell Casings
Scott Armstrong of the Department of Justice Lab concluded that most

of the .223 casings he received were fired by the same rifle. (47 RT 9251-57,

62 John Clark of the California Department of Justice compared the known
fingerprints of appellant with the fingerprints taken from the boxes of
ammunition and the “Huggies” box and stated beyond a reasonable doubt and
“to an absolute certainty” that certain fingerprints were made by appellant to
the exclusion of all others in the world. (47 RT 9228-33.) In response to an
objection by defense attorney West, the judge struck the term “reasonable
doubt” but allowed the term “absolute certainty.” (47 RT 9231-33.)
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47RT 9263-64.) Armstrong also concluded that all of the .30/.30 casings were
fired by the same rifle. (47 RT 9264-67.)%
b. Bullets®

Armstrong compared the .38 cartridges in the box found on the bed
(Exhibit 51A) with the jacketed bullets which were fired at the scene. They
all appeared to come from the same source and to be of the same type of
construction. (47 RT 9289-92.) However, all he could tell for sure is that the
bullets were from the same batch of thousands made with the same markings.
Beyond these class characteristics, no match was possible. (47 RT 9294-98.)%

Armstrong did not have an opinion as to whether or not the .223 bullets

were fired from an AR-15. (47 RT 9300.)

5 There would have been no casings ejected from the .38 handgun. (47 RT
9281-82.)

% Armstrong could not find enough similarities in the comparison of the
.30/.30 caliber bullets to determine if they had been fired by the same weapon.
(47 RT 9270-71.) Many of the .223 bullets were identified by Armstrong as
having been fired by the same weapon. (47 RT 9277-81.) However, some of
the fragments were too small to afford a basis for making a determination. (47
RT 9280-81.)

Armstrong received five .38 caliber bullets. (Items 1,2, 18,19, and 21;
Exhibits 40, 41, 42, and 82). Armstrong concluded that Items 1, 18, 19, and
21 were all fired from the same weapon but he could not make a determination
as to Item 2. (47 RT 9282-87.)

% A .38 pistol can fire many different types of .38 ammunition. In the present
case, there were a total of three different types of .38 ammunition that were
fired from the .38 weapon. (47 RT 9298-9300.) Armstrong believed some of
these could have come from the same batch as those in the box (Exhibit 51).
(47 RT 9298-9300.)
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F. Victim’s Wounds

1. Summary

Each victim sustained numerous wounds from either the .223 weapon,
the .30/.30 weapon and/or the .38 caliber weapon. One .38 caliber round was
recovered from each victim. Numerous .223 rounds were recovered from
Ramon Morales and .30/.30 rounds were recovered from Martha Morales and
Fernando Martinez.

2. Ramon Morales

Ramon Morales sustained at least 18 bullet wounds and several bullets
and fragments were recovered during the autopsy. (48 RT 9412-14.) All but
one of these bullets and fragments were small caliber .223 rounds. (48 RT
9413-14; 9441-49.) A .38 bullet was recovered from the back of Ramon
Morales’ head. (48 RT 9414-15; 9441; 9449-50.)

The trajectories of the bullets through Ramon’s arm and head indicated
that the bullets came from somewhere between the kitchen and living room.
This was also confirmed by the location of the fired cartridge cases found in
that area. (62 RT 12225-26.) The bullets which caused the wounds in
Ramon’s abdomen and chest originated from near the front door. (62 RT
12227-28.)%¢

3. Martha Morales |

Martha Morales sustained at least two gunshots to the head. (48 RT

¢ Three smaller caliber (.223) bullets entered on the left side of the lower
chest and did enormous damage to the heart. (48 RT 9442; see also 48 RT
9447-48.) The cause of death was numerous gunshot wounds. (48 RT 9450.)
Dr. Hain could not tell with any degree of certainty whether the .38 caliber
wound was inflicted before or after the smaller caliber wounds. (48 RT 9464-
65.) The .38 caliber weapon was eighteen inches or more away when fired.
(48 RT 9460-61.)
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9417-18; 9451-9456; 9466.) These wounds were caused by both .30/.30 and
.38 caliber bullets. (48 RT 9417-18.) Additionally, Martha had a .223 bullet
wound to the right shoulder which traveled through the lungs. (48 RT 9418;
9456; 9457-59; 9468.)%"

4, Fernando Martinez

Martinez received a bullet wound to the back of the head. (48 RT
9425-33.) This wound had been fired from less than a couple of inches away
and was instantaneously fatal. (48 RT 9427-29; 9433-34; 9469.) Martinez
also had a .38 caliber gunshot wound in the back. (48 RT 9404-08; 9429-33
[Exhibit 41].) This wound was postmortem and not fired at close range. (48
RT 9433; 9461; 9469.)%®

5. Alejandra Morales

The infant sustained a .38 caliber bullet wound to the left chest and
shoulder area. (39 RT 7624-25;7627-28; 46 RT 9014;47 RT 9283-84; 9291;
49 RT 9603-04.) Alejandra also had a wound to the right thigh and calf. (39
RT 7624; 7628; 62 RT 12250.)

G. Statement Of Facts: Defense

1. Lies And Inconsistencies In The Statements Of Jose Luis
Ramirez

a. Whether They Went To The House of Jose Luis Ramirez’
Friend To Look For A Gun For Appellant

Detective Joseph Gunter of the Salinas Police Department interviewed

67 Martha Morales died within a matter of minutes after the gunshot wounds
to the head but Dr. Hain could not tell which wound was made first. (48 RT
9460; 9469-70.)

% The person who fired this shot was somewhere between the living room and
the kitchen. (62 RT 12239-40.)
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Jose Luis Ramirez on November 18, 1994. During that interview, Ramirez
did not tell Gunter about going to a friend’s house to look for a weapon for
appellant. (50RT 9851-52.) DA Investigator Richard Moore interviewed Jose
Luis Ramirez for three hours on October 31, 1995. During this interview,
Ramirez never stated that they went to a friend’s house to look for a gun for
appellant. (50 RT 9869.)
b. Whether They Went To Guillermo Morales’ House
Jose Luis Ramirez did not tell Detective Gunter during the November
1994 interview that they went to Guillermo Morales’ house to try to kill
Guillermo prior to going to Ramon Morales’ house. (50 RT 9852-53.) Nor
did Jose Luis Ramirez say anything about going to Guillermo Morales’ house
in the October 1995 interview with Richard Moore. (50 RT 9869.)
c. Whether Appellant Had A Weapon
In November 1994 Jose Luis Ramirez told Detective Gunter that
appellant did not have a weapon. (50 RT 9852-53.) However, at trial Jose
Luis Ramirez testified that appellant had a knife when they entered and that
appellant obtained a handgun in the house. (See Guilt Phase: Statement Of
Facts § D(2) and (5), pp- 30-31, incorporated herein.)
d. Whether Jose Luis Ramirez Was Intoxicated
At trial Jose Luis Ramirez denied that he was intoxicated during the
shootings and the preceding events. (41 RT 8067.) However, prior to trial Jose
Luis Ramirez told D.A. Investigator Moore that he was drunk on the evening
of November 16, 1994. (50 RT 9874.)

e. Whether Antonio Sanchez And Appellant Talked About
Robbing And Killing Ramon Morales

At trial Jose Luis Ramirez testified that Antonio Sanchez and appellant

had discussed robbing and killing Ramon Morales and anyone else in the
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residence. (See Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § C, p. 28, incorporated
herein.) However, when Jose Luis Ramirez talked to Antonio Sanchez on the
phone the day after the killings Jose Luis Ramirez said “I didn’t think you
were going to do that.” (42 RT 8247-48.) If Jose Luis Ramirez had thought
that anything serious was going to happen to the Morales he would have
warned them before the assailants entered the residence. (42 RT 8242;
8250.)%

f Whether Appellant Obtained A Handgun From The Box
In The Kitchen

Jose Luis Ramirez told the police that he didn’t see appellant with any
kind of gun at any time on November 16, 1994. (41 RT 8011.) However,
Ramirez testified at trial that appellant obtained two handguns from a box near
the refrigerator, one of which appellant kept after putting the other in Antonio
Sanchez’ coat pocket. (41 RT 8032-33; see also 50 RT 9852-53.)

g Whether Appellant Gave A Handgun To Jose Luis
Ramirez

Jose Luis Ramirez told the police that appellant gave him a handgun
while there were in the residence. (42 RT 8225-28.) However, at trial Jose
Luis Ramirez testified that appellant kept the handgun for himself and did not
give it to Ramirez. (41 RT 8032-33; 50 RT 9852-53.)

h. Admitted Lie About Seeing Appellant With A Gun
Through The Window

Jose Luis Ramirez told the police that he saw appellant with a gun in his
hand. Ramirez claimed he made this observation while standing outside the

residence and looking through the window. (42 RT 8217-18.) However,

8 Jose Luis Ramirez testified that he was outside when the Morales’ arrived
and could have warned them. (41 RT 8025.)
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because appellant would not have been visible through the window, Ramirez
was forced to admit that he had deliberately lied about seeing appellant
through the window. He then changed his story and testified at trial that he
was looking through the front door when he saw appellant with the gun. (42
RT 8217-18.)
i Whether Appellant Used A Knife After Entering The
House

According to Jose Luis Ramirez, immediately after they entered the
residence, appellant held a knife to the throat of Fernando Martinez, who was
sleeping on the living room floor and told him not to look at anyone. (41 RT
8015-17.) However, the jurors rejected this testimony finding that appellant
did not use a knife. (4 CT 969-70; 973-74; 977-787.)

j. On What Day Did Jose Luis Ramirez, Joaquin Nufiez
And Antonio Sanchez Purchase Ammunition

According to Jose Luis Ramirez, on the afternoon of November 16,
1994, appellant drove Antonio Sanchez, Joaquin Nufiez and Jose Luis Ramirez
to the JKD Shooting Sports store on North Main Street in Salinas and, while
appellant waited in the car, the three others went into the store to obtain
ammunition. (40 RT 7837-39; 42 RT 8281-83.)

However, based on the register receipt, James Fletcher, who worked at
JKD Shooting Sports, was certain that the transaction took place early in the
morning on November 15, not November 16, 1994. (42 RT 8273-74.)
Fletcher testified that «. . . I can say with absolute, unequivocal, bet-my-life-

on-it certainty that [November 15] is the correct date.” (42 RT 8273-74.)"

’® Fletcher remembered three young Hispanic men who purchased ammunition
for an AR-15 and another kind of rifle. (42 RT 8260-62.) Appellant was not
(continued...)

44



2. Defendant’s Intoxication On The Night Of The Homicides

Jose Luis Ramirez testified that appellant had consumed as many as 12
beers on the day of the homicide (see Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § B(8)
and (9), pp.26-27, herein) and two other prosecution witnesses testified that
appellant was “drunk” or “intoxicated” on the night of the homicides. (/bid.)

Jorge Acosta, Bertha Sanchez’ son, testified that on the day of the
killings he saw appellant, Antonio Sanchez, Jose Luis Ramirez and Joaquin
Nuiiez drinking in appellant’s car which was parked outside of Acosta’s house.
(50 RT 9836.) Acosta spoke with appellant, who was his uncle, for a while
and thought appellant was intoxicated. (50 RT 9836-37.) Acosta, who had
seen appellant intoxicated on prior occasions, feared that he would get into an
automobile accident or get stopped by the police and go to jail. (50 RT 9837-
39)

3. Lorenzo Nuiliez, Antonio Sanchez And Joaguin Nuiiez Handled
The Rifles At Bertha’s House

Jorge Acosta was present when the rifles appeared in Bertha’s “family
room.” (50 RT 9839-41 [Defense].) He remembered that Antonio Sanchez,
Joaquin Nuifiez, Lorenzo Nufiez and appéllant were at the house. (/bid.)
Antonio Sanchez was handling the one that looked like an assault rifle. (50
RT9839-40.) Jorge couldn’t remember who had the other rifle, which was a
lever action .30/.30. (50 RT 9839-41.) Jorge did not see appellant handle
either weapon. (50 RT 9839-40.) Jorge did not see who took the rifles out of
the house because he had left the room. (50 RT 9850.)

4. Subsequent Discovery Of Weapons At The Morales Residence

On January 26, 1995 DA Investigator Richard Moore wentto 1022 East

70(...continued)
one of the three men who purchased the ammunition. (42 RT 8276.)
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Market Street to talk to Mr. Longoria, who called in to report that he found
something in the chicken coop. (50 RT 9870-71.) Moore found a .22 caliber
rifle inside the shed behind the chicken coop. He ran a check on the .22 and
there was no record on file for it. (50 RT 9870-71.)

On February 17, 1995, Moore again went to 1022 East Market to return
property to Guillermo Morales. On this trip, Moore found two additional .380
caliber pistols in the bedroom in a cardboard moving box. (50 RT 9871-72.)
H. Overview Of Penalty Facts

1. Prosecution Case For Death

The centerpieces of the prosecution’s case for death primarily were (1)
the circumstances of the shootings which the prosecutor called “bare
unadulterated violence” (67 RT 13241) and (2) the impact of the crimes on the
families of the victims. The prosecution highlighted these factors early and
often by utilizing every available medium including:

A. Photos of the victims showing the nature and extent of their wounds
(see Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § F, pp. 40-41, herein);

B. Expert testimony regarding the nature of the victims’ wounds at
both the guilt and penalty trial (see Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § F, pp.
40-41, and Penalty Phase: Statement Of Facts § B(1), p. 506, incorporated
herein);

C. Video tape of the murder scene (see Exhibit 65; 51 RT 10023-25);

D. Demonstrative evidence including rifles similar to the ones used in
the shootings; an actual portion of the residence wall with blood and brain
matter on it (38 RT 7431-32) and mannequins dressed in the victims’ bloody

clothing with protruding rods to illustrate the numerous bullet holes (see Claim
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59 E, p. 545, herein)"';

E. Lengthy and detailed victim impact testimony accompanied by
emotional physical exhibits including: a marriage certificate for Ramon and
Martha Morales (Exhibit 45); wedding photos showing Ramon and Martha
Morales with their family (Exhibits 117 & 118); a photo of Ramon and his
mother doing laundry at her house (Exhibit 126); a photo of Fernando
Martinez and his daughter Paula (Exhibit 119); a letter written by Ramon
Morales’ mother to him in October 1994 (Exhibit 57A); a doll used by the
penalty phase expert to put children’s clothing on (Exhibit 116); photos of the
surviving infant at age 5. (Exhibits 121, 130 & 131.)™

F. A theatrical audio-video montage portraying, on a big screen, the
most inflammatory items of evidence with the 911 tape playing in the
background (see Penalty Phase: Statement Of Facts § B(6), pp.24-25, herein).

The prosecution also presented evidence that while awaiting trial
appellant struck a guard in an alleged attempt to escape from county jail and
possessed dismantled razor blades in his jail cell. (See Penalty Phase:
Statement Of Facts § B(5), pp.23-24, incorporated herein.) -

The prosecution further contended that appellant was a major
participant in the crimes and, therefore, any juror findings that he did not

intend to kill and/or did not fire a gun during the shootings had “very minimal”

' The mannequins were in the courtroom in front of the jurors during the
testimony of several witnesses. (See 48 RT 9401.) Also, during the guilt
phase deliberations the jurors requested to see the wall and the mannequins.
(6 CT 1198.) The judge arranged for a special viewing in the courtroom. (55
RT 10804.)

2 Photos of the victims in their caskets at the funeral were shown to the
witnesses over objection but not admitted into evidence. (Exhibits 122,123 &
129; 62 RT 12279, 63 RT 12401, 12437.)
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if any mitigating weight. (67 RT 13233.)

Finally, the district attorney’s penalty phase argument continued with
the theme — first argued at the guilt trial — that appellant “doesn’t live by the
same morals . . . that the rest of us have.” (53 RT 10417.) At the penalty trial
the prosecutor argued that appellant was there “just for the thrill” and “just for
the fun of it.” (67 RT 13241.)

In sum, the prosecutor’s penalty theory depended on a continuing
emphasis of (1) the gruesomeness of the shootings; (2) the highly emotional
victim impact testimony; and (3) the prosecution’s implication that appellant
was morally corrupt.

2. Defense Case For Life

The guilt and penalty evidence supported several substantial mitigating
factors which could have rationally justified a verdict of life without parole
notwithstanding the aggravating evidence.

First, the defense — while conceding that the crimes were “terrible” —
argued that appellant was only an accomplice who did not personally shoot any
of the victims. This argument was reinforced by the fact that the jurors’ failed
to find the gun use and conspiracy to commit murder special allegations. (See
e.g., 68 RT 13404; 13409-10; 13417-21; see also Statement Of Case § C,
pp-11-12, incorporated herein.) Thus, the defense contended that even a
lingering doubt that appellant was an “actual shooter” gave the jurors a basis
for returning a life verdict by differentiating between the moral culpability of
appellant as opposed to the actual shooters: Antonio Sanchez and Joaquin
Nuiiez. (68 RT 13419-20.)

Second, the jury finding that appellant did not use a knife and their
failure to agree that appellant used a firearm and conspired to murder provided

a basis for the jurors to conclude that appellant did not knowingly intend to kill
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and/or participate in a plan to kill anyone. Such a conclusion was also
supported by the following:

1. Appellant’s video statement in which he denied an intent to kill or
rob the victims;

2. Evidence that appellant had not motive or “stake” in the venture;

3. Evidence of appellant’s intoxication;

4. Appellant’s lack of prior felony convictions;

5. Appellant’s absence of a history of criminal violence.

Third, substantial positive character testimony was presented which
showed appellant to be a caring, generous person who was warm, friendly and
respectful to other people. (63 RT 12407-09; 12430-34.)

Fourth, the only expert witness to testify regarding appellant’s
psychological makeup, Dr. Thomas Reidy, concluded that appellant did not
have anti-social personality disorder and was not a psychopath.

Fifth, appellant experienced multiple childhood traumas because (1) he
grew up in poverty; (2) his father was very intolerant and a poor father figure;
(3) appellant’s mother was often absent for periods of six months at a time; (4)
appellant’s brother, Jesus — who became a father figure for appellant — was
murdered when appellant was 7 or 8 years old.

Sixth, the above childhood traumas, as well as genetic predisposition,
contributed to appellant’s alcoholism, which began in his teens.

Seventh, appellant had no prior felony convictions.

Eighth, appellant did not have a history of criminal violence. (64 RT
12622-24; 12631; 12688-91.)

Ninth, appellant expressed remorse and regret about his participation

in the offenses. (64 See RT 12630.)
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I. Penalty Phase Prosecution Evidence

See Penalty Phase: Statement Of Facts § B, pp. 506-20, incorporated
herein.
J. Penalty Phase Defense Evidence

See Penalty Phase: Statement Of Facts § C, pp. 520-29, incorporated

herein.
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CLAIMS 1-8: JURY SELECTION ERRORS
CLAIM 1

JUROR 16 SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN EXCUSED FOR CAUSE
WITHOUT ORAL VOIR DIRE BECAUSE HE HEDGED HIS KEY
QUESTIONNAIRE RESPONSES WITH THE AMBIGUOUS TERMS
"PROBABLY" AND "POSSIBLY"

A. Introduction

The judge excused Juror 16 based solely on his written questionnaire
and denied the defense request for oral voir dire of the juror. This was
reversible error because the questionnaire failed to make it clear that Juror 16
“automatically” would “vote in ways that precluded the death penalty.”
(People v. Avila (2006) 38 Cal.4th 491, 531.) Unlike the jurors in Avila —
whom this court determined were properly excused based solely on their
questionnaires — Juror 16 gave equivocal, ambiguous and conflicting
questionnaire answers. Hence, Juror 16 was improperly excused because the
questionnaire “did not negate the possibility the juror[] could set aside [his]
feelings and deliberate.” (/d. at 530.)

B. Procedural Background

The trial judge decided to use a written jury questionnaire as part of the
jury selection process. The judge requested that each party submit a proposed
questionnaire and from these the judge drafted a questionnaire that was given
to all prospective jurors. (9 RT 1607; 10 RT 1818-19; 6 CT 1351-4604.) The
death penalty portion of the questionnaire began at Question 50 and continued
through Question 63. (Seee.g. 6 CT 1361-65.)

After swearing the prospective jurors and giving them some
introductory information about the case, the judge admonished them to fill out

the questionnaires on their own. The court explained that the questionnaire is
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a “big time saver” because all the questions would not have to be repeated
during voir dire for each juror. The court further explained that it was very
important for the jurors to answer the questions faithfully and truthfully and
to provide accurate and complete information. (28 RT 5416-20.)

After the completed questionnaires had been collected, but before
commencement of voir dire and outside the presence of the prospective jurors,
the judge informed the attorneys that he had “gone through and reviewed each
and every one of these questionnaires and [culled] out some that [the] court
regards as being clearly challenges for cause based upon the responses to the
questionnaire.” [Italics added.] (32 RT 6203.) The judge also stated that he
had identified other potential cause challenges as to which he would invite a
stipulation. (32 RT 6203.)

C. Juror 16: Disposition

The judge initially concluded that Juror 16 should not be excused based

solely on his questionnaire responses:

“Juror 16 states that he is a CTF [Soledad State Prison] Captain;
strongly opposes the death penalty; probably would disregard
the evidence and vote for life without the possibility of parole
under any circumstances, although the other questions were
sufficiently within the ballpark of rationality and responsibility.
But I can’t say that it’s a court challenge for cause.” [Italics
added.] (32 RT 6205.)

However, the prosecutor challenged Juror 16 for cause in light of the
juror’s opposition to the death penalty and his statement that he would
“possibly” follow the law. (32 RT 6205.)” The defense objected to the

challenge pointing out that the questionnaire showed “equivocation.” (32 RT

 The juror actually stated, “Yes — most probably” in response to the question
about whether he could follow the law. (Question 59(F); 6 CT 1574.)
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6205.)

The judge granted the challenge to Juror 16 for cause based solely on

the questionnaire responses and denied the defense request for oral voir dire.

(32 RT 6205; 6215.)

D. Juror 16: Questionnaire Answers (6 CT 1571-75)

50 Q.
A.

Views on Death Penalty:
Strongly Oppose. I believe that the death penalty should be

abolished as there is no assurance that the state many not be
killing an innocent person.

50 Q.
A.

Reason for opposition:
In addition to the above, I feel the state does not have the

right to take a life in revenge for the crime the person commits.
I also feel it is not a deterrent to crime.

51 Q. Ever held a different opinion?
A. No.

52 Q. Is Death or LWOP more severe?
A. 1 think life in prison without parole is more severe as the
person must live with their actions for the rest of their life.

53 Q. Any religious affiliation that takes a stance on the death penalty?
A. No.

54 Q. Read articles or viewed TV programs about the death penalty?
A. Yes.

55 Q. Followed news coverage of Robert Alton Harris, etc?
A. Yes.

55 Q. Did the above news coverage change your view of the death
penalty?
A. No.

56 Q. Do you understand that not all those convicted of murder are death
eligible?
A. Yes.

57 Q. Hold prosecution to higher standard of proof at guilt?

A.
58(A) Q.

A.
58(B) Q.

No.

Is death penalty used too often?

Too often as I oppose it completely.

Belong to groups that advocate increased use or abolition of death

penalty?

A.

No.
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58(C) Q. Answers to S8A & 58B based on religious considerations?
A. No.

59(A) Q. Refuse to vote for guilt of first degree murder?

A. No.
59(B) Q. Refuse to find special circumstance?
A. No.

59(C) Q. Assuming jury found defendant guilty of first degree murder and
one or more special circumstances would you refuse to vote for death
and automatically vote for LWOP?

A. Probably. [Emphasis added.]

59(D) Q. Refuse to vote for LWOP and automatically vote for death?
A. No.

59(E) Q. Change answer to 59C if instructed and ordered by the court to
consider aggravating and mitigating factors?
A. Possibly. [Emphasis added.]

59(F) Q. Could you set aside your own personal feelings and follow the law
as the court explains it?

A. Yes—most probably. [Emphasis added.]

60 Q. Difficulty in not talking about the case?
A. No.

61 Q. How would you vote as to penalty for a defendant convicted of
multiple premeditated murder during the course of a robbery and
burglary?

A. I would most probably vote for LWOP. [Emphasis added.]

62(A) Q. Would consideration of appellant’s background including emotional
difficulties and substance abuse be helpful in deciding whether to
impose death or LWOP?

A. Yes.

62(B) Q. Would you reject any of those factors automatically?
A. No.

63 Q. Would the fact that defendant has young children preclude you from
voting for the penalty of death?
A. No.
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E. Juror 16 Was Improperly Excused Over Objection Based Solely
On The Juror Questionnaire

1. Regardless Of Whether Or Not The Questionnaire Is Defective,
It Is Error To Excuse A Juror Based Solely On The
Questionnaire  When The Answers Are Conflicting And

Ambiguous

In Peoplev. Stewart (2004) 33 Cal.4th 425,451-52, this court identified
two ways in which excusal of jurors based solely on their written
questionnaires could be held erroneous: (1) the questionnaire itself may be
defective and (2) the answers to the questionnaire may be ambiguous or
conflicting.”™

In the present case, excusal of Juror 16 violated the second ground
articulated in Stewart because the questionnaire answers were ambiguous and
thus “did not negate the possibility the juror [] could set aside his feelings and
deliberate.” (People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal,.4th at 530.).

2. To Justify Excusal For Cause The Questionnaire Must Leave
“No Doubt” That The Juror Would Disregard The Law

“The prosecution, as the moving party, bore the burden of

™ 1In Stewart, this Court reversed on both of these grounds:

“[A]lthough the poor phrasing of the juror questionnaire used in
this case contributes to our conclusion that the prospective jurors
were excused in violation of Witt (Wainwright v. Witt (1985)
469 U.S. 412, 424), we note that even if the questionnaire had
tracked the “prevent or substantially impair” language of Witt,
we still would find that the prospective jurors could not properly
be excused for cause without any follow-up oral voir dire by the
court. (People v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 451-52.)
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demonstrating to the trial court that [the Wit{’] standard was satisfied as to
each of the challenged jurors. [Citation.]” (People v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th
at 445.) “As with any other trial situation where an adversary wishes to
exclude a juror because of bias . . . it is the adversary seeking exclusion who
must demonstrate, through questioning, that the potential juror lacks
impartiality . . . It is then the trial judge’s duty to determine whether the
challenge is proper.” (Wainright v. Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at 423.) However,
the above burden is not satisfied by written answers to a juror questionnaire
which are conflicting and/or ambiguous and thus in need of clarification on
oral voir dire. (People v. Avila, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 531; People v. Stewart,
supra, 33 Cal.4th at 448.) Thus, the questionnaire alone is not sufficient if it
only provides “a preliminary indication that the prospective juror might prove,
upon further examination, to be subject to a challenge for cause.” (Ibid.) Such
a “preliminary indication” is insufficient to meet the prosecution’s burden
under Witt “absent clarifying follow-up examination. ...” (People v. Stewart,
supra, 33 Cal.4th at 449 [emphasis added].)

Accordingly, a prospective juror may properly be excused for cause
without oral voir dire only if the questionnaire “leave[s] no doubt that [the
jurors’s] views on capital punishment would prevent or substantially impair the
performance of [the juror’s] duties in accordance with the court’s instructions
and the juror’s oath.” [Emphasis added.] (People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th
at 531.) In other words, “a prospective juror in a capital case may be
discharged for cause based solely on his or her answers to the written
questionnaire if it is clear from the answers that he or she is unwilling to

temporarily set aside his or her own beliefs and follow the law. [Citation.]”

> Wainwright v. Witt (1985) 469 U.S. 412.
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(Ibid.)

For example, in Avila the questionnaire answers for each of the four
jurors left “no doubt” that they would “automatically” vote to defeat the death
penalty “in every case.”

Three of the four 4vila jurors unequivocally stated that they would in
every case, regardless of the evidence, “automatically” vote to defeat the death
penalty in every case. (People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 531-32.) And the
fourth juror (C.H.) stated that she couldn’t even vote on the question of penalty
and could not set aside her personal feelings and follow the law. (Ibid.)

3. There Was Doubt That Juror 16 Would Automatically Vote To
Defeat The Death Penalty

Unlike the 4vila jurors, Juror 16 did not unequivocally state that he
would automatically vote to defeat the death penalty in every case regardless
of the evidence. Even though the juror “completely” and “strongly opposed”
the death penalty, he stated that these beliefs would not have prevented him
from voting for first degree murder with special circumstances (6 CT 1571-
74.) And, he left the door open to the possibility that he could vote for death
by stating that he “probably” would vote for life. (6 CT 1573.)

Moreover, when asked if he would change his answer if “instructed and
ordered” by the court to consider the evidence before voting Juror 16 answered
“possibly.” (6 CT 1574.)

Additionally, when asked ifhe could set aside his own personal feelings
about what the law “ought to be” and follow the law as explained by the court,
Juror 16 answered, “Yes, most probably.” (6 CT 1574.)

Moreover, in response to Question 61 as to how he would vote if a
defendant was convicted of multiple premeditated murder the juror declined

to check either of the answers which would have clearly stated his feelings,
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i.e., (b) “Always vote for life with possibility of parole” or (c) “I would not
automatically vote for either life without possibility of parole or the death
penalty. I would consider all the evidence and vote my conscience.” Instead,
Juror 16 responded: “I would most probably vote for LWOP.” (6 CT 1574.)

Furthermore, his responses to Question 62 (a) and (b) and 63 further
suggested he might consider voting for death.

Question 62 asked:

If this case has a penalty phase, you will be instructed that you

may consider factors in the defendant’s background such as his

upbringing, emotional difficulties and possible substance abuse

in deciding whether to impose the death penalty or life in prison
without the possibility of parole.

a. Do you feel that those factors would be helpful to you in
reaching a decision as to whether the death penalty or life in
prison without the possibility of parole is the appropriate
sentence?

[Juror 16 answered this question “yes.”]

b. Would you reject any of those factors automatically in

deciding in a sentence?

[Response: “no.”] (6 CT 1575.)

Question 63 asked if the fact that the defendant had young children
would “preclude you personally from voting for the death penalty.” (6 CT
1575.)

Juror 16 responded: “No.”

Finally, in Question 65, the questionnaire affirmed that Juror 16 did not
“know of any reason why [the juror] could not be completely fair and impartial
to both parties.” (6 CT 1575.)

These responses, when considered together, indicate a level of
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ambiguity which contrasts with the clarity and certainty of the responses in
Avila. Juror 16’s use of the terms “probably” and “possibly” suggested a
degree of doubt in the juror’s mind about his answers, and cried out for further
probing on voir dire. Without such oral voir dire “[w]e simply do not know
how . .. [Juror 16] would have responded to appropriate clarifying questions
....” (People v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 450-51.)

Itis also significant that the record in the present case demonstrated the
efficacy of follow-up voir dire. (34 RT 6620:15-16; see also 34 RT 6679:7-8
[Defense counsel states that: “Many people have changed their opinions over

the weekend.”].)’® Indeed, the present record is replete with examples of

" As the judge observed:

“Juror questioning is not just a process whereby juror attitudes
are elicited. There is a learning component to that process as
well for jurors. And I think any adequate voir dire involves
some degree of education of jurors as to their responsibilities, as
to what they can and should not do, what they should do, what
feelings they have that really do tend to disqualify them from
service, what feelings they have thatreally don’t disqualify them
from service. And they need to be oriented to some degree as to
whether or not certain feelings are going to cause difficulty with
them performing the function as jurors. [Para.] Oftentimes
jurors have feelings and they think that they are disqualified
and biased when in fact those feelings don’t disqualify them
atall, but they need some kind of process where they can put
those kind of things into perspective and begin to make some
sense out of the process itself and where they fit into it. And
the initiative recognizes that there is great profit and benefit to
the trial process from having jurors questioned together where
a question-and-answer sequence that one juror undergoes
overheard by another juror can help the second juror place his
own attitudes and feelings into some perspective. That is why
we don’t just do the voir dire on the questionnaire alone.
(continued...)
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jurors whose initial responses to the questionnaires were subsequently clarified

and/or changed in response to oral voir dire.”’

7¢(...continued)

We could easily do that, send out a questionnaire and have a
million questions on it and have it brought back and you have
asked everything you need to ask and the jurors have told you
the answer. The problem with that is they don’t know as lay
people oftentimes what their own responses and attitudes
really mean in terms of their potential service as jurors.
And it’s important to go back into those areas to some
degree and to allow the jurors to have some input and some
feedback and some information and some education and
some orientation, and then to go into those areas again and
those answers get refined and those attitudes get retained in that
process.” [Emphasis added.] (26 RT 5014-15.)

77 (See 32 RT 6259 [DA recognized that jurors’ opinions would change after
having an opportunity to think about their opinion following filling out the
questionnaire]; 34 RT 6679 [defense counsel notes that: “Many people have
changed their opinions over the weekend”]; 33 RT 6433 [juror changed view
“as a result of further reflection after [he] filled out the questionnaire”]; 33 RT
6459 [juror changed answer to Question 62(a) since filling out the
questionnaire; now expresses a willingness to “consider all the things
presented”]; 32 RT 6270 [juror misunderstood the question on the
questionnaire and after voir dire would consider the defendant’s upbringing in
determining the question of what penalty to impose]; 32 RT 6282-83 [voir dire
differed from questionnaire responses of Juror 9]; 33 RT 6459 [Juror’s answer
to Question 62(a) changed since filling out the questionnaire]; 33 RT 6472
[juror had presumption as to penalty when filling out the questionnaire but not
during voir dire]; 33 RT 6475 [on questionnaire juror stated that “mitigating
factors would have to be extreme and immediate to the time of the crime.” On
voir dire juror expressed an ability to follow the judge’s instructions and
consider all relevant factors including the defendant’s childhood upbringing
and “good things that he had done in his life several years prior to this incident
...”]; 33 RT 6480 [juror did not understand question on questionnaire
regarding holding prosecution to a higher standard of proof]; 33 RT 6482-83
[Juror stated on questionnaire that the victim would have to suffer “great pain

(continued...)
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In sum, Juror 16 was improperly excused without “clarifying follow up
examination” because his questionnaire “indicated strong reservations about
the death penalty but did not negate the possibility the juror[] could set aside
[his] feelings and deliberate fairly.” [Emphasis added.] (People v. Avila,
supra, 38 Cal.4th at 530.)

F. The Error Violated State Law And The Federal Constitution

To justify exclusion of Juror 16 the prosecution was required to
demonstrate that he could not perform his duties in accordance with the
judge’s instructions and his oath. (Wainwrightv. Witt, supra,469 U.S. at 424.)

Because Juror 16's ambiguous questionnaire responses did not satisfy
the prosecution’s burden, and because the judge never questioned him orally
or observed Juror 16's demeanor on voir dire, excusing him for cause violated
appellant’s state (Article I, section 7 and 15) and federal (6th and 14th
Amendments) constitutional rights to trial by an impartial jury and due
process. (Ibid.; see also Morgan v. Illinois (1992) 504 U.S. 719; Adams v.
Texas (1980) 448 U.S. 38; Witherspoon v. Illinois (1968) 391 U.S. 510.)

77(...continued) ,

and suffering” to justify the death penalty but on voir dire, after giving the
issue more thought, the juror did not rule out the death penalty “if someone
died instantly . . .”]; 33 RT 6498 [juror’s responses to Questions 62 and 63 on
the questionnaire were a product of confusion]; 33 RT 6522-23 [on the
questionnaire Juror 60 was “very opposed” to the death penalty and it was not
an option; but after having “a couple of days to think about this” the juror
expressed an ability to sentence someone to death]; 34 RT 6625-26 [Juror 72,
after thinking about the matter over the weekend, could not vote for imposition
of the death penalty even though the juror stated an ability to do so on the
questionnaire]; 35 RT 6842-43 [Juror 127 stated that hearing the additional
charges—which he didn’t hear at first—changed his view from not being able to
vote for the death penalty to being able to do so]; 36 RT 7003-04 [judge noted
that Juror 152 had a misunderstanding of the question regarding discussion of
the case with other people].)
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Furthermore, the error also violated the Due Process and Cruel and
Unusual Punishment Clauses of the federal constitution (8th and 14th
Amendments) which require heightened reliability in the determination of
guilt, death eligibility and penalty before a sentence of death may be imposed.
(See Beckv. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S. 625, 627-46; see also Kyles v. Whitley
(1995) 514 U.S. 419, 422; Gilmore v. Taylor (1993) 508 U.S. 333, 342;
Maynardv. Cartwright (1988) 486 U.S.356,363-363; Burger v. Kemp (1987)
483 U.S. 776, 785; Godfrey v. Georgia (1980) 446 U.S. 420, 428-429; White
v. Illinois (1992) 502 U.S. 346, 363-64 [reliability required by due process],
Donnelly v. DeChristoforo (1974) 416 U.S. 637, 646 [same].)

Additionally, pursuant to well established California law “the trial court
has both the duty and the discretion to control the conduct of the trial.
[Citations.]” (People v. Harris (2005) 37 Cal.4th 310, 346; California Penal
Code™ [hereinafter “Penal Code”] §1044.)”° The judge’s erroneous excusal of
Juror 16 as described in this claim arbitrarily violated the above state law rules.
These violations of appellant’s state created rights abridged the Due Process
Clause (14th Amendment) of the United States Constitution. (Hicks v.
Oklahoma (1980) 447 U.S. 343, 346; see also People v. Sutton (1993) 19
Cal.App.4th 795, 804; Hernandez v. Yist (9th Cir. 1991) 930 F.2d 714, 716.)

" All references are to the California Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

" Thus, under California law “it is the duty of the trial judge to see that a case
is not defeated by ‘mere inadvertence.’ [Citation].” (People v. St. Andrew
(1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 450, 457; see also People v. Jones (1979) 95
Cal.App.3d 403, 407; People v. Carlucci (1979) 23 Cal.3d 249, 256 [judge
must determine “where justice lies . . .”]; People v. Ponce (1996) 44
Cal.App.4th 1380, 1387 [judge has “the responsibility for safe guarding . . . the
rights of the accused . . .”].) '
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G. The Erroneous Cause Excusal Warrants Reversal Of The Guilt
And Penalty Judgments

1. The Penalty Judgment Should Be Reversed

For the reasons set forth above, the record does not support the trial
court’s excusal for cause of Juror 16 under the governing legal standard.
(Wainright v. Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at 424; Morgan v. lllinois, supra, 504 U.S.
719.) Therefore, this error requires reversal of appellant’s death sentence,
without any inquiry into prejudice. (See Davis v. Georgia (1976 ) 429 U.S.
122, 123; Gray v. Mississippi (1987 ) 481 U.S. 648, 659-67; see also People
v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 454.)

2. The Guilt Judgement Should Be Reversed

In Stewart, this Court reversed as to penalty but not guilt. However,
both the guilt and penalty judgements should be reversed in the present case.

“[A] State may not entrust the determination of whether a man is
innocent or guilty to a tribunal ‘organized to convict.’[Citation.]”
(Witherspoon v. Illinois, supra, 391 U.S. at 522.) In Witherspoon, the United
States Supreme Court once acknowledged that, if a defendant were in the
future to succeed in establishing that a death qualified jury was less than
neutral with respect to guilt, “the question would arise whether the State’s
interest in submitting the penalty issue to jury capable of imposing capital
punishment may be vindicated at the expense of the defendant’s interest in a
completely fair determination of guilt or innocence — given the possibility of
accommodating both interests by means of a bifurcated trial, using one jury to
decide guilt and another to fix punishment.” (/d. at 110.)

Since Witherspoon, numerous studies have been conducted which “all
but confirm that death-qualified juries are conviction-prone.” (Wainwright v.

Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at 460, fn. 11 (dissenting op. Brennan, J., with whom
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Marshall, J. joins, dissenting); Lockhart v. McCree (1986) 476 U.S. 162, 173;
see also Hovey v. Superior Court (1980) 28 Cal.3d 1, 26-67.) Many studies
also suggest that the process of death-qualification itself tends to bias
remaining jurors toward the prosecution. (Ibid.)

Despite overwhelming evidence that death-qualified juries are
substantially more likely to find defendants guilty than juries on which
unalterable opponents of capital punishment are permitted to serve (Buchanan
v. Kentucky (1987) 483 U.S. 402, 426-427 (dissenting op. Marshall, J., with
whom Brennan, J. and Stevens, J., join), this court and United States Supreme
Court have consistently held that exclusion through “California death
qualification” of “guilt phase includables” at the guilt-phase of a bifurcated
capital trial does not offend the Sixth Amendment or article I, section 16 of the
California Constitution as to the guaranty of trial by a jury drawn from a fair
cross-section of the community. (People v. Ashmus (1991) 54 Cal.3d 932,
956-957; Lockhartv. McCree, supra, 476 U.S. at 173-177.) Both courts have
also consistently refused to hold that such exclusion violates state and federal
guaranties of trial by an impartial jury. (People v. Ashmus, supra, at 957,
Lockhart v. McCree at 177-184.) For the reasons set forth in the dissenting
opinion of Justice Marshall in Lockhart and in Buchanan v. Kentucky, supra,
483 U.S. at 426-434, this Court should revisit these questions, reaching a
contrary conclusion supported by sociological data.

Furthermore, the present case involves more than just Witherspoon
error or the disqualification of so-called “guilt-phase includables” from the
guilt phase of the trial. The judge’s exclusive reliance on written
questionnaires to perform the important function of identifying jurors
excusable for death penalty bias, was a “structural defect” of constitutional

magnitude — similar to the wrongful denial of the right to exercise a
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peremptory challenge — which immeasurably affects the entire proceeding.
(People v. Rodriguez (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 1013, 1026-1027; see United
States v. Annigoni (9th Cir. 1996) 96 F.3d 1132, 1142-1143.) “‘The right to
a fair and impartial jury is one of the most sacred and important of the
guaranties of the constitution. Where it has been infringed, no inquiry as to the
sufficiency of the evidence to show guilt is indulged and a conviction by a jury
so selected must be set aside.” [Citations.]” (People v. Wheeler (1978) 22
Cal.3d 258, 283.) In this case, the trial court failed to properly perform its
constitutionally mandated function of engaging in meaningful voir dire to
obtain an impartial jury.

Accordingly, both the guilt and penalty judgements should be reversed.

3. The Error Was Cumulatively Prejudicial

Even if the erroneous excusal of Juror 16 was not individually
prejudicial, reversal of the guilt, special circumstance and penalty verdicts
would still be warranted. This is so because, when the error is considered
cumulatively with the additional errors the judge committed — e.g., excusing
four other jurors without allowing oral voir dire (Claims 2-3), not allowing
oral voir dire to rehabilitate any jurors excused based solely on their
questionnaires (Claim 4), using a defective questionnaire (Claim 5), impairing
counsel’s ability to intelligently exercise peremptory challenges (Claim 6) and
denying individual death qualification voir dire (Claim 7) — it is apparent that
appellant’s trial was fundamentally unfair, unreliable and in violation of state
law and the federal constitution. (U.S. Constitution, 8th and 14th
Amendments; Greer v. Miller (1987) 483 U.S. 756, 765; Marshall v. Walker
(1983) 464 U.S. 951, 962; Beck v. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S. 625, 637-38;
Taylor v. Kentucky (1978) 436 U.S. 478, 488; Donnelly v. DeChristoforo,
supra, 416 U.S. 637, 642-45; Mak v. Blodgett (9th Cir. 1992) 970 F.2d 614,
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622; see also People v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 845.)
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CLAIM 2

JURORS 11 AND 39 SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN EXCUSED
WITHOUT ORAL VOIR DIRE BECAUSE THEIR QUESTIONNAIRE
RESPONSES WERE INTERNALLY INCONSISTENT AND
INCOMPLETE

A. Overview

On his own motion the judge excused Jurors 11 and 39 for cause, based
solely on their written responses to death penalty questions in the pre-voir dire
jury questionnaire. (32 RT 6203.) However, the failure to conduct oral voir
dire of these jurors was error because their questionnaires were internally
inconsistent and incomplete.

B. Juror 11: Proceedings

1. Juror 11 Questionnaire Answers (6 CT 1487-91[emphasis
added.)

50. . Views on Death Penalty:
. Strongly Oppose. I can’t give life so why should I take it?
Reason for opposition:
Eye for an eye --
Ever held a different opinion?
No. You’re doing the same thing the person you said is guilty.
Is Death or LWOP more severe?
Yes. You have a chance to repent.
Any religious affiliation that takes a stance on the death penalty?
Yes. Church of God in Christ.
Read articles or viewed TV programs about the death penalty?
Yes.
Followed news coverage of Robert Alton Harris, etc?
No.
. Do you understand that not all those convicted of murder are death
eligible?
A. Yes.
57 Q. Hold prosecution to higher standard of proof at guilt?
A. Juror 11 did not answer “yes” or “no” but wrote: 1can only judge

51
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myself.

58(A) Q. Is death penalty used too often? Too infrequently?
A. Too often.

58(B) Q. Belong to groups that advocate increased use or abolition of death
penalty?

A. No.

58(C) Q. Answers to 58A & 58B based on religious considerations?
A. Yes.

59(A) Q. Refuse to vote for guilt of first degree murder?

A. Juror 11 did not answer.
59(B) Q. Refuse to find special circumstance?
A. Juror 11 did not answer.

59(C) Q. Refuse to vote for death and automatically vote for LWOP?
A. Juror 11 did not answer.

59(D) Q. Refuse to vote for LWOP and automatically vote for death?
A. Juror 11 did not answer.

59(E) Q. Change answer to 59C if instructed and ordered by the court to
consider aggravating and mitigating factors?
A. Juror 11 did not answer.

59(F) Q. Could you set aside your own personal feelings and follow the law
as the court explains it?

A. Juror 11 did not answer.

60 Q. Difficulty in not talking about the case?
A. Juror 11 did not answer.

61 Q. How would you vote as to penalty for a defendant convicted of
multiple premeditated murder during the course of a robbery and
burglary?

A. Iwould not automatically vote for either life without possibility
of parole or the death penalty. I would consider all the evidence
and vote my conscience.

62(A) Q. Would consideration of appellant’s background including emotional
difficulties and substance abuse be helpful in deciding whether to
impose death or LWOP?

A. Juror 11 did not answer “yes” or “no” but wrote: 1could not vote
to kill someone. |

62(B) Q. Would you reject any of those factors automatically?

A. No.

63 Q. Would fact that defendant has young children preclude you from
voting for the penalty of death?
A. No.
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65 Q. Any reason why you could not be completely fair and impartial to
both parties? A. No.
2. Juror 11: Ruling

The judge summarized Juror 11's questionnaire responses as follows:

“There were some inconsistent responses, but the juror said that
they could not vote under any circumstances for the death
penalty. Again, a Court challenge for cause.” (32 RT 6203.)

The prosecutor agreed with the court’s assessment but the defense
submitted the matter without joining in the challenge. (32 RT 6204.)% The
judge then excused the juror.

C. Juror 39 Proceedings

L. Juror 39 Questionnaire Answers (7 CT 1844-48 [Emphasis
added].)

50 Q. Views on Death Penalty:
A. Strongly Oppose. In my opinion, man do not have the right to end
a person life.

50 Q. Reason for opposition:
A. No.
51 Q. Ever held a different opinion?
A. No.
52 Q. Is Death or LWOP more severe?
A. No.
53 Q. Any religious affiliation that takes a stance on the death penalty?
A. Yes. In reading the Holy word, God said ‘man should not kill”
54 Q. Read articles or viewed TV programs about the death penalty?
A. Yes.

% The defense was not obligated to affirmatively oppose the challenge to
preserve it for appeal. (People v. Lewis (2006) 39 Cal.4th 970, 1007.) Note
additionally, that the Lewis citation to People v. Hill (1992) 3 Cal.4th 959,
1005 [holding defendant “waived any error” by “failing to object to the
prosecutor’s challenges™] was inapposite because Hill found waiver based on
a failure to object to the prosecution’s peremptory challenges of death scrupled
jurors not a cause challenge under Witt.
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Q. Followed news coverage of Robert Alton Harris, etc?

A. No.

Q. Did the above news coverage change your view of the death
penalty?

A. No.

Q. Do you understand that not all those convicted of murder are death
eligible?

A. Yes.

Q. Hold prosecution to higher standard of proof at guilt?

A. “No op”

58(A) Q. Is death penalty used too often?

A. I never really thought about it

58(B) Q. Belong to groups that advocate increased use or abolition of death

penalty?
A. No. |

58(C) Q. Answers to 5S8A & 58B based on religious considerations?

A. Juror 39 did not answer.

59(A) Q. Refuse to vote for guilt of first degree murder?

A. Yes.

59(B) Q. Refuse to find special circumstance?

A. T have mixed emotions right now.

59(C) Q. Refuse to vote for death and automatically vote for LWOP?

A. Yes.

59(D) Q. Refuse to vote for LWOP and automatically vote for death?

A. No.

59(E) Q. Change answer to 59C if instructed and ordered by the court to

59(F)

60

61

consider aggravating and mitigating factors?

A. “No op”

Q. Could you set aside your own personal feelings and follow the law
as the court explains it?

A. Juror 39 did not answer.

Q. Difficulty in not talking about the case?

A. I might.

Q. How would you vote as to penalty for a defendant convicted of
multiple premeditated murder during the course of a robbery and
burglary?

A. I'would not automatically vote for either life without possibility
of parole or the death penalty. I would consider all the evidence
and vote my conscience.

62(A) Q. Would consideration of appellant’s background including emotional
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difficulties and substance abuse be helpful in deciding whether to
impose death or LWOP?
A. No. Ireally don’t feel that I am the right person for this case.
62(B) Q. Would you reject any of those factors automatically?
A. “No op”
63 Q. Would fact that defendant has young children preclude you from
voting for the penalty of death?
A. “No op”
65 Q. Any reason why you could not be completely fair and impartial to
both parties? A. No.

2. Juror 39: Ruling

The prosecutor stated: “I would stipulate to a cause challenge . . . ‘I
strongly oppose. Would refuse to find guilt. Always would find life without
possibility. I really feel I’m no the right person for this case,’ are all comments
by this juror.” (34 RT 6601.) The defense submitted without argument in
opposition and the judge excused the juror for cause. (/bid.)®

D. Juror 11 And Juror 39 Were Improperly Excused Over Objection
Based Solely On Their Inconsistent And Incomplete Death Penalty
Responses To The Juror Questionnaire

1. Conflicting And Incomplete Questionnaire Answers Are
Insufficient to Justify Excusal Without Oral Voir Dire

“The prosecution, as the moving party, bore the burden of
demonstrating to the trial court that [the Wit**] standard was satisfied as to
each of the challenged jurors. [Citation.}” (People v. Stewart (2004) 33 Cal.4th
425 at 445.) “As with any other trial situation where an adversary wishes to

exclude a juror because of bias . . . it is the adversary seeking exclusion who

*! See Claim 2 § B(2), p. 69, fn. 80, incorporated herein [no objection required
to preserve Witt error].

82 Wainwright v. Witt (1985) 469 U.S. 412.

71



must demonstrate, through questioning, that the potential juror lacks
impartiality . .. It is then the trial judge’s duty to determine whether the
challenge is proper.” (Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at 423.) However, the above
burden is not satisfied by conflicting written answers to a juror questionnaire
which fail to “negate the possibility that the jurors could set aside their feelings
and deliberate fairly.” (People v. Avila (2006) 38 Cal.4th 491at 530; see also
People v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 448.)%

2. Juror 11's Responses Were Inconsistent And Incomplete

The questionnaire responses of Juror 11 — as recognized by the judge
—were “inconsistent.” (32 RT 6203.) On the one hand, Juror 1 1stL1ted: “I could
not vote to kill someone.” (6 CT 1490.) On the other hand the juror expressed

an “ability to approach the case with an open mind and a willingness to fairly

3 For example, in 4vila there was no possibility that any of the Avila jurors
could have set aside their feelings and follow the law. (See Claim 3 § D(1),
p. 82, fn. 88, incorporated herein.) It is true that one of the Avila jurors stated
that he could follow the law. However, his answers to the other questions
demonstrated such strong and entrenched feelings that, taken together, the
answers “professed an opposition to the death penalty that would prevent him
from performing his duties as a juror.” (People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at
532.)

Moreover, in Avila, “this query preceded questions asking directly how
his pro-life views would affect his votes on guilt, special circumstances, and
penalty, and it immediately followed much narrower questions about whether
he agreed with, and could follow, the law requiring consideration of
defendant’s background, including mental defects and upbringing.” (People
v. Avila, supra, 38 Caldth 533, n. 26.) Thus, given the location of this question
in the questionnaire, “the answer may have been directed only at the
background and upbringing question that immediately preceded it.” (/bid.)

In the present case, by contrast, the query regarding ability to set aside
personal feelings and follow the law came after the crucial questions regarding
the jurors’ ability to vote for death. (6 CT 1510-11; 1993-94.)
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consider whatever evidence is presented. . . ” by checking the following
answer as best describing her attitude: “I would not automatically vote for
either life without possibility of parole or the death penalty. I would consider
all the evidence and vote my conscience.” (6 CT 1490.)

Such inconsistent and conflicting responses created ambiguity and left
doubt as to the juror’s true feelings. (See People v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th
at 448 [“juror’s written responses suggested ambiguity and a need for
clarification on oral voir dire”] compare People v. Avila, supra, 33 Cal.4th at
531 [juror properly excused where “responses were internally consistent and
unambiguous”].) And, the ambiguity about the juror’s ability to set aside her
feelings was heightened by the juror’s failure to answer many of the important
death penalty questions — including the inquiry as to whether the juror could
set aside her own personal feelings regarding what the law ought to be and
follow the law as the court explains it to you. (6 CT 1489-90 [seven death
penalty questions not answered].) A juror’s failure to answer a question allows
inferences both that the juror may have answered the question in the
affirmative and in the negative. (See People v. Avila, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 533,
fn. 26.)

In sum, the internal inconsistency and incompleteness of Juror 11's
questionnaire responses demonstrated a need for follow-up oral voir dire.
Without oral voir dire “[w]e simply do not know how . . . [Juror 11] would
have responded to appropriate clarifying questions . . . .” (People v. Stewart,
supra, 33 Cal.4th at 450-51.)*

In short, the questionnaire alone failed to foreclose the “possibility” that

% The present record is replete with examples of jurors whose initial

questionnaire responses changed after clarification during oral voir dire. (See
Claim 1 § E(3), p. 60, fn. 77, incorporated herein.)
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the juror could follow the law and deliberate fairly. (People v. Avila, supra,
38 Cal.4th at 530.)

3. Juror 39's Questionnaire Answers Were Internally Inconsistent
And Incomplete

The questionnaire responses of Juror 39 failed to “negate the possibility
that juror [] could set aside [her] feelings and deliberate fairly.” (People v.
Avila, supra, 38 Calv.4th at 530.)

Juror 39 “strongly opposed” the death penalty and did not believe in it
for religious reasons. (7 CT 1844-45.) Also, Juror 39 responded affirmatively
to Question 59(A) [refuse to vote for guilt]; and 59(C)] automatic imposition
of life without parole]. (7 CT 1846.) However, she expressed “no opinion” as
to whether she would hold the prosecution to a higher standard of proof due
to the potential for a penalty of death. (Question 57.) Moreover, as to Question
59(B) [refuse to find special circumstance] Juror 39 stated: “I have mixed
emotions right now.” And, the juror failed to answer two other key questions
in this series: 59(E) [would answer to 59(D) change if judge instructed and
ordered that aggravating and mitigating factors have to be considered]; 59(F)
[ability to set aside personal feelings and follow the law].) (7 CT 1847.)

Furthermore, the juror expressed an “ability to approach the case with
an open mind and a willingness to fairly consider whatever evidence is
presented. . . ” by checking the following answer as best describing her
attitude: “I would not automatically vote for either life without possibility of
parole or the death penalty. I would consider all the evidence and vote my
conscience.” (7 CT 1847.)

In sum, Juror 39's answers and non-answers created amb%guity and left

doubt as to whether or not the juror could “set aside the juror’s own personal
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feelings” and to “follow the law.” (People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 531.)
85

Under these circumstances, denial of the failure to conduct oral
followup voir dire of this juror was error. (See also Claim 5, pp. 94-99,
incorporated herein.)

E. The Error Violated State Law And The Federal Constitution

To justify exclusion of Jurors 11 and 39 the prosecution was required
to demonstrate that he could not perform his duties in accordance with the
judge’s instructions and his oath. (Wainwright v. Witt, supra,469 U.S. at 424.)
Because the jurors’ questionnaire responses did not satisfy the prosecution’s
burden, and because the judge never questioned the jurors orally or observed
their demeanor on voir dire, excusing them for cause violated appellant’s state
(Article 1, sections 7 & 15) and federal (6th and 14th Amendments)
constitutional rights to due process and trial by an impartial jury. (/bid.; see
also Morgan v. Illinois (1992) 504 U.S. 719; Adams v. Texas (1980) 448 U.S.
38; Witherspoon v. Illinois (1968) 391 U.S. 510.)

Furthermore, the error also violated the Due Process and Cruel and
Unusual Punishment Clauses of the federal constitution (8th and 14th
Amendments) which require heightened reliability in the determination of
guilt, death eligibility and penalty before a sentence of death may be imposed.
(See Beck v. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S. 625, 637-38; see also Kyles v. Whitley
(1995) 514 U.S. 419, 422; Gilmore v. Taylor (1993) 508 U.S. 333, 342;
Maynardv. Cartwright (1988) 486 U.S.356,363-363; Burgerv. Kemp (1987)
483 U.S. 776, 785; Godfrey v. Georgia (1980) 446 U.S. 420, 428-429; White
v. lllinois (1992) 502 U.S. 346, 363-64 [reliability required by due process];
Donnelly v. DeChristoforo (1974) 416 U.S. 637, 646 [same].)

85 See § D(1) above, p. 72, footnote 83, incorporated herein.
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Additionally, pursuant to well established California law “the trial court
has both the duty and the discretion to control the conduct of the trial.
[Citations.]” (People v. Harris (2005) 37 Cal.4th 310, 346; Penal Code §1044;
see also § 1093(f) [power to instruct jury]; § 1127 [same].)*® The judge’s
erroneous excusals arbitrarily violated the above state law rules as well as the
substantive California Constitutional and statutory rights identified in this
claim. These violations of appellant’s state created rights abridged the Due
Process Clause (14th Amendment) of the United States Constitution. (Hicks
v. Oklahoma (1980) 447 U.S. 343, 346; see also People v. Sutton (1993) 19
Cal.App.4th 795, 804; Hernandez v. Yist (9th Cir. 1991) 930 F.2d 714, 716.)
F. The Erroneous Cause Excusals Warrant Reversal Of The Guilt

And Penalty Judgments

1. The Penalty Judgment Should Be Reversed

For the reasons set forth above, the record does not support the trial
court’s excusal for cause of Jurors 11 and 39 under the governing legal
standard. (Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at 424; Morgan v. Illlinois, supra, 504 U.S.
719.) Therefore, this error requires reversal of appellant’s death sentence,
without any inquiry into prejudice. (See Davis v. Georgia (1976) 429 U.S.
122, 123; Gray v. Mississippi (1987 ) 481 U.S. 648, 659-67; see also People
v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 454.)

2. The Guilt Judgement Should Be Reversed

% Thus, under California law “it is the duty of the trial judge to see that a case
is not defeated by ‘mere inadvertence.” [Citation].” (People v. St. Andrew
(1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 450, 457; see also People v. Jones (1979) 95
Cal.App.3d 403, 407; People v. Carlucci (1979) 23 Cal.3d 249, 256 [judge
must determine “where justice lies . . .”]; People v. Ponce (1996) 44
Cal.App.4th 1380, 1387 [judge has “the responsibility for safe guarding . . . the
rights of the accused . . .”].)
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See Claim 1 § G(2), p. 63, incorporated herein.

3. The Error Was Cumulatively Prejudicial

Even if the erroneous excusal of Jurors 11 and 39 was not individually
prejudicial, reversal of the guilt, special circumstance and penalty verdicts
would still be warranted. This is so because, when the error is considered
cumulatively with the additional errors the judge committed — e.g., excusing
three other jurors without allowing oral voir dire (Claims 1 and 3), not
allowing oral voir dire to rehabilitate any jurors excused based solely on their
questionnaires (Claim 4), using a defective questionnaire (Claim 5), impairing
counsel’s ability to intelligently exercise peremptory challenges (Claim 6) and
denying individual death qualification voir dire (Claim 7) — it is apparent that
appellant’s trial was fundamentally unfair, unreliable and in violation of state
law and the federal constitution. (U.S. Constitution, 8th and 14th Amendments,
California Constitution, Article 1, sections 7 & 15, Greer v. Miller (1987) 483
U.S.756,765; Marshallv. Walker (1983) 464 U.S.951,962; Beckv. Alabama
(1980) 447 U.S. 625, 637-38; Taylor v. Kentucky (1978) 436 U.S. 478, 488;
Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, supra, 416 U.S. 637, 642-45; Makv. Blodgett (9th
Cir. 1992) 970 F.2d 614, 622; see also People v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800,
845.)
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CLAIM 3

BECAUSE THEIR QUESTIONNAIRES EXPRESSED AN ABILITYTO
BE “COMPLETELY FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TO BOTH PARTIES”
AND TO “SET ASIDE [THEIR] OWN PERSON FEELINGS AND
FOLLOW THE LAW AS THE COURT EXPLAINS IT” - JURORS 12
AND 50 SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN EXCUSED WITHOUT ANY
ORAL VOIR DIRE

The judge excused Jurors 12 and 50 for cause, over defense objection,
based solely on their written responses to the pre-voir dire jury questionnaire.
The dismissal of those jurors was reversible error because their questionnaire
answers failed to “negate the possibility that the jurors could set aside their
feelings and deliberate fairly.” (People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 530; see
also People v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 448.)

A. Procedural Background: Overview

See Claim 1 § B, pp. 51-2, incorporated herein.

B. Juror 12: Proceedings
L. Juror 12 Questionnaire Answers (6 CT 1508-12 [emphasis
added].)
50. Q. Views on Death Penalty:
A. Oppose. I can’t actively make the decision to take a life.
Q. Reason for opposition:
A. Spiritual reasons and also my profession.
51 Q. Ever held a different opinion?
A. No.
52 Q. Is Death or LWOP more severe?
A. No Opinion. I don’t like either.
53 Q. Any religious affiliation that takes a stance on the death penalty?
A. No.
54 Q. Read articles or viewed TV programs about the death penalty?
A. Yes.
55 Q. Followed news coverage of Robert Alton Harris, etc?
A. No.
56 Q. Do you understand that not all those convicted of murder are death
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eligible?
A. Yes.

57 Q. Hold prosecution to higher standard of proof at guilt?
A. No.

58(A) Q. Is death penalty used too often? Too infrequently?

A. Since ’'m not in favor of it, I guess I’d say it is used too often.

58(B) Q. Belong to groups that advocate increased use or abolition of death
penalty?

A. No.

58(C) Q. Answers to 58A & 58B based on religious considerations?
A. No.

S9(A) Q. Refuse to vote for guilt of first degree murder?

A. No.
59(B) Q. Refuse to find special circumstance?
A. No.

59(C) Q. Refuse to vote for death and automatically vote for LWOP?
A. Yes.

59(D) Q. Refuse to vote for LWOP and automatically vote for death?
A. No.

59(E) Q. Change answer to 59C if instructed and ordered by the court to
consider aggravating and mitigating factors?
A. No.

59(F) Q. Could you set aside your own personal feelings and follow the
law as the court explains it?

A.Yes.

60 Q. Difficulty in not talking about the case?
A. No.

61 Q. How would you vote as to penalty for a defendant convicted of
multiple premeditated murder during the course of a robbery and
burglary?

A. Always vote for LWOP.

62(A) Q. Would consideration of appellant’s background including emotional
difficulties and substance abuse be helpful in deciding whether to
impose death or LWOP?

A. No.

62(B) Q. Would you reject any of those factors automatically?

A. Yes. Accountability is critical & I can’t support the death
penalty.

63 Q. Would fact that defendant has young children preclude you from
voting for the penalty of death?
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65

A. No. I wouldn’t vote for it.
Q. Any reason why you could not be completely fair and impartial to
both parties? No.

2. Juror 12: Ruling

The judge stated that he wanted to dismiss Juror 12 for cause based

solely on the juror’s questionnaire responses. (32 RT 6204.) The prosecutor

agreed with the court’s assessment but the defense objected. (32 RT 6204.)

The judge “noted” the defense objection but “nonetheless, excuse[d] [Juror 12]

for cause based [solely upon the questionnaire] responses.” (32 RT 6204.)

C.

50

50

51

52

53

54

55

55

56

57

Juror 50 Proceedings

1. Juror 50 Questionnaire Answers (7 CT 1991-95 [Emphasis
added].) |

Views on Death Penalty:
Strongly Oppose. I do not believe in the death penalty.
Reason for opposition:
My religion & my own views.
Ever held a different opinion?
No.
Is Death or LWOP more severe?
Yes. Life in prison for the rest of their life is severe punishment.
Any religious affiliation that takes a stance on the death penalty?
Yes. My religion does not believe in death penalty.
Read articles or viewed TV programs about the death penalty?
No.
Followed news coverage of Robert Alton Harris, etc?
Yes.
Did the above news coverage change your view of the death
penalty?
A. No.
Q. Do you understand that not all those convicted of murder are death
eligible?
A. Yes.
Q. Hold prosecution to higher standard of proof at guilt?
A. Yes.

CrROPOPLOPROPLOP»L0P»AL

58(A) Q. Is death penalty used too often?
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A. It should not be used at all.

58(B) Q. Belong to groups that advocate increased use or abolition of death

penalty?
A. No.

58(C) Q. Answers to 58A & 58B based on religious considerations?
A. Yes.

59(A) Q. Refuse to vote for guilt of first degree murder?

A. No.
59(B) Q. Refuse to find special circumstance?
A. No.

59(C) Q. Refuse to vote for death and automatically vote for LWOP?
A. Yes.

59(D) Q. Refuse to vote for LWOP and automatically vote for death?
A. No.

59(E) Q. Change answer to 59C if instructed and ordered by the court to
consider aggravating and mitigating factors?
A. No.

59(F) Q. Could you set aside your own personal feelings and follow the
law as the court explains it?

A. Yes.

60 Q. Difficulty in not talking about the case?
A. No.

61 Q. How would you vote as to penalty for a defendant convicted of
multiple premeditated murder during the course of a robbery and
burglary?

A. Always vote for LWOP.

62(A) Q. Would consideration of appellant’s background including emotional
difficulties and substance abuse be helpful in deciding whether to
impose death or LWOP?

A. Yes.

62(B) Q. Would you reject any of those factors automatically?
A. No.

63 Q. Would fact that defendant has young children preclude you from
voting for the penalty of death?

A. Yes. I would feel bad for his children & family.

2. Juror 50: Ruling

In the judge’s view, Juror 50 stated “unequivocally for religious

reasons, [that he] won’t ever impose the death penalty.” The juror also stated
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“death penalty should not be used at all and [he] will always vote for LWOP.”
(32 RT 6207-08.) However, defense counsel objected based on the juror’s
statement that “he could set aside his personal feelings and follow the law as
the court explains it.” (32 RT 6207.) The defense contended that “this entitles
us to explore the possibility of rehabilitation.” (/bid.) However, the judge
overruled the defense objection and denied the request for oral voir dire. Juror
50 was excused for cause based solely on the questionnaire responses. (32 RT
6207-08; 6215.)

D. Juror 12 And Juror 50 Were Improperly Excused Over Objection
Based Solely On Their Death Penalty Responses To The Juror
Questionnaire

|

1. Conflicting Questionnaire Answers Are Insufficient to Justify
Excusal Without Oral Voir Dire

“The prosecution, as the moving party, bore the burden of
demonstrating to the trial court that [the Wits*’] standard was satisfied as to
each ofthe challenged jurors. [Citation.]” (People v. Stewart, supra,33 Cal.4th
at 445.) “As with any other trial situation where an adversary wishes to
exclude a juror because of bias . . . it is the adversary seeking exclusion who
must demonstrate, through questioning, that the potential juror lacks
impartiality . .. It is then the trial judge’s duty to determine whether the
challenge is proper.” (Wainwright v. Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at 423.) However,
the above burden is not satisfied by written answers to a juror questionnaire
which fails to “negate the possibility that the jurors could set aside their

feelings and deliberate fairly.” (People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 530; see

¥ Wainwright v. Witt (1985) 469 U.S. 412.
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also People v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 448.) *®

2. Juror 12's Responses Revealed A “Possibility” That The Juror
Could Follow The Law

The questionnaire responses of Juror 12 demonstrated a possibility that
the juror could have followed the law.

Juror 12 checked the box on Question 50 indicating that he “opposed”
[rather than strongly opposed] the death penalty. The juror’s comment stated
“I can’t actively make the decision to take a life.” (6 CT 1508.) However, the
juror’s answers to the remaining questions conflicted with these statements.

Some answers reflected an inability to “vote for” the death penalty
(E.g., Question 59 (c); Question 61 (b); Question 62 (b).) (See Section B, pp
78-80, above.)

*® For example, in 4vila there was no possibility that any of the Avila jurors
could have set aside their feelings and follow the law. Two of the jurors
expressly stated on the questionnaire that they could not do so and another
failed to answer one question at all. One of the jurors stated that he could
follow the law but his answers to the other questions demonstrated such strong
and entrenched feelings that, taken together, the answers “professed an
opposition to the death penalty that would prevent him from performing his
duties as a juror.” (People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 532.)

Moreover, in Avila, “this query preceded questions asking directly how
his pro-life views would affect his votes on guilt, special circumstances, and
penalty, and it immediately followed much narrower questions about whether
he agreed with, and could follow, the law requiring consideration of
defendant’s background, including mental defects and upbringing.” (People
v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal4th 533, n. 26.)

Thus, given the location of this question in the questionnaire, “the
answer may have been directed only at the background and upbringing
question that immediately preceded it.” (/bid.) In the present case, however,
the query regarding ability to set aside personal feelings and follow the law
came after the crucial questions regarding the jurors’ ability to vote for death.
(6 CT 1510-11; 7 CT 1993-94.)
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On the other hand, the juror answered “Yes” to the following question:
“Could you set aside your own personal feelings regarding what the law ought
to be and follow the law as the court explains it to you?” [Italics added] (6 CT
1511 [Question 59(f)].) Similarly, in response to Question 65, Juror 12 could
not think of any reason why he could not be “completely fair and impartial to
both parties.” [Italics added.] (6 CT 1512.)

These answers created an inherent conflict which required follow-up
oral voir dire. Even if the answers provided a “preliminary indication” that the
juror might not be able to vote for a death verdict, the ability and willingness
of Juror 12 to “set aside his own personal feelings” and “follow the law”
evidenced at least a “possibility” that the juror could perform his duties “as
defined by the court’s instructions and the juror’s oath.” (Wainwright v. Witt,
supra, 469 U.S. 412, 424; People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 530; People v.
Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 440-41; People v. Heard (2003) 31 Cal.4th 946,
958; see also e.g., People v. Kelly (1990) 51 Cal.3rd 931, 960 [juror at first
expressed a preference under certain circumstances for the death penalty but
ultimately juror agreed to follow the court’s instructions and keep an open
mind]; People v. Stankewitz (1990) 51 Cal.3rd 72, 103 [same]; People v.
Johnson (1989) 47 Cal.3rd 1194, 1224-25 [juror indicated he favored the death
penalty but ultimately stated that he would follow the law as given and would
not automatically vote for the death penalty]; People v. Garceau (1993) 6
Cal.4th 140, 174, fn. 11 [juror stated that he favored the death penalty but also
that he would consider the evidence and would not hesitate to follow the law];
People v. Coleman (1988) 46 Cal.3rd 749, 765-67 [juror initially indicated
conscientious objection to the death penalty and that she would vote for a
verdict of less than first degree murder; on further examination, she stated she

would listen to all the evidence and be guided by the court in determining the
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appropriate penalty]; compare People v. Ruiz (1988) 44 Cal.3rd 589, 618 [no
error in failing to excuse jurors who confirmed they would follow the court’s
instructions}.)

Without oral voir dire “[w]e simply do not know how . . . [Juror 12]
would have responded to appropriate clarifying questions . . . .” (People v.
Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 450-51.)* Moreover, the judge never had an
opportunity to make an individual assessment of Juror 12's demeanor and
credibility. (/bid.) Thus, “fhe trial court’s determination [was] informed by
no more information than the cold record of . . . [the] prospective juror’s check
marks and brief handwritten comments . . ..” (Id. at 451.) Such information
was “insufficient to support an assessment, required by Wit [citation] that
.. . [Juror 12] would be unable faithfully to perform the duties required of a
juror by the law.” (/bid.)”°

¥  The present record is replete with examples of jurors whose initial

questionnaire responses changed after clarification during oral voir dire. (See
Claim 1 § E(3), p. 60, fn. 77. incorporated herein.)

*® People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 532 held that Juror O.D. was properly
excused based solely on his questionnaire even though he stated he could set
aside his personal feelings and follow the law. However, Juror O.D. “also
indicated that he entertained such conscientious opinions regarding the death
penalty that he would, in every case and regardless of the evidence presented,
automatically vote for something other than first degree murder so as not to
reach the penalty phase, automatically vote for a verdict of not true as to the
special circumstances alleged so as not to reach the penalty phase, and,
automatically vote for life imprisonment without the possibility of parole if
there were a penalty phase.”

By contrast, in the present case, Jurors 12 and 50 stated unequivocally
that they would neither always vote for first degree murder nor always vote
“untrue as to the special circumstances to prevent the death penalty from
taking place.” (6 CT 1510; 1993.) Moreover, both jurors in the present case
expressly affirmed their ability to be “completely fair and impartial to both

(continued...)
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In short, the questionnaire alone failed to foreclose the “possibility” that
the juror could follow the law. (People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 530.)

3. Juror 50's Questionnaire Answers Failed To Foreclose The
“Possibility” That The Juror Could Follow The Law

The questionnaire responses of Juror 50 failed to “negate the possibility
that juror [] could set aside [his] feelings and deliberate fairly.” (People v.
Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 530.)

Juror 50 “strongly opposed” the death penalty and did not believe in it
for religious reasons. (7 CT 1991-92.) The juror also responded affirmatively
to Question 57, which asked whether he would hold the prosecution to a higher
standard of proof due to the potential for a penalty of death. In addition, this
juror responded affirmatively to the question regarding automatkc imposition
of life without parole. (Question 59(c); Question 61(b); Question 63.)

Conversely, Juror 50 answered Question 59 by affirming that he could
“set aside [his] own personal feelings regarding what the law ought to be and
follow the law as the court explains it....” (7 CT 1994.) Furthermore, the
juror answered Question 62(A) in the affirmative and Question 62(B) in the

negative, thus suggesting that the juror could, if so instructed, consider the

%0(...continued)
sides.” (6 CT 1512;1995.)

Furthermore, in Avila Juror O.D. also answered additional questions
regarding the death penalty as follows:

“0.D. also strongly disagreed with the following three statements based
onhis religious beliefs: (1) “Any person who intentionally kills another person,
unless the killing was in self-defense or the defense of another, deserves the
death penalty”; (2) “Convicted murderers should be swiftly executed once they
are convicted”; and (3) belief in the adage “An eye for an eye.” (Ibid.)

Thus, the questionnaire responses of Juror O.D. in Avila are
distinguishable from the responses of Jurors 12 and 50 in the present case.

86



aggravating and mitigating evidence, and if warranted, vote for death. This
possibility was further suggested by the juror’s statement that he did not “know
of any reason why [he] could not be completely fair and impartial to both
parties.” (7 CT 1995.)

Hence, as with Juror 12, the responses of Juror 50 were inherently
conflicting. While some answers suggested an unwillingness to vote for the
death penalty, other answers indicated an ability to be fair and impartial to both
sides and to “set aside the juror’s own personal feelings” and to “follow the
law.”®" Under these circumstances, denial of the defense requests for oral
followup voir dire and excusal of this juror based solely on the questionnaire
was error. (See also Claim 5, pp. 94-99, incorporated herein.)

E. The Error Violated State Law And The Federal Constitution

To justify exclusion of Jurors 12 and 50 the prosecution was required
to demonstrate that he could not perform his duties in accordance with the
judge’s instructions and his oath. (Wainwrightv. Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at 424.)
Because the jurors’ questionnaire responses did not satisfy the prosecution’s
burden, and because the judge never questioned the jurors orally or observed
their demeanor on voir dire, excusing them for cause violated appellant’s state
(Article 1, sections 7 & 15) and federal (6th and 14th Amendments)
constitutional rights to due process and trial by an impartial jury. (Ibid.; see
also Morgan v. Illinois (1992) 504 U.S. 719; Adams v. Texas (1980) 448 U.S.
38; Witherspoon v. Illinois (1968) 391 U.S. 510.)

Furthermore, the error also violated the Due Process and Cruei and
Unusual Punishment Clauses of the federal constitution (8th and 14th

Amendments) which require heightened reliability in the determination of

! Compare footnote 90, above.
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guilt, death eligibility and penalty before a sentence of death may be imposed.
(See Beck v. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S. 625, 637-38; see also Kyles v. Whitley
(1995) 514 U.S. 419, 422; Gilmore v. Taylor (1993) 508 U.S. 333, 342;
Maynardv. Cartwright (1988)486 U.S.356,363-363; Burger v. Kemp (1987)
483 U.S. 776, 785; Godfrey v. Georgia (1980) 446 U.S. 420, 428-429; White
v. Illinois (1992) 502 U.S. 346, 363-64 [reliability required by due process];
Donnelly v. DeChristoforo (1974) 416 U.S. 637, 646 [same].)

Additionally, pursuant to well established California law “the trial court
has both the duty and the discretion to control the conduct of the trial.
[Citations.]” (People v. Harris (2005) 37 Cal.4th 310, 346; Penal Code §1044;
see also § 1093(f) [power to instruct jury]; § 1127 [same].)’* The judge’s
erroneous excusals arbitrarily violated the above state law rules as well as the
substantive California Constitutional and statutory rights identified in this
claim. These violations of appellant’s state created rights abridged the Due
Process Clause (14th Amendment) of the United States Constitution. (Hicks
v. Oklahoma (1980) 447 U.S. 343, 346; see also People v. Sutton (1993) 19
Cal.App.4th 795, 804; Hernandez v. Yist (9th Cir. 1991) 930 F.2d 714, 716.)

F. The Erroneous Cause Excusals Warrant Reversal Of The Guilt
And Penalty Judgments

1. The Penalty Judgment Should Be Reversed

For the reasons set forth above, the record does not support the trial

°2 Thus, under California law “it is the duty of the trial judge to see that a case
is not defeated by ‘mere inadvertence.” [Citation].” (People v. St. Andrew
(1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 450, 457; see also People v. Jones (1979) 95
Cal.App.3d 403, 407; People v. Carlucci (1979) 23 Cal.3d 249, 256 [judge
must determine “where justice lies . . .”]; People v. Ponce (1996) 44
Cal.App.4th 1380, 1387 [judge has “the responsibility for safe guarding . . . the
rights of the accused . . .”].)
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court’s excusal for cause of Jurors 12, 16, and 50 under the governing legal
standard. (Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at 424; Morgan v. Illlinois, supra, 504 U.S.
719.) Therefore, this error requires reversal of appellant’s death sentence,
without any inquiry into prejudice. (See Davis v. Georgia (1976) 429 U.S.
122, 123; Gray v. Mississippi (1987 ) 481 U.S. 648, 659-67; see also People
v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 454.)

2. The Guilt Judgement Should Be Reversed

See Claim 1 § G(2), p. 63, incorporated herein.

3. The Error Was Cumulatively Prejudicial

Even if the erroneous excusal of Juror 16 was not individually
prejudicial, reversal of the guilt, special circumstance and penalty verdicts
would still be warranted. This is so because, when the error is considered
cumulatively with the additional errors the judge committed — e.g., excusing
three other jurors without allowing oral voir dire (Claims 1-3), not allowing
oral voir dire to rehabilitate any jurors excused based solely on their
questionnaires (Claim 4), using a defective questionnaire (Claim 5), impairing
counsel’s ability to intelligently exercise peremptory challenges (Claim 6) and
denying individual death qualification voir dire (Claim 7) — it is apparent that
appellant’s trial was fundamentally unfair, unreliable and in violation of state
law and the federal constitution. (U.S. Constitution, 8th and 14th Amendments,
California Constitution, Article 1, sections 7 & 15, Greer v. Miller (1987) 483
U.S.756,765; Marshallv. Walker (1983)464 U.S.951,962; Beckv. Alabama
(1980) 447 U.S. 625, 637-38; Taylor v. Kentucky (1978) 436 U.S. 478, 488,;
Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, supra, 416 U.S. 637, 642-45; Mak v. Blodgett (9th
Cir. 1992) 970 F.2d 614, 622; see also People v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800,
845.)
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CLAIM 4

THE QUESTIONNAIRE IN THE PRESENT CASE WAS DEFICIENT
BECAUSE IT FAILED TO DEFINE THE JURORS’ DUTIES IN
TERMS OF THE JURORS’ OATH

A. The Questionnaire Was Insufficient

As indicated above (see Claims 1, 2 and 3), the trial court erred in
excusing jurors based solely on their incomplete and equivocal responses to
the jury questionnaire forms; in order to gain a clear understanding of these
jurors’ views, appellant has argued, oral voir dire was essential.

The use of the written questionnaires also introduced further error into
the selection process because it contained a crucial omission — it failed to
query prospective jurors about their adherence to the jurors’ oath.

It is one thing for a person to abstractly state that he or she would
always vote for or against the death penalty, it is quite another to violate the
solemn oath a sitting juror takes. This is so because a juror who is not willing
to vote for a death sentence in the abstract may feel a civic or moral duty to
faithfully follow the judge’s instructions after taking an oath to do so.

Accordingly, the questionnaire in the present case was insufficient to
justify excusing a juror for cause over defense objection because the
questionnaire failed to ask the jurors whether they could consider voting for
the death penalty if they were under an oath to do so. (See Wainwright v. Witt,
&upra, 469 U.S.412,424 [inquiry should focus on juror’s ability to perform his
or her duties “as defined by the court’s instructions and the juror’s oath”]; see

also Adams v. Texas (1980) 448 U.S. 38, 45; People v. Stewart, supra, 33
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Cal.4th at 440-41.)”

This error violated state law and the federal constitution. The error
warrants reversal of both the guilt and death judgments.
B. The Error Violated State Law And The Federal Constitution

To justify exclusion of jurors based solely on their written
questionnaires the prosecution was required to demonstrate that the
questionnaire could accurately determine that the jurors could not perform
their duties in accordance with the judge’s instructions and his oath.
(Wainwrightv. Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at 424.) Because the questionnaire in the
present case did not satisfy the prosecution’s burden, excusing the jurors for
cause based solely on the questionnaire violated appellant’s state (Article 1,
sections 7 and 15) and federal (6th and 14th Amendments) constitutional rights
to due process and trial by an impartial jury. (Jbid.; see also Morgan v. Illinois

(1992) 504 U.S. 719; Adams v. Texas (1980) 448 U.S. 38; Witherspoon v.

> A juror questionnaire in a capital case must articulate the proper legal

standard under Witt. (See People v. Avila, supra, 38 Cal.4th at 531 [« ...
excusal without oral voir dire is improper where the prospective juror’s
answers to a jury questionnaire leave no doubt that his or her views on capital
punishment would prevent or substantially impair the performance of his or
her duties in accordance with the court’s instructions and the juror’s oath™];
see also People v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 447 [questionnaire did not
inquire about jurors’ ability to put aside their personal views and deliberate
fairly]; U.S. v. Chanthadara (10th Cir. 2000) 230 F.3d 1237, 1272 [“. . . none
of the questions . . . answered articulated the proper legal standard under
Witt”).)

The Witt standard requires inquiry into the jurors’ ability to perform
their duties “as defined by the court’s instructions and the juror’s oath.”
(Wainwright v. Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at 424; see also Adams v. Texas (1980)
448 U.S. 38, 45; People v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 440-41.)

Accordingly, because the questionnaire in the present case failed to
inquire about the jurors’ ability to follow their oath it failed to correctly
articulate the Witt standard.
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lllinois (1968) 391 U.S. 510.)

Furthermore, the error also violated the Due Process and Cruel and
Unusual Punishment Clauses of the federal constitution (8th and 14th
Amendments) which require heightened reliability in the determination of
guilt, death eligibility and penalty before a sentence of death may be imposed.
(See Beck v. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S. 625, 637-38; see also Kyles v. Whitley
(1995) 514 U.S. 419, 422; Gilmore v. Taylor (1993) 508 U.S. 333, 342;
Maynardv. Cartwright (1988) 486 U.S.356,363-363; Burgerv. Kemp (1987)
483 U.S. 776, 785; Godfrey v. Georgia (1980) 446 U.S. 420, 428-429; White
v. Illinois (1992) 502 U.S. 346, 363-64 [reliability required by due process];
Donnelly v. DeChristoforo (1974) 416 U.S. 637, 646 [same].)

Additionally, pursuant to well established California law “‘the trial court
has both the duty and the discretion to control the conduct of the trial.
[Citations.]” (People v. Harris (2005) 37 Cal.4th 310, 346; Penal Code §1044;
see also § 1093(f) [power to instruct jury]; § 1127 [same].)” The judge’s
erroneous excusals arbitrarily violated the above state law rules as well as the
substantive California Constitutional and statutory rights identified in this
claim. These violations of appellant’s state created rights abridged the Due
Process Clause (14th Amendment) of the United States Constitution. (Hicks
v. Oklahoma (1980) 447 U.S. 343, 346; see also People v. Sutton (1993) 19
Cal.App.4th 795, 804; Hernandez v. Yist (9th Cir. 1991) 930 F.2d 714, 716.)

% Thus, under California law “it is the duty of the trial judge to see that a case
is not defeated by ‘mere inadvertence.’ [Citation].” (People v. St. Andrew
(1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 450, 457; see also People v. Jones (1979) 95
Cal.App.3d 403, 407; People v. Carlucci (1979) 23 Cal.3d 249, 256 [judge
must determine “where justice lies . . .”]; People v. Ponce (1996) 44
Cal.App.4th 1380, 1387 [judge has “the responsibility for safe guarding . . . the
rights of the accused . . .”].)
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C. The Error Warrants Reversal

1. The Penalty Should Be Reversed

See People v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.4th 425; see also Claim 1 § G(1),
p. 63, incorporated herein.

2. The Guilt Verdicts Should Be Reversed

See Claim 1, § G(2), p. 63, incorporated herein.

3. The Error Was Cumulatively Prejudicial

Even if the error identified in this claim was not individually
prejudicial, reversal of the guilt, special circumstance and penalty verdicts
would still be warranted. This is so because, when the error is considered
cumulatively with the additional errors the judge committed — e.g., excusing
five jurors without allowing oral voir dire (Claims 1 and 2), not allowing oral
voir dire to rehabilitate any jurors excused based solely on their questionnaires
(Claim 5), impairing counsel’s ability to intelligently exercise peremptory
challenges (Claim 6) and denying individual death qualification voir dire
(Claim 7) — it is apparent that appellant’s trial was fundamentally unfair,
unreliable and in violation of state law and the federal constitution. (U.S.
Constitution, 8th and 14th Amendments, California Constitution, Article 1,
sections 7 & 15, Greerv. Miller (1987)483 U.S. 756, 765; Marshallv. Walker
(1983) 464 U.S. 951, 962; Beck v. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S. 625, 637-38;
Taylor v. Kentucky (1978) 436 U.S. 478, 488; Donnelly v. DeChristoforo,
supra, 416 U.S. 637, 642-45; Mak v. Blodgett (9th Cir. 1992) 970 F.2d 614,
622; see also People v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 845.)
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CLAIM 5

IT WAS ERROR TO EXCUSE THE JURORS FOR CAUSE OVER
DEFENSE OBJECTION WITHOUT GIVING THE DEFENSE AN
OPPORTUNITY TO REHABILITATE THE JURORS THROUGH
ORAL VOIR DIRE

A. The Defense Should Have Been Allowed To Rehabilitate The

Excused Jurors

As discussed above, Stewart and Avila warrant reversal based on the
conflicting and/or ambiguous responses of the specific jurors. However, even
if the jurors’ responses had been clear and unambiguous, denial of the defense
requests for follow-up voir dire was reversible error.”

The practice of excusing jurors for cause based entirely on their written
responses to a juror questionnaire absent a stipulation by the parties is
problematic for several reasons. First, while the questionnaire may provide a
“preliminary” insight into whether the juror is qualified, the questionnaire is
often inadequate in terms of reaching a definitive view of the juror’s
qualifications. In some situations, the questionnaire responses may reveal
“unambiguous and entrenched support for or opposition to the death penalty.”
(See Stewart, 33 Cal.4th 444, fn. 11.) Thus, in Stewart the court did not “hold
that a trial court never may properly grant a motion for excusal for cause over
defense objection based solely on a prospective juror’s checked answers and
written responses contained in a juror questionnaire.” (/d. at 449.) However,
the Stewart court went on to observe that it was “unaware of any authority

> Defense counsel expressly requested oral voir dire of Jurors 16 and 50. (32
RT 6205; 6207.) Although there was no such express request as to Juror 12
(32 RT 6204), the defense objection to excusal without voir dire, in context,
reasonably should be construed as a request for oral voir dire of that juror as
well.
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upholding such a practice.” (Id. at 449-50; see also United States v.
Chanthadra (10th Cir. 2000) 230 F.3d 1237 [death penalty judgment reversed
for excusing nine jurors for cause based solely upon the jurors’ responses to
a questionnaire]; State v. Anderson (2000) 197 Ariz. 314 [4P.3d 369, 372-79]
[finding error in excusing three jurors over objection for cause based solely
upon each juror’s responses to a juror questionnaire].)

Furthermore, as this Court observed in Stewart, none of the “numerous
. . . publications that exist to assist [trial courts] in properly conducting voir
dire in capital cases” provide any suggestion that “. . . granting challenges for
cause over defense objection—involving exclusive reliance upon checked
answers to questions and brief written comments—is permissible or adequate.”
(People v. Stewart, 33 Cal.4th at 450; see also People v. Heard (2003) 31
Cal.4th 946, 966, fn 9.) Instead, those sources proceed on the assumption that,
except for prospective jurors who both parties stipulate should be excused for
cause (see People v. Erin (2000) 22 Cal.4th 48, 73-74, 78) will not obviate the
need for oral voir dire . ...” (People v. Stewart, supra, 33 C4th at 450.) [Italics
in original.}]

The essential deficiencies of relying entirely on juror questionnaires
arise from the fact that (1)”[w]e simply do not know how . . . potential jurors
would have responded to appropriate clarifying questions posed. . .” and (2)
in making such an excusal, the judge never has an opportunity to make an
individual assessment of the juror’s demeanor and credibility. (People v.
Stewart,supra,33 Cal.4th at 450-51.) “Had the trial court conducted a follow-
up examination of each prospective juror and thereafter determined (in light
of the questionnaire responses, oral responses, and its own assessment of
demeanor and credibility) that the prospective juror’s views would

substantially impair the performance of his or her duties as a juror in this case,
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the court’s determination would have been entitled to deference. [Citations.]”
(Id.at451.) However, when the excusal is based entirely on the questionnaire,
“the trial court’s determination [is] informed by no more information than the
cold record of . . . a prospective juror’s check marks and brief handwritten
comments—the exact same information that [the reviewing court has].” (Id. at
451.) Such information is “insufficient to support an assessment, required by
Witt [citation] that...[the] prospective jurors would be unable faithfully to
perform the duties required of a juror by the law.” (Ibid.) Therefore, even if
the written responses are framed in terms of the “prevent or substantially
impair” language of Witt, a prospective juror may “not properly be excused for
cause without any follow-up oral voir dire by the court.” (Id. at 451-52.)

Moreover, it is indisputable that oral voir dire will more effectively
ferret out a juror’s true views than a simple written questionnaire. This is so
because the oral voir dire allows the juror an opportunity to further evaluate
his or her views and to place them in perspective. (See e.g., People v. Lucas
(1995) 12 Cal.4th 415, 485 [juror thought she had made a mistake on the
questionnaire and did not believe that death should be imposed in every
intentional homicide].) Also, oral voir dire is helpful in clarifying things that
the jurors may have misunderstood about the written questionnaire. (See
Claim 1, § E(3), p. 59, fn. 76, incorporated herein [observations of trial judge
regarding ability of voir dire to rehabilitate].)

Furthermore, in the present case there were numerous examples of
jurors whose initial responses to the questionnaires were subsequently clarified
and/or changed in response to oral voir dire. (See Claim 1, § E(3), pp. 60, fn.
77, incorporated herein.)

In sum, it undermined the reliability of the fairness and reliability of

appellant’s trial, and was a violation of the state (Article I, sections 7 and 15)
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and federal (6th, 8th and 14th Amendments) constitutions, to dismiss any

jurors, including Jurors 11, 12, 16, 39 and 50, based on their written

questionnaire responses without first affording the defense an opportunity for
- oral voir dire of the jurors.

B. The Error Violated State Law And The Federal Constitution

Allowing a juror to be challenged for cause under Wainwright v. Witt,
supra,469 U.S. at 424) without allowing oral voir dire to rehabilitate the juror
violated appellant’s state (Article 1, sections 7 & 15) and federal (6th and 14th
Amendments) constitutional rights to due process and trial by an impartial
jury. (Ibid.; see also Morgan v. Illlinois (1992) 504 U.S. 719; Adams v. Texas
(1980) 448 U.S. 38; Witherspoon v. lllinois (1968) 391 U.S. 510; People v.
Stewart (2004) 33 c4th 425.)

Furthermore, the error also violated the Due Process and Cruel and
Unusual Punishment Clauses of the federalr constitution (8th and 14th
Amendments) which require heightened reliability in the determination of
guilt, death eligibility and penalty before a sentence of death may be imposed.
(See Beck v. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S. 625, 637-38; see also Kyles v. Whitley
(1995) 514 U.S. 419, 422; Gilmore v. Taylor (1993) 508 U.S. 333, 342;
Maynardv. Cartwright (1988) 486 U.S.356,363-363; Burgerv. Kemp (1987)
483 U.S. 776, 785 Godfrey v. Georgia (1980) 446 U.S. 420, 428-429; White
v. lllinois (1992) 502 U.S. 346, 363-64 [reliability required by due process];
Donnelly v. DeChristoforo (1974) 416 U.S. 637, 646 [same].)

Additionally, pursuant to well established California law “the trial court
has both the duty and the discretion to control the conduct of the trial.
[Citations.]” (People v. Harris (2005) 37 Cal.4th 310, 346; Penal Code §1044;
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see also § 1093(f) [power to instruct jury]; § 1127 [same].)’® The judge’s
erroneous excusals arbitrarily violated the above state law rules as well as the
substantive California Constitutional and statutory rights identified in this
claim. These violations of appellant’s state created rights abridged the Due
Process Clause (14th Amendment) of the United States Constitution. (Hicks
v. Oklahoma (1980) 447 U.S. 343, 346; see also People v. Sutton (1993) 19
Cal.App.4th 795, 804; Hernandez v. Yist (9th Cir. 1991) 930 F.2d 714, 716.)
C. The Judgment Should Be Reversed

The guilt and penalty judgments should be reversed. (See Claim 1 §
G(1) and (2), pp. 63, incorporated herein.)

Moreover, even if the error identified in this claim was noT individually
prejudicial, reversal of the guilt, special circumstance and penalty verdicts
would still be warranted. This is so because, when the error is considered
cumulatively with the additional errors the judge committed — e.g., excusing
five jurors without allowing oral voir dire (Claims 1-3),using a defective
questionnaire (Claim 4), impairing counsel’s ability to intelligently exercise
peremptory challenges (Claim 6) and denying individual death qualification
voir dire (Claim 7) — it is apparent that appellant’s trial was fundamentally
unfair, unreliable and in violation of state law and the federal constitution.
(U.S. Constitution, 8th and 14th Amendments, California Constitution, Article

1, sections 7 & 15, Greer v. Miller (1987) 483 U.S. 756, 765, Marshall v.

¢ Thus, under California law “it is the duty of the trial judge to see that a case
is not defeated by ‘mere inadvertence.’ [Citation].” (People v. St. Andrew
(1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 450, 457; see also People v. Jones (1979) 95
Cal.App.3d 403, 407; People v. Carlucci (1979) 23 Cal.3d 249, 256 [judge
must determine “where justice lies . . .”]; People v. Ponce (1996) 44
Cal.App.4th 1380, 1387 [judge has “the responsibility for safe guarding . . . the
rights of the accused . . .”].)
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Walker (1983) 464 U.S.951,962; Beck v. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S. 625, 637-
38; Taylor v. Kentucky (1978) 436 U.S. 478, 488; Donnelly v. DeChristoforo,
supra, 416 U.S. 637, 642-45; Mak v. Blodgett (9th Cir. 1992) 970 F.2d 614,

622; see also People v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 845.)
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CLAIM 6

THE JUDGE ERRED BY UNNECESSARILY USING A JURY
SELECTION METHOD THAT IMPAIRED COUNSEL’S ABILITY TO
INTELLIGENTLY EXERCISE HIS PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES

Over vigorous defense objection the judge opted to use a jury selection
method in which both the cause and peremptory challenges were exercised as

to groups of 18 jurors at a time. (27 RT 5218.) Defense counsel objected to

13

this procedure because it “would prevent the defense from effectively

exercising [their] peremptory challenges.” *’

After the challenges to the first panel of 18 was complete defense
counsel Landreth again explained how the procedure was impairing his ability
to exercise peremptory challenges and asked that the remaining 15 jurors yet
to be called be challenged for cause before the exercise of any more
peremptory challenges:

Your Honor, there are approximately 15 members of this panel
still out there who have not been examined for cause which --
members of this particular panel, and from looking at those and
reading the questionnaires that we have got, it makes -- puts me,
us in the impossible position of having to adequately judge these
jurors and I would request that at the very least we be able to get
the rest of these through with cause before we are required to
exercise peremptory challenges. (33 RT 6537-38.)

7 Defense counsel West questioned the procedure of piecemeal peremptory
challenges. (27 RT 5220.) Attorney Landreth then stated that because this was
a death penalty case, they were exercising their peremptory challenges
weighted system for each particular juror. Thus, Landreth explained, the
judge’s selection method “would simply destroy our ability to really weigh
our...reasons for exercising peremptories. . . ” and would prevent the defense
from effectively exercising their peremptory challenges. (27 RT 5221-22.)

Thereafter, counsel filed a formal written objection to the procedure (4
CT 929-31) which the judge denied. (28 RT 5249.)
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The judge denied this request as well, while simply stating, “I have ruled on
that.” (33 RT 6538.)

In People v. Avila (2006) 38 Cal.4th 491, this Court held that under
California law the judge is not obligated to conduct cause voir dire and
challenges to more than one panel of prospective jurors at a time. However,
even if a judge’s ruling is technically in compliance with state law, if the
procedure effectively impairs counsel’s ability to intelligently exercise
peremptory challenges then there has been a violation of the federal
constitution. This is so because, although there is nothing in the Constitution
of the United States which requires the States to grant peremptory challenges,
(United States v. Martinez-Salazar (2000) 528 U.S. 304), nonetheless the
challenge is “one of the most important of the rights secured to the accused,”
Pointer v. United States (1894) 151 U.S. 396, 408.) Thus a state procedure
which impairs the defendant's ability to exercise his challenges intelligently
may be a violation of the federal constitution. (See Knox v. Collins (5th Cir.
1991) 928 F.2d 657, 660-661.)

Thus, although the courts have indicated that there is no constitutional
right to peremptory challenges in themselves, where such challenges are
provided, the constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury — per the Sixth and
Fourteenth Amendments — includes the right to a voir dire procedure that
permits the intelligent exercise of those challenges. (See Swain v. Alabama
(1965) 380 U.S. 202; Knox v. Collins, supra, 928 F.2d 657.) Additionally, the
denial of such a right also necessarily violates the Fifth Amendment right to
liberty, the Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel, the Fifth and
Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process and the Eighth Amendment right
to heightened capital case due process, as well as the Fifth, Eighth and

fourteenth Amendment rights to reliability in guilt and penalty adjudication.
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(See Beck v. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S. 625, 637-38; see also Claim 1 § F, pp.
61-2, incorporated herein.)

Additionally, pursuant to well established California law “the trial court
has both the duty and the discretion to control the conduct of the trial.
[Citations.]” (People v. Harris (2005) 37 Cal.4th 310, 346; Penal Code §1044;
see also § 1093(f) [power to instruct jury]; § 1127 [same].)’® The failure to
allow intelligent exercise of peremptory challenges arbitrarily violated the
above state law rules as well as the substantive California Constitutional and
statutory rights identified in this claim. These violations of appellant’s state
created rights abridged the Due Process Clause (14th Amendment) of the
United States Constitution. (Hicks v. Oklahoma (1980) 447 U.S. 343, 346; see
also People v. Sutton (1993) 19 Cal.App.4th 795, 804; Hernandez v. Yist (9th
Cir. 1991) 930 F.2d 714, 716.)

Nor can is there any doubt that the procedure used in the present case
impaired counsel’s ability to intelligently exercise his peremptory challenges.
First, there is counsel’s on-the-record statements as to how the procedure put
him in an “impossible position” and prevented him from effectively exercising
his peremptory challenges. Second, this Court has acknowledged that such a
procedure makes the exercise of peremptory challenges “less informed”
because “[i]t is clear that knowledge of the composition of the entire panel can

be relevant to the informed exercise of a peremptory challenge against a

%8 Thus, under California law “it is the duty of the trial judge to see that a case
is not defeated by ‘mere inadvertence.’ [Citation].” (People v. St. Andrew
(1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 450, 457; see also People v. Jones (1979) 95
Cal.App.3d 403, 407; People v. Carlucci (1979) 23 Cal.3d 249, 256 [judge
must determine “where justice lies . . .”]; People v. Ponce (1996) 44
Cal.App.4th 1380, 1387 [judge has “the responsibility for safe guarding . . . the
rights of the accused . ..”}.)
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particular juror.” (Peoplev. Wright (1990) 52 Cal.3d 367,397, Peoplev. Avila,
supra, 38 Cal.4th at 538 [“knowledge of the composition of the entire panel
can be relevant to the exercise of a peremptory challenge against an individual
juror”]; People v. Reynoso (2003) 31 Cal.4th 903, 919) [in deciding on
peremptory challenges “. . .a lawyer necessarily evaluates . . . the prospective
jurors remaining in the courtroom . . .”].)

Accordingly, because the procedure used in the present case
unnecessarily impaired counsel’s ability to effectively exercise their
peremptory challenges, the guilt and penalty judgement should be reversed.
(Swain v. Alabama, supra, 380 U.S. at 219.) Moreover, even if the guilt
judgement is not reversed, the penalty judgement should be reversed because
intelligent jury selection is critically important in capital cases,”® and thus any
impairment of counsel’s ability to effectively use his peremptory challenges
violated the 8th amendment and unconstitutionally undermined the fairness
and reliability of the sentencing trial. (See also Claim 59 § G(2), pp. 550-51,
incorporated herein [penalty trial was closely balanced].)

Finally, even if the error identified in this claim was not individually
prejudicial, reversal of the guilt, special circumstance and penalty verdicts
would still be warranted. This is so because, when the error is considered
cumulatively with the additional errors the judge committed — e.g., excusing
five jurors without allowing oral voir dire (Claims 1-3), using a defective
questionnaire (Claim 4), not allowing oral voir dire to rehabilitate any jurors
excused based solely on their questionnaires (Claim 5) and denying individual

death qualification voir dire (Claim 7) — it is apparent that appellant’s trial was

** See generally Wainwright v. Witt (1985) 469 U.S. 412; Witherspoon v.
Ilinois (1968) 391 U.S. 510; People v. Cummings (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1233.
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fundamentally unfair, unreliable and in violation of state law and the federal
constitution. (U.S. Constitution, 8th and 14th Amendments, California
Constitution, Article 1, sections 7 & 15, Greer v. Miller (1987) 183 U.S. 756,
765; Marshall v. Walker (1983) 464 U.S. 951, 962; Beck v. Alabama (1980)
447 U.S. 625, 637-38; Taylorv. Kentucky (1978) 436 U.S. 478, 488; Donnelly
v. DeChristoforo, supra, 416 U.S. 637, 642-45; Mak v. Blodgett (9th Cir.
1992) 970 F.2d 614, 622; see also People v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 845.)
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CLAIM 7

THE JUDGE ERRONEOUSLY REFUSED TO CONDUCT
INDIVIDUAL DEATH QUALIFICATION VOIR DIRE

In Covarrubiasv. Superior Court (1998) 60 Cal.App. 1168, inresponse
to a pretrial write in the present case, the Court of Appeal held sequestered
individual death qualification of jurors is not required unless group voir dire
is not practical. (See also People v. Waidla (2000) 22 Cal.4th 690, 713;
California Code of Civil Procedure § 223.

Following the pretrial writ ruling the judge denied a request by both the
defense and prosecution for individual voir dire. (26 RT 5007-16.)

In accordance with People v. Schmeck (2005) 37 Cal.4th 240 appellant
seeks reconsideration — without complete briefing — of this Court’s holding
that individual voir dire is not constitutionally required.'®

Group qualification is unconstitutional for numerous reasons, including
but not limited to those discussed by this Court in Hovey v. Superior Court
(1980) 28 Cal.3d 1 and in empirical studies."’

Put simply, juror exposure to death qualification in the presence of
other jurors leads to doubt that a convicted capital defendant was sentenced to

death by a jury empaneled in compliance with constitutionally compelled

19 Tn light of People v. Schmeck (2005) 37 Cal.4th 240, 304 and the Calif.
Rules of Court, Rule 8.630 (b)(1)(A), appellant has not fully briefed this claim.

' See e.g., Haney, On the Selection of Capital Juries: The Biasing Effects of
the Death-Qualification Process (1984) 8 Law & Human Behavior 121, 132
[death qualification creates an imbalance to the detriment of the defendant];
Haney, Examining Death Qualification: Further Analysis of the Process Effect
(1984) 8 Law & Human Behavior 133, 151; and Allen, Mabry & McKelton,
Impact of Juror Attitudes about the Death Penalty on Juror Evaluations of
Guilt and Punishment: A Meta-Analysis (1998) 22 L. & Hum. Behv. 715, 724.
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impartiality principles. Such doubt requires reversal of appellant’s death
sentence. (See e.g., Morgan v. Illlinois (1992) 504 U.S. 719,739; Turner v.
Murray (1986) 476 U.S. 28, 37.)

Nor can such restriction withstand Eighth Amendment principles
mandating a need for the heightened reliability of death sentences. (See e.g.,
California v. Ramos (1983) 463 U.S. 992, 998-999; Zant v. Stephens (1983)
462 U.S. 862, 884-885; Gardner v. Florida (1977) 430 U.S. 349, 357-358,;
Woodson v. North Carolina (1976) 428 U.S. 280, 305.)

Likewise, because the right to an impartial jury guarantees adequate
voir dire to identify unqualified jurors and provide sufficient information to
enable the defense to raise peremptory challenges (Morgan v. lllinois, supra,
504 U.S. atp. 729; Rosales-Lopez v. United States (1981) 451 U.S. 182, 188),
the negative influences of open death qualification voir dire violate the Sixth
Amendment’s guarantee of effective assistance of counsel.

Accordingly, the death judgment should be reversed.
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CLAIM 8

THE GUILT AND PENALTY JUDGEMENTS SHOULD BE
REVERSED BECAUSE DEATH QUALIFICATION IS
UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Before a prospective juror may sit on a death penalty jury, the trial
judge questions the individual in a group with other prospective jurors to learn
whether he or she is “death qualified,” i.e., whether the person is willing, in
some cases at least, to sentence to death someone who stands convicted of a
capital crime. If the court determines that the prospective juror is so strongly
in favor of the death penalty that his or her views “would prevent or
substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with
his instructions and oath,” then that juror may be excused for cause.
(Wainwright v. Witt (1985) 469 U.S. 412, 582.) Such “death qualified” jurors
are not permitted to serve at either the guilt or penalty phase of a trial. This
process of death qualification violates appellant’s federal and state
constitutional rights to due process, a fair trial and to a fair and reliable guilt
and penalty determination for the following reasons: (1) death qualification
does not screeﬁ out everyone who would always impose the death penalty, so
that such jurors remain on the jury even after Wittt voir dire; (2) death
qualification results in jurors who are less likely to consider the defendant’s
mitigation evidence; (3) juror’s expose to the death qualification process are
more likely to impose death; (4) death qualified jurors are more likely to
convict a defendant at the guilt/innocence phase.

The process by which a death penalty jury is selected in California
violates appellant’s federal and state constitutional rights to trial by an
impartial jury. (U.S. Const., 6th & 14th Amends.; Morgan v. Illinois, supra,
504 U.S. 719, 726; Taylor v. Lousiana, supra, 419 U.S. 522, 530-531; Cal.
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Const., Article. I, §§ 7, 15 & 16.) Death qualification violates appellant’s
Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a reliable death sentence.
(California v. Ramos (1983) 463 U.S. 992, 998-999; Gardner v. Florida,
supra, 430 U.S. 349, 357-358; Woodson v. North Carolina, supra, 428 U.S.
280, 305.) It also violates his right to a jury selected from a representative
cross-section of the community. (U.S. Const., 6th & 14th Amends; Cal. Const.,
Article 1, § 16; Taylor v. Louisiana, supra, 419 U.S. 522, 526.)

Appellant recognizes that these issues have previously been rejected.
This Court has held that individual sequestered voir dire is not required by the
constitution. (See, e.g., People v. Carter (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1215, 1247-1248,
and cases cited there.) This Court and the United States Supreme Court has
also rejected the claim that the use of death-qualified jurors for guilt and
penalty violates the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments in Lockhartv. McCree
(1986) 476 U.S. 162. This Court has rejected a similar challenge in Hovey v.
Superior Court, supra, 28 Cal.3d 1, and more recently in People v. Lenart
(2004) 32 Cal.4th 1107, 1120, People v. Steele (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1230, 1240,
and People v. Jackson (1996) 13 Cal.4th 1164, 1198-1199. These holding are
wrong and appellant urges their reconsideration without full briefing. (People

v. Schmeck (2005) 37 Cal. 4th 240, 304.)'%

12 See also Claim 7, p. 105, fn. 100, incorporated herein.
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CLAIM 9: COURTROOM SECURITY ERRORS
CLAIM 9
THE JUDGE PREJUDICIALLY ABUSED HIS DISCRETION BY
COMPELLING APPELLANT TO WEAR A STUN BELT
A. Overview

Prior to trial the Sheriff stated his intent to restrain appellant with a
REACT'® stun belt throughout the jury trial. This stun belt was designed to
deliver an eight-second, 50,000 volt electric shock if activated by a remote
transmitter controlled by an attending officer. (3 SCT 839; see also People v.
Mar (2002) 28 Cal.4th 1201, 1215.) “The wearer is generally knocked to the
ground by the shock and shakes uncontrollably. Activation may also cause
immediate and uncontrolled defecation and urination, and the belt’s metal
prongs may leave welts on the wearer’s skin requiring as long as six months
to heal.” (/bid.)

“The most unique feature of the belt is the psychological impact
rendered on the wearer [from] knowing that the belt contains a jolt of 50,000
volts of unleashed electricity at officer discretion. ...” (3 SCT 839.)

The defense objected to using “thatkind of restraint” on appellant based
on appellant’s fear that the device might be activated accidentally or
unnecessarily. (RT1813.) Appellant’s concern aboutaccidental discharge was
justified by the manufacturer’s own statistical data which stated that over 42
percent of all known belt activations had been accidental. (3 SCT 836.)

Appellant’s fear that the belt might be unnecessarily activated was justified by

' “REACT” is the manufacturer’s acronym for “Remote Electronically
Activated Control Technology Belt.” (SCT 838.) The documents submitted
by the sheriff’s stun belt memo included documentation from the manufacturer
of the REACT stun belt. (Court Exhibit 1; SCT 836-851.)
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the fact that the sheriff’s deputy who held the remote activation trigger for the
belt had the discretion to decide whether appellant’s movements and/or
response to the deputies verbal commands were sufficient to warrant activation
of the belt. And, even if not justified, appellant’s concern was “plausible”
because the sheriff’s office had accused appellant of assaulting a sheriff’s
deputy (3 SCT 823), and the stun belt was controlled by another sheriff’s
deputy. (See People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th at 1223.)

Moreover, appellant’s objection to the stun belt was also justified by the
painful and humiliating consequences of the belt’s activation which were
described on the “Defendant Notification Form™ as follows:

“YOU ARE HEREBY ADVISED THAT YOU ARE BEING
REQUIRED TO WEAR AN ELECTRONIC
IMMOBILIZATION BELT.
This belt contains 50,000 volts of electricity. By means of a
remote transmitter, an attending officer has the ability to activate
the stun package attached to the belt, thereby causing the
following results to take place:

1. Immobilization causing you to fall to the ground

2. Possibility of self-defecation

3. Possibility of self-urination
FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH OFFICER DIRECTION
COULD LEAD TO ANY OF THE ABOVE!” (3 SCT 849.)

The stun belt literature also made it clear that fear, anxiety and
psychological distraction were natural and probable consequences of wearing
the REACT stun belt: “By merely strapping the belt on an individual, the
element of ‘implied force’ control is being demonstrated by psychological
power.” (3 SCT 847.)

In sum, the record contained substantial evidence which should have
alerted the judge that appellant’s ability to effectively participate in his defense

would likely be impaired by the “adverse psychological consequences” of the
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stun belt. (See People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th at 1228.)

However, the judge never considered these psychological
consequences. Instead he erroneously relied on the unwarranted presumption
that the stun belt would not prejudice appellant so long as the jury did not see
it. Accordingly, the judge abused his discretion by:

1. Not engaging in the required balancing process before ruling that
appellant must be restrained during trial.

2. Failing to consider the psychological impact of the stun belt on
appellant;

3. Failing to consider whether the security purposes could be served by
other less onerous or restrictive restraints especially in light of the sheriff’s
statement that appellant could be restrained by hand cuffs and/or leg irons;

4. Relying on his view that the stun belt would benefit appellant;

5. Failing to find that the belt used on appellant had the least invasive
design capable of accomplishing the security purposes.

6. Relying on hearsay to justify imposition of physical restraints on
appellant.

For all of the above reasons, the judge erroneously compelled appellant
to wear a stun belt which prejudicially undermined the fairness and reliability
of both the guilt and penalty verdicts.

B. Proceedings Below

1. The Sheriff’s Stun Belt Memo Failed To Explain Why
Traditional Restraints Would Not Have Been Adequate

Prior to jury selection, the sheriff stated his intention — based on hearsay
incident reports — to make appellant wear a REACT stun belt while in the
presence of the jury. (Court Exhibit 1; 3 SCT 823-851.) However, the sheriff

provided no explanation as to why the stun belt — which would inflict a 50,000
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volt electric shock upon appellant for 8-10 seconds if activated — was the least
onerous or restrictive restraint available to serve the security purpose. In fact,
the sheriff’s memo indicated that “handcuffs and/or leg irons” would have
been sufficient. (3 SCT 823.)

2. 42% Plus Rate Of Accidental Activation

The stun belt documentation included statistical data showing that over
42 percent of the REACT stun belt’s known activations had been accidental.
(3 SCT 836 [12 intended activations; 9 accidental activations].)

3. The Stun Belt Was Designed For “Mind Control” And
“Psychological Supremacy” Over The Defendant

According to the manufacturer’s documentation, the goal of the
REACT stun belt system was “total psychological supremacy . .. of potentially
troublesome prisoners.” (Court Exhibit 1, p. 4; 3 SCT 838.) “Just knowing
the belt contains a jolt of 50,000 volts of unleashed electricity at officer
discretion prompts the most violent inmate into becoming a complying
customer.” (Ibid.) Thus, the intent of the device was to impose “psychological
power” over appellant (3 SCT 847) and to “maintain [] an invisible leash
between the mind of [appellant] and the officer capable of activating [the belt].
...” (3 SCT 845 [emphasis in original].)

4. The Defendant Notification Form Emphasized The Officer’s
Discretion To Inflict Pain And Humiliation On Appellant

The REACT documentation also included a “Defendant Notification
Form” which advised appellant that the belt “contains 50,000 volts of
electricity” and if activated will produce “immobilization causing you to fall
to the ground” and the “possibility of self-defecation and self-urination.”

(Ibid.) It also advised appellant in capital letters that: FAILURE TO COMPLY

WITH OFFICER DIRECTION COULD LEAD TO ANY OF THE ABOVE!”

112



(3 SCT 849.)
The “Defendant Notification Form” further admonished appellant that:
“The belt could be activated under the following actions
on your behalf and notification is hereby made:
A. Any outburst or quick movement
B. Any hostile movement
C. Any tampering with the belt
D. Failure to comply with verbal command for
movement of your person
E. Any attempt to escape custody
F. Any loss of vision of your hands by the
custodial officer
G. Any overt act against any person within a fifty
(50) foot vicinity.” (Court Exhibit 1; 3 SCT 849.)
5. First Objection By The Defense

Before the belt was used on appellant, the defense objected to the
placement of “that kind of restraint on Mr. Covarrubias.” (10 RT 1813.)'*
The defense argued that the stun belt was not necessary because appellant had
not exhibited any indication of being a security risk in his prior court
appearances. (10 RT 1813-14.) Defense counsel also conveyed appellant’s
fear that there might be a “nondiscriminatory” activation of the stun belt and
that the deputy might perceive a slight movement as an escape attempt. (10 RT
1814.)

The judge concluded that, because the stun belt would not be “apparent

1% The defense also contended that the security proposals were based on mere
“incident reports” without affording appellant an opportunity to challenge or
have a trial on the merits of those particular incidents. (RT 1813.)
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to the jury” (10 RT 1815), there would be “no prejudicial effect to [the stun
belt’s]use.” (10RT 1816.)'*° Accordingly the judge did not conduct “the usual
balancing process” required for traditional restraints and ruled that the stun
belt should be used provided that it would not be “obvious” to the jury. (10 RT
1817.)'°® The judge also stated that he would instruct the bailiff that the belt
is not to be activated unless there is “something serious” or “some kind of
emergency going on.” (10 RT 1816.)'""” The judge then ordered that appellant
must wear the stun belt in court whenever the jury were present. (2 SCT 318.)

6. Renewed Defense Objection

After suspension of the proceedings for a pretrial writ, the defense
renewed its objection to the stun belt “because of the potential discharge either
by accident or by people in control of that system.” (27 RT 5211.) Defense
counsel also objected because “there are less invasive ways to do it. . . .” (17
RT 5212.) The judge summarily overruled the renewed objection stating that
he considered the stun belt to be “a perfect security device.” (27 RT 5211-12.)

7. Appellant Wore The Stun Belt During The Trial

Appellant was required to wear the REACT stun belt system during all

1% The judge also concluded that the stun belt would “serve as a benefit [to
appellant] . .. in the sense that it will dissuade the defendant from any thoughts
of taking actions that might jeopardize his own position with respect to the
jury.” (RT 1816:11-16.)

1% The judge added the caveat that: “If it appears that we can’t put the system
on without having it be obvious, then at least that issue is raised aﬁd we'll have
to deal with it. But my understanding is that we can clothe this man so that
that belt is not apparent.” (RT 1817:5-11.) Defense counsel responded “...I"d
like to be able to raise it again if that becomes a problem. . ..” (RT 1817:12-
13.)

17 The giving of any such instruction is not in the record.
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proceedings at which the jurors were present, including the jury selection, the
guilt trial and the penalty trial. (2 SCT 318.)'%®
C. The Law: Duran Applies To Stun Belts

In People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th 1201 this Court held that “before
the compelled use of . . . a stun belt can be justified for security purposes, the
general standard and procedural requirements set forth in Duran'® must be
met.” (Id. at 1219-20.) Accordingly, before a defendant may be compelled to
wear a stun belt the judge must find (Prong 1) “a manifest need for such
restraint” and (Prong 2) that the stun belt is the least “onerous” or “restrictive”
restraint available to provide the needed restraint. (People v. Mar, supra, 28
Cal.4th at 1226-28; People v. Duran, supra, 16 Cal.3d at 291.)""°
D. Appellant’s Judge Abused His Discretion By Failing To Make The

Required Duran Findings

1. There Was No Finding Of “Manifest Need”

The judge had a “serious concern as to the viability of having
[appellant] completely unrestrained in the courtroom.” (10 RT 1816.)
However, the judge expressly failed to conduct the “usual balancing” of that
concern with the risks to appellant’s due process rights as required by Duran.
(10 RT 1816-17.) This was an abuse of discretion because the judge never

made a finding of “manifest need” to restrain appellant with the stun belt. (See

1% Appellant did not to testify at trial based on what counsel described as a
“tactical” decision. (RT12801-02.)

' People v. Duran (1976) 16 Cal.3d 282.

1% See also U.S. v. Durham (11th Cir. 2002) 287 F.3d 1297, 1304, 1308;
Gonzalez v. Pliler (9th Cir. 2003) 341 F.3d 897,; Hamilton v. Vasquez (9th Cir.
1994) 17 F.3d 1149; Hymon v. State (Nev. 2005) 111 P.3d 1092, 1099; Rae v.
State (Alaska 1994) 884 P.2d 163, 165-66.
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People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th 1201; see also Gonzalez v. Pliler (9th Cir.
2003) 341 F.3d 897.

2. The Judge Erroneously Failed To Consider The Psychological
Impact Of The Stun Belt On Appellant

Notwithstanding substantial record evidence regarding the adverse
psychological impact of the stun belt on appellant, the judge erroneously
assumed that the stun belt was not an onerous or restrictive restraint so long as
the jury could not see it. (10 RT 1815-17.) Hence, the judge focused only on
the visibility of the device and completely failed to consider the psychological
impact of the stun belt from the defendant’s perspective. This was an abuse
of discretion because the judge must “take into consideration1 the potential
adverse psychological consequences that may accompany the compelled use
of a stun belt and give considerable weight to the defendant’s perspective in
determining whether traditional security measures — such as chains or leg
braces — or instead a stun belt constitutes the less intrusive or restrictive
alternative for purposes of the Duran standard.” (People v. Mar, supra, 28
Cal.4th at 1228; see also id. at 1222; cf., People v. O’Dell (2005) 126
Cal.App.4th 562 [failure to consider the facts and special circumstances of the
defendant’s case provided insufficient evidence to support involuntary
medication of the defendant].)

3. The Judge Abused His Discretion By Failing To Consider Less
Invasive Ways To Restrain Appellant And Make An On The
Record Determination That Less Onerous Restraints Would Not
Be Effective

Because the judge concluded that the stun belt was presumptively less
invasive than other forms of restraint and was “a perfect security device” (27

RT5211-12),henever considered less invasive means of restraining appellant.
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This was an abuse of discretion because “any presumption that the use of a
stun belt is always, or even generally, less onerous or less restrictive than the
use of more traditional security measures is unwarranted.” (People v. Mar,
supra, 28 Cal.4th at 1228.)'"!

Moreover, to properly exercise his discretion under Duran, the judge
was obligated to require an on-the-record showing that the stun belt was the
least onerous or restrictive means available to restrain appellant under the
circumstances. (See generally People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th at 1222.) “[I]t
is the function of the court, not the prosecutor, to initiate whatever procedures
the court deems sufficient in order that it might make a due process
determination of record that restraints are necessary.” (People v. Duran,
supra, 16 Cal.3d at 293, fn. 12.) Hence, it was the trial court’s responsibility
to assure that the record included substantial evidence to support its order
authorizing use of a stun belt.

In the present case, there was no record evidence which established that
the stun belt was the least onerous or restrictive way to restrain appellant. To
the contrary the sheriff’s memo acknowledged that appellant could be
effectively restrained by handcuffs and/or leg irons. (3 SCT 823.)

Accordingly, the judge’s failure to consider less invasive means of
restraint and to make an adequate record in support of his stun belt order was

an abuse of discretion.

"1 “[A]lthough the use of a stun belt may diminish the likelihood that the jury
will be aware that the defendant is under special restraint, it is by no means
clear that the use of a stun belt upon any particular defendant will, as a general
matter, be less debilitating or detrimental to the defendant’s ability fully to
participate in his or her defense than would be the use of more traditional
devices such as shackles or chains.” (People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th at
1226.)
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4. The Judge Erroneously Relied On His Belief That The Stun Belt
Would “Benefit” Appellant

The fact that a trial judge believes in good faith that wearing a stun belt
is in the defendant’s best interests does not satisfy the requirements of Duran.
(See People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th at 1223.) Accordingly, appellant’s
judge abused his discretion by relying on his belief that wearing the belt was
in appellant’s best interest. (10 RT 1816.)

5. Even If Compelled Stun Belt Use Had Been Justified, There
Was No Showing Or Finding That The Design Of The Belt
Used On Appellant Was Necessary To Restrain Him

“[A] trial court’s assessment of whether the stun belt proposed for use
in a particular case is the least restrictive device that will serve the court’s
security interest must include a careful evaluation of [the belt’s] design. ...”
(People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th 1229-30.) For example, consideration
should be given to whether “a 50,000 volt shock lasting 8-10 seconds, that
cannotbe lowered in voltage or shortened in duration — is necessary to achieve
the court’s legitimate security objectives, or whether instead a different design,
perhaps delivering a much lower initial shock and equipped with an automatic
cutoff switch, is feasible and would provide adequate protection.” (ld. At
1229-30.)

In the present case the judge failed to conduct any such evaluation and,
therefore, the stun belt order was an abuse of discretion.

6. The Justification For Restraining Appellant Was Predicated On
Hearsay

Even if the judge had made the required Duran findings (but see,
above), such a finding would not have been supported by substantial evidence

because the only “evidence” in the record consists of pure hearsay which was
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never offered into evidence. “The court’s decision to physically restrain a
defendant cannot be based on rumor and innuendo. [Citation.].” (People v.
Lewis (2006) 39 Cal.4th 970, 1032.)

The incident reports which the bailiff provided in the package seeking
to justify use of the stun belt were pure hearsay and the defense objected to
them on that basis. (10 RT 1813.) Morever, the incident reports were never
formally offered or admitted into evidence. For these reasons, they can not be
relied by the reviewing court as evidentiary support for the judge’s decision
to require appellant to wear the stun belt. (See People v. Mar, supra, 28 C4th
at 1221 [“. .. when the imposition of restraints is to be based upon conduct of
the defendant that occurred outside the presence of the court, sufficient
evidence of that conduct must be presented on the record . . .”] [Italics
added].)

Furthermore, an order based on hearsay is not supported by substantial
evidence, particularly where, as here, the affected party objects on that basis.
(See e.g., Daniels v. Dep’t of Motor Vehicles (1983) 33 Cal.3d 532, 536-539;
Walker v. City of San Gabriel (1942) 20 Cal.2d 779, 781; San Dieguito Union
High School Dist. v. Comm. on Prof’l Competence (1985) 174 Cal.App.3d
1176, 1179.)

E. The Error Violated State Law And Appellant’s Federal

Constitutional Rights

The judge’s erroneous stun belt order abridged appellant’s state and
federal constitutional rights to due process, fair trial by jury, personal presence
during trial, confrontation, compulsory process, personal presence at trial,

assistance of counsel and against self incrimination. (Cal. Const. Article I,
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sections 7, 15, 16 and 17; U.S. Const. 5th, 6th, 8th and 14th Amendments.)'"
These rights were abridged due to the strong possibility that the stun belt
impaired appellant’s ability to defend himself in several ways.'"’

First, the stun belt effectively denied appellant’s right to be personally
present at his trial. This in turn impaired appellant’s ability to effectively
participate in his defense, to confront the witnesses against him, to respond and
react to the evidence and to consult with counsel. The Supreme Court and the
Ninth Circuit have consistently held that due process (14th Amendment) and
confrontation (6th Amendment) principles guarantee a criminal defendant’s
right to be present “at every stage of his trial where his absence might frustrate
the fairness of the proceedings.” (U.S. v. Gagnon (1985) 470 U.S. 522, 526-
27; Illinois v. Allen (1970) 397 U.S. 337, 338; Snyder v. Mass. (1934) 291 U.S.
97, 105-06; Sturgis v. Goldsmith (9th Cir. 1986) 796 F.2d 1103, 1108; U.S. v.
Frazin (9th Cir. 1986) 780 F.2d 1461, 1469; Badger v. Cardwell (9th Cir.
1978) 587 F.2d 968, 970; Bustamante v. Eyeman (9th Cir. 1972) 456 F.2d 269,
273.)

It is true that appellant was physically present in the courtroom.
However, “[p]resence at trial is meaningless if the defendant is unable to
follow proceedings or participate in his own defense. Mandatory use of a stun
belt implicates this right, because despite the defendant’s physical presence in

the courtroom, fear of discharge may eviscerate the defendant’s ability to take

2 The parties agreed that the defense did not have to specify federal
constitutional grounds to preserve them for appeal. (27 RT 5204;4 CT 877-
78.)

'3 The appellant’s Sixth and Eighth Amendment rights as referenced herein,
were violated by the state through the Fourteenth Amendment. (See Duncan
v. Louisiana (1968) 391 U.S. 145.)
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an active role in his own defense.” (United States v. Durham (11th Cir. 2002)
287 F.3rd 1297, 1306, n. 7.)

“Wearing a stun belt is a considerable impediment to a
defendant’s ability to follow the proceedings and take an active
interest in the presentation of his case. It is reasonable to assume
that much of a defendant’s focus and attention when wearing
one of these devices is occupied by anxiety over the possible
triggering of the belt. A defendant is likely to concentrate on
doing everything he can to prevent the belt from being activated,
and is thus less likely to participate fully in his defense at trial.
We have noted that the presence of shackles may “significantly
affect the trial strategy [the defendant] chooses to follow.”
[Citation.] A stun belt is far more likely to have an impacton a
defendant’s trial strategy than are shackles, as a belt may
interfere with the defendant’s ability to direct his own defense.”
(Id., at 1306.)

Second, the stun belt also abridged appellant’s state (Article I, section
15) and federal (6th Amendment and 14th Amendments) constitutional right
to counsel. “The fear of receiving a painful and humiliating shock for any
gesture that could be perceived as threatening likely chills a defendant’s
inclination to make any movements during trial-including those movements
necessary for effective communication with counsel.” (Durham, supra, 287
F.3d at 1305; see also Hymon v. State (2005) 111 P.3d 1092, 1098.)
“[R]equiring an unwilling defendant to wear a stun belt during trial may have
significant psychological consequences that may . . . interfere with the
defendant’s ability to assist his or her counsel. ...” (People v. Mar, supra, 28
Cal.4th at 1205; see also Riggins v. Nevada (1992) 504 U.S. 127, 137 [side
effects of forced medication during trial may have impacted “the substance of
[defendant’s] communication with counsel].)

Third, the stun belt abridged appellant’s state (Article I, section 7 and

15) and federal (5th, 6th and 14th Amendments) constitutional rights against
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self incrimination, to due process, to trial by jury and to confront the witnesses
against him by adversely affecting appellant’s demeanor in the courtroom. As
this Court observed in Mar, “The psychological effect of wearing a device that
at any moment can be activated remotely by a law enforcement officer
(intentionally or unintentionally) . . . in many instances may impair the
defendant’s ability to . . . maintain a positive demeanor before the jury.”
(People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th at 1226; see also Gonzalez v. Pliler, supra,
341 F.3d 897, 900 [stun belt “chills” the defendants inclination to make “any
movements” during trial]; U.S. v. Durham, supra, 287 F.3d at 1305 [same].)

And, even though appellant did not testify, his in-court dLemeanor was
important because it is a reality that the jurors will observe and consider the
demeanor of a non-testifying defendant during trial. (See e.g., People v.
Gonzalez (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1179, 1226, fn. 26; People v. Heishman (1988) 45
Cal.3d 147, 197; see also Riggins v. Nevada, supra, 504 U.S. 127 [impact of
compelled use of anti-psychotic drugs on, inter alia, the defendant’s
“courtroom appearance” impaired his constitutional rights].)

“It is a fundamental assumption of the adversary system
that the trier of fact observes the accused throughout the trial,
while the accused is either on the stand or sitting at the defense
table. This assumption derives from the right to be present at
trial, which in turn derives from the right to testify and rights
under the Confrontation Clause. [Citation.]. At all stages of the
proceedings, the defendant’s behavior, manner, facial
expressions, and emotional responses, or their absence, combine
to make an overall impression on the trier of fact, an impression
that can have a powerful influence on the outcome of the trial.”
(Riggins v. Nevada, supra, 504 U.S. at 142, Kennedy, J.,,
concurring .)

Furthermore, altering appellant’s demeanor also impaired his ability to

exercise his Sixth Amendment confrontation rights. (/d., citing Coy v. Iowa
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(1988) 487 U.S. 1012, 1016-20 [emphasizing the importance of face-to-face
encounter between accused and accuser].)

Also, the error abridged the Cruel and Unusual Punishment Clauses of
the 8th Amendment because the jurors’ consideration of demeanor is
especially crucial in a capital case:

“As any trial attorney will attest, serious prejudice could
resultif medication inhibits the defendant’s capacity to react and
respond to the proceedings and to demonstrate remorse or
compassion. The prejudice can be acute during the sentencing
phase of the proceedings, when the sentencer must attempt to
know the heart and mind of the offender and judge his character,
his contrition or its absence, and his future dangerousness. In a
capital sentencing proceeding, assessments of character and
remorse may carry great weight and, perhaps, be determinative
of whether the offender lives or dies. [Citation.]” (Riggins v.
Nevada, 504 U.S. at 143-44, Kennedy, J., concurring.)

Thus, by impairing appellant’s ability to maintain a positive demeanor
during trial the error undermined appellant 8th Amendmentright to a fair, non-
arbitrary and reliable determination of guilt and penalty. (See Beckv. Alabama
(1980) 447 U.S. 625, 637-38; Kyles v. Whitley (1995) 514 U.S. 419, 422;
Gilmore v. Taylor (1993) 508 U.S. 333, 342; Maynard v. Cartwright (1988)
486 U.S.356,363-363; Burger v. Kemp (1987) 483 U.S. 776, 785; Godfrey v.
Georgia (1980) 446 U.S. 420, 428-429; White v. Illinois (1992) 502 U.S. 346,
363-64 [reliability required by due process]; Donnelly v. DeChristoforo (1974)
416 U.S. 637, 646 [same].)

Additionally, pursuant to well established California law “the trial court

has both the duty and the discretion to control the conduct of the trial.
[Citations.]” (People v. Harris (2005) 37 Cal.4th 310, 346; Penal Code §1044;
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see also § 1093(f) [power to instruct jury]; § 1127 [same].)''* The judge’s
erroneous excusals arbitrarily violated the above state law rules as well as the
substantive California Constitutional and statutory rights ideqtified in this
claim. These violations of appellant’s state created rights abridged the Due
Process Clause (14th Amendment) of the United States Constitution. (Hicks
v. Oklahoma (1980) 447 U.S. 343, 346; see also People v. Sutton (1993) 19
Cal.App.4th 795, 804; Hernandez v. Yist (9th Cir. 1991) 930 F.2d 714, 716.)

In sum, the stun belt violated appellant’s state and federal constitutional
rights by “confus[ing] and embarrass[ing] his mental faculties, and thereby
materially . . .abridg[ing] and prejudicially affect[ing] his constitutional rights
of defense . . ..]” (People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th at 1219, internal citations
and quote marks omitted.)

F. The Judgement Should Be Reversed

1. Appellant Should Not Be Required To Demonstrate Prejudice

In People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th 1201,1225, n. 7, this Court
recognized that the “potential adverse psychological effect of the [stun belt]
upon the defendant” might call for application of a “more rigorous prejudicial
error test” than the Watson'”” standard. While the particular circumstances
present in Mar allowed the Court to apply the Watson “reasonable probability”

standard to find reversible error, the Court did not foreclose use of the federal

4 Thus, under California law “it is the duty of the trial judge to see that a case
is not defeated by ‘mere inadvertence.’ [Citation].” (People v. St. Andrew
(1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 450, 457; see also People v. Jones (1979) 95
Cal.App.3d 403, 407; People v. Carlucci (1979) 23 Cal.3d 249, 256 [judge
must determine “where justice lies . . .”]; People v. Ponce (1996) 44
Cal.App.4th 1380, 1387 [judge has “the responsibility for safe guarding . . . the
rights of the accused . . .”].)

'3 people v. Watson (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818.
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standard in future stun belt cases. The Court noted that none of the Court of
Appeal decisions''® applying the Watson standard “involved the improper use
of a stun belt, where the greatest danger of prejudice arises from the potential
adverse psychological effect of the device upon the defendant rather than from
the visibility of the device to the jury.” (Id. at p. 1225, fn. 7.) The Mar Court
further noted that a case in which such an improper use of a stun belt was
considered, United States v. Durham, supra, 287 F.3d 1297, the Eleventh
Circuit court found the error to be of federal constitutional dimension requiring
reversal unless the State proved the error was harmless beyond a reasonable
doubt. (People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th at 1225, fn.7.)

In Durham the court concluded that the trial court abused its discretion
in ordering the defendant to wear a stun belt. As aresult, several of Durham’s
fundamental rights were unjustly burdened. (United States v. Durham, supra,
287 F.3d at 1308) The court focused on the violation of appellant’s right to be
present at trial and to participate in his own defense stating, “Once a violation
of this right has been established, ‘[the defendant’s] conviction is
unconstitutionally tainted and reversal is required unless the State proves the

error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.’[Citation].”)""” It was also

16 People v. Jackson (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 1818, 1827-1830; cf. People v.
Tuilaepa (1992) 4 Cal.4th 569, 583-584

"7 In finding the error was not harmless in Durham, the court stated that “it is
not sufficient for the government to point out that the defendant was
represented by an attorney looking out for his interests, thus rendering the
defendant’s presence or participation at trial unnecessary. Such a claim
‘ignores the fact that a client’s active assistance at trial may be key to an
attorney’s effective representation of his interests.’ [Citation.].” (United States

v. Durham, supra, 287 F.3d 1297, 1308-1309.)
Moreover, “[i]n the [defendant’s] absence there can be no trial. The
(continued...)
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insufficient “for the government to argue that the defendant cannot name any
outcome-determinative issues or arguments that would have been raised had
he been able to participate at trial.” (Id. atp. 1309.) According to the Durham
court, “such an argument impermissibly transfer[s] the burden of proof back
to the defendant, but it also would eviscerate the right in all cases where there
is strong proof of guilt. Id. ‘The right to be present at one’s own trial is not that
weak.’ [Citation.]” (Ibid; see also (Wrinkles v. State (Ind. 2001) 749 N.E.2d
1179, 1194 [“A defendant’s ability to participate in his own defense is one of
the cornerstones of our judicial system.”].)

Durham’s approach is consistent with the analysis of prejudice the
United States Supreme Court used in Riggins v. Nevada, supra, 504 U.S. 127
which involved the involuntary medication of a criminal defendant and raised
“some of the same concerns” as compelled stun belt use. (People v. Mar at
1228.) In Riggins it was “clearly possible that [the involuntary medication]
had an impact upon . . . Riggins’ outward appearance, . .. the content of his
testimony on direct or cross examination, his ability to follow the proceedings,
or the substance of his communication with counsel.” (Riggins v. Nevada,

supra, 504 U.S. at 137.) Accordingly, the Supreme Court concluded that

7(...continued)

law provides for his presence. And every step taken in his absence is void and
vitiates the whole proceeding. On this point all authorities agree. And no
question can be raised, as to the extent of the injury done to the prisoner, or
whether any injury resulted from his not being present. [Citation.] . . . In the
face of so grave an error as that committed by the trial court in this case, the
appellate court should not stop to weigh probabilities, or try to discover from
the record whether it was prejudicial to the accused, but must assume that the
error amounted to such an invasion of appellant’s constitutional rights as to
deprive him of a fair and impartial trial. [Citation.]” (People v. Kohler (1855)
5 Cal. 72; see also Campbell v. Rice (9th Cir. 2005) 302 F.3d 892; Hegler v.
Borg (9th Cir. 1995) 50 F.3d 1472.)
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“[e]fforts to prove or disprove actual prejudice from the record before us
would be futile, and guesses whether the outcome of the trial might have been
different if Riggins’ motion had been granted would be purely speculative.”
(Ibid.) The high court, therefore, rejected the dissent’s suggestion that Riggins
should be required to demonstrate how the trial would have proceeded
differently if he had not been medicated. (/bid.) Instead, because there was “a
strong possibility that Riggins’ defense was impaired” the court held the error
to be prejudicial because the record failed to establish that Riggins’ defense
was not impaired. (/bid.)

Similarly in Deck v. Missouri (2005) 544 U.S. 622, 635 the high court
reiterated that the defendant “need not demonstrate actual prejudice” from a
practice which “often [has] negative effects”— such as compelling the
defendant to wear jail clothing, to stand trial while medicated or to wear

[ 131

visible shackles — because such negative effects “ ‘cannot be shown from a
trial transcript.’[Citation to Riggins at 137].”

Under the reasoning of Durham, Riggins and Deck, appellant should not
be required to demonstrate actual prejudice from the stun belt. In Mar this
Court thoroughly discussed the negative effects of compelling a criminal
defendant to wear a stun belt which are no less insidious and prejudicial than
those that stem from the practices condemned in Riggins and Deck. For
example the compelled medication in Riggins risked impairment of the
defendants courtroom demeanor and ability to respond to the evidence in a
similar way as did the stun belt in appellant’s case. Furthermore, while a stun
belt worn under the clothing may have less impact on the jury than did the

visible shackling or trial in jail clothes referred at issue in Deck, the potential

impact of the stun belt on the defendant’s ability to defend is substantially

greater than shackling because the stun belt affects the defendant’s ability to
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follow the proceedings, participate in the trial and to maintain a positive
demeanor before the jury. (See § E, above, pp. 119-24, incorporated herein
[describing adverse impact of stun belt on defendant’s ability to defend].)

Furthermore, the presentrecord demonstrates a “strong possibility” that
the stun belt had a significant psychological impact on appellant during his
jury trial.

First, the very design of the belt — 50,000 volts for 8-10 seconds — was
ominous and intimidating. The documents in the record reveal the
manufacturer’s intent to use “mind domination” and “psychological power” for
the purpose of imposing “total psychological supremacy” over the defendant.
(3 SCT 838.) Thus, the stun belt didn’t just restrain appellant, it subjected him
to “mental anguish” which “cannot be understated.” (Gonzalez v. Pliler,
supra, 341 F.3d 897, 900; see also Wrinkles v. State, supra, 749 N.E.2d at
1195 [[other forms of] restraint would serve the same purposes without
“inflicting the mental anguish that results from simply wearing the stun belt
1)

Second, appellant was justifiably afraid of accidental discharge. The
stun belt documentation established that over 42% of the known belt
activations were accidental. (3 SCT 836.) This abysmal track record made
wearing the stun belt like playing Russian Roulette with 50,000 volts.

Third, in light of the fact that appellant was accused of assaulting a
sheriff’s deputy — and that the activation of the stun belt was to be controlled
by another sheriff’s deputy — appellant’s expressed anxiety about unnecessary
activation of the belt was “plausible.” (See People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th
at 1223.)

Fourth, appellant’s fear that the deputy who controlled the belt might

misinterpret his movements was also plausible. The notice form given
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appellant informed him that the belt could be activated in response to a “quick
movement,” the failure to “comply with a verbal command” or “loss of vision
of [appellant’s] hands by the custodial officer.” (3 SCT 849; Court Exhibit 1,
p. 15.) To comply with this notice form appellant was required to “multi-task”
throughout the trial. He could not focus his entire attention on the testimony,
exhibits or his attorney because he also had to be ever vigilant to avoid “quick”
movements, keep his hands in view of the officer and immediately comply
with any verbal command of the officer. (See Gonzalez v. Pliler, supra, 341
F.3d 897,900 [“‘The fear of receiving a painful and humiliating shock for any
gesture that could be perceived as threatening likely’ hinders a defendant’s
participation in defense of the case, ‘chilling [that] defendant's inclination to
make any movements during trial — including those movements necessary for
effective communication with counsel.’ [Citation]”.)

Fifth, the distraction caused by the stun belt in the present case was
heightened by the fact that appellant did not speak or understand English and
had to listen to an interpreter through head phones. (See 59 RT 11671;11686;
2 SCT 303-05.)

Given the above circumstances, there is a “strong possibility” that the
stun belt psychologically affected appellant and impaired his ability to defend

himself at trial. ''®

'""* The judge’s instruction to the bailiff that the stun belt should not be
activated unless there is “some kind of emergency going on” (10 RT 1815-16)
did not lessen the psychological impact of the belt on appellant. Such an
instruction did nothing to allay appellant’s “mental anguish” because the 42%
chance of accidental discharge was still present. Moreover, it was still within
the discretion of the stun belt operator to decide what movements or conduct
by appellant constituted an “emergency going on” or something “really
serious.” (10 RT 1816; People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th at 1223 [the fact that

(continued...)
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Accordingly, appellant should not be required to demonstrate actual
prejudice from the erroneous order requiring him to wear a stun belt. Instead,
the “State must prove ‘beyond a reasonable doubt that the [stun belt] error
complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.” [Citation to
Chapman at 24).” (Deck v. Missouri, supra, 544 U.S. at 635.)

2. The Record Fails To Demonstrate Beyond A Reasonable Doubt
That The Error Was Harmless At The Guilt Trial

As discussed above, under the applicable federal standard appellant
does not need to show actual prejudice from the stun belt. Instead, the
prosecution must demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not
contribute to the verdict. The prosecution cannot meet this burden for several
reasons.

First, the trial was not one-sided in favor of the prosecution. (See
People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th at 1224; cf., Simmons v. South Carolina
(1994) 512 U.S. 154, 269 [shackling reversible where case was not “open and
shut”].) In fact, the jurors could not agree on two of the prosecution’s key
allegations: (1) That appellant conspired with intent to commit murder and (2)
thatappellant used a handgun. Moreover, the primary witness against appellant
—accomplice Jose Luis Ramirez — was extensively discredited. (See Claim 10
§ B(2)(a), pp.141-46, incorporated herein.) And the jurors also unanimously
rejected the prosecution’s allegation that appellant used a knife. (See
Statement Of Case § C, pp.11-12, incorporated herein.)

Second, it was especially important for appellant to be able to

concentrate on the testimony because appellant — who was present during the

"18(..continued)

appellant was accused of assaulting a deputy sheriff made it “plausible” that
appellant would fear unnecessary activation of the belt].)
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events described by many of the witness — was uniquely capable of identifying
inconsistencies in the testimony. In particular, it was essential for appellant to
be able to fully focus on the testimony of Jose Luis Ramirez. Any
inconsistencies or misstatements which appellant could identify in his
testimony would have been important because the defense strategy was to
impeach Jose Luis Ramirez’ credibility on this basis.

Third, the stun belt adversely affected appellant’s ability to “maintain
a positive demeanor before the jury.” (People v. Mar, supra, 28 Cal.4th at
1226; Gonzalez v. Pliler, supra, 341 F.3d at 900; U.S. v. Durham, supra, 287
F.3rd at 1305.) And, because the jurors had to choose between believing the
accomplice-witness Jose Luis Ramirez and appellant — who denied intending
to rob and murder in his video statement — any adverse impact on appellant’s
demeanor in court was crucial.

This is so even though appellant didn’t testify. It is a reality that the
jurors will observe and consider the defendant’s demeanor during trial even if
the defendant does not testify. (See e.g., People v. Gonzalez (1990) 51 Cal.3d
1179, 1226, fn. 26; People v. Heishman (1988) 45 Cal.3d 147, 197; see also
Riggins v. Nevada, supra, 504 U.S. 127 [impact of compelled use of anti-
psychotic drugs on, inter alia, the defendant’s “courtroom appearance”
impaired his constitutional rights].)

“It is a fundamental assumption of the adversary system
that the trier of fact observes the accused throughout the trial,
while the accused is either on the stand or sitting at the defense
table. This assumption derives from the right to be present at
trial, which in turn derives from the right to testify and rights
under the Confrontation Clause. [Citation.]. At all stages of the
proceedings, the defendant’s behavior, manner, facial
expressions, and emotional responses, or their absence, combine
to make an overall impression on the trier of fact, an impression
that can have a powerful influence on the outcome of the trial.
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If the defendant takes the stand, as Riggins did, his demeanor
can have a great bearing on his credibility and persuasiveness,
and on the degree to which he evokes sympathy.” (Riggins v.
Nevada, supra, 504 U.S. at 142, Kennedy, J., concurring .)

In other words, “the defendant’s behavior, manner, facial expressions,
and emotional responses, or their absence, combine to make an overall
impression on the trier of fact, an impression that can have a powerful
influence on the outcome of the trial.” (/d. at 142.)'"°

Fourth, altering the appellant’s demeanor also impaired his ability to
exercise his Sixth Amendment confrontation rights. (/d., citing Coy v. Iowa
(1988) 487 U.S. 1012, 1016-20 [emphasizing the importance of face-to-face
encounter between accused and accuser].) Because appellant was required to
divide his attention between the stun belt operator and the testimony,
appellant’s ability to confront the witnesses was impaired.

In sum, the prosecution cannot meet its burden of demonstrating beyond

a reasonable doubt that the stun belt error was harmless at the guilt trial.

3. The Record Fails To Demonstrate Beyond A Reasonable Doubt
That The Error Was Harmless At The Penalty Trial

The stun belt error cannot be shown to be harmless at the penalty trial
for several reasons.

First, as discussed above, it is reasonably probable that the stun belt
affected the guilt trial. However, even if the outcome of the guilt trial would
not have changed, if any single juror’s view of appellant was adversely
affected at the guilt trial that juror’s penalty decision could have been affected.

This is so because the sentencing decision is based on both the guilt and

3 . &6

"% The judge concluded that appellant’s “passive” demeanor during trial was
amitigating factor. (72 RT 14216.) However, the jurors could have concluded
that it showed lack of remorse. (See § F(3), pp. 132-34, below.)
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penalty trial evidence.

Second, the stun belt also adversely affected appellant’s ability to
“maintain a positive demeanor before the jury.” (People v. Mar, supra, 28
Cal.4th at 1226.) As particularly relevant to the penalty trial, the belt likely
impaired appellant’s ability to “react and respond to the proceedings and to
demonstrate remorse or compassion.” (See Riggins v. Nevada, supra, 504 U.S.
at 143-44, Kennedy, J., concurring.) “The prejudice can be acute during the
sentencing phase of the proceedings, when the sentencer must attempt to know
the heart and mind of the offender and judge his character, his contrition or its
absence, and his future dangerousness. In a capital sentencing proceeding,
assessments of character and remorse may carry great weight and, perhaps, be
determinative of whether the offender lives or dies. [Citation.]” (Ibid.) Hence,
any impact the stun belt may have had on appellant’s demeanor was critical.

For example, the judge described appellant’s demeanor during the trial
as “passive.” (72 RT 14216.) While the judge concluded that passiveness is
mitigating, the jurors could well have considered passiveness in the face of the
emotional penalty evidence to indicate coldness or lack of remorse. (Seee.g.,
Atkins v. Virginia (2002) 536 U.S.304,320-21 [demeanor of mentally retarded
defendant “may create an unwarranted impression of lack of remorse for their
crimes”]; People v. Adcox (1988) 47 Cal.3d 207, 258 [ prosecutor argued that
defendant’s cold demeanor showed absence of remorse] People v. Williams
(1988) 44 Cal.3d 883, 971-72 [trial judge may cite defendant’s “calm” trial
demeanor as weighing against modification of death judgment]; Theodore
Eisenberg, Stephen P. Garvey, Martin T. Wells, “But Was He Sorry? The Role
of Remorse in Capital Sentencing,” 83 Cornell L. Rev. 1599 (Sept. 1998) [The
defendant’s demeanor during trial also influences jurors’ beliefs about

remorse]; Scott Sundby, The Jury and Absolution: Trial Tactics, Remorse and
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the Death Penalty, 83 Cornell Law Review 1557 (1998) [The primary source
of the juror’s perceptions concerning the defendant’s remorse . . . appeared to
be the defendant’s demeanor and behavior during trial. What repeatedly struck
jurors was how unemotional the defendants were during the trial, even as
horrific depictions of what they had done were introduced into evidence].)

Jurors’ perceptions concerning the defendant’s remorse, or lack thereof,
are primarily molded by the defendant’s demeanor during trial. (Scott Sundby,
The Jury and Absolution: Trial Tactics, Remorse and the Death Penalty, 83
Cornell Law Review 1557 (1998).) Thus, it can be especially prejudicial to
the defense for the defendant to remain passive while horrific desc}iptions of
the crime are put in evidence. (/bid.)

Moreover, in the present case appellant’s character was a key disputed
issue at the penalty trial. The defense presented evidence of appellant’s good
character including his kind and generous nature and his lack of any felony
convictions or a record of criminal violence. (See Penalty Phase: Statement
OfFacts § C(2)-(5), pp. 523-25, incorporated herein.) On the other hand, the
prosecutor contended that appellant had the character of a murderer and
specifically urged the jurors to “look into [appellant’s] eyes” in deciding
whether he deserved sympathy. (67 RT 13237.) Hence, any impact the stun
belt may have had on appellant’s demeanor was critical.

In sum, because the penalty trial was closely balanced (see Claim 59 §
G(2), pp. 550-51,[penalty trial was closely balanced] incorporated herein ),
there was a reasonable possibility that, but for the error, one or more jurors
would not have voted for death. (See Claim 59 § G(1) pp.548-50 [state and
federal standards for penalty phase error are equivalent], incorporated herein.)

4. The Error Was Cumulatively Prejudicial

Even if the error identified in this claim was not individually
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prejudicial, reversal of the guilt, special circumstance and penalty verdicts
would still be warranted. This is so because, when the error is considered
cumulatively with the additional errors the judge committed — including but
not limited to: failing to instruct on essential contested elements of the charges
(Claims 9-11); undermining appellant’s defense theories (Claim 12 and 16-21);
giving partisan instructions that favored the prosecution (Claim 22-26);
diluting and misstating the prosecution’s burden of proof (Claims 27-37);
allowing the jurors to make up their minds about penalty before the penalty
phase began (Claim 57); allowing the prosecutor to unduly emphasize certain
inflammatory matters by use of an “audio-video slingshot” during closing
argument at the penalty trial (Claim 58) — it is apparent that appellant’s trial
was fundamentally unfair, unreliable and in violation of state law and the
federal constitution. (U.S. Constitution, 8th and 14th Amendments, California
Constitution, Article 1, sections 7 & 15, Greer v. Miller (1987) 483 U.S. 756,
765; Marshall v. Walker (1983) 464 U.S. 951, 962; Beck v. Alabama (1980)
447 U.S. 625, 637-38; Taylor v. Kentucky (1978) 436 U.S. 478, 488; Donnelly
v. DeChristoforo (1974)416 U.S. 637, 642-45; Makv. Blodgett (9th Cir. 1992)
970 F.2d 614, 622; see also People v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 845.)
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CLAIMS 10-12: ERRORS WHICH WITHDREW CONTESTED
ELEMENTS OF THE ROBBERY AND ROBBERY-BASED CHARGES

CLAIM 10

THE JUDGE ERRONEOUSLY PERMITTED THE JURORS TO
CONVICT APPELLANT OF ROBBERY - AND THE ROBBERY
BASED CHARGES --WITHOUT FINDING THAT HE INTENDED TO
STEAL

A. Overview

Despite the number of counts and the multiplicity of prosecution
theories, the essential factual disputes in this case were straightforward.

The prosecution — based primarily on the testimony of accomplice
witness Jose Luis Ramirez — alleged that appellant joined with Antonio
Sanchez and Joaquin Nuifiez in a plan to enter the residence of Ramon Morales
for the purpose of murdering the occupants and stealing their property.
Appellant conceded that he went to the Morales residence with Sanchez and
Nufiez. However, appellant disputed Jose Luis Ramirez’ testimony that he
intended to murder and steal.

The jurors could rationally have concluded that intent to steal had not
been proved for several reasons.

First, the evidence that appellant intended to steal was weak because it
was based on the plea-bargained testimony of Jose Luis Ramirez, a lone
accomplice-witness whose veracity was so substantially discredited that the
jurors failed to find all three special allegations which depended solely or
primarily on belief of the accomplice’s testimony.

Second, appellant disputed the existence of intent to steal in his video

statement during which he denied any intent to take property belonging to the
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victims.'?°

Third, appellant’s disavowal of intent to steal was corroborated by the
fact that, even though the house was thoroughly searched, numerous items of
value were left behind such as three handguns, a Taser gun, five boxes of
ammunition, jewelry, a television set and $378 in cash. This suggested an
intent to recover specific items of property rather than a generalized intent to
steal anything of value.

Fourth, the only things that appellant and Antonio Sanchez took —
according to Jose Luis Ramirez — were two handguns. The other items were
taken by Jose Luis Ramirez including a necklace which he sold the next day
and a bottle of hair oil which was the brand that Jose Luis Ramirez used. This
further corroborated appellant’s contention that Jose Luis Ramirez was acting
on his own when he took those items from the residence.

Fifth, appellant did not know the victims and had nothing to do with the
disagreement between victim Ramon Morales and Antonio Sanchez, which
allegedly motivated the attack. In other words, as argued by defense counsel,
appellant had no “stake in this matter” and no motive to steal the victims’
property. (52 RT 10268.)

However, even if the jurors accepted the defense theory that appellant
did not intend to steal, they were still permitted—in fact required—to convict on
all counts. This is so because the instruction which defined robbery failed to

require an intent to permanently deprive the owner of the property taken.'?!

' The video statement was put into evidence by the prosecutor who contended
that: “It appears to be, by its content, accurate and complete.” (50 RT 9820.)

"2 The robbery instruction (CALJIC 9.40) only required that the property be
“taken with the specific intent to deprive [the possessor] of the property.” (53
(continued...)
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Thus, under the instruction given in appellant’s trial, even if appellant did not
intend to steal the victims’ property, he could still be convicted of robbery
based on his intent to help Antonio Sanchez take his own property.
Accordingly, because intent to steal is an essential element of robbery,
the robbery conviction should be reversed because a disputed element of the
offense — which the jurors could rationally have resolved against the
prosecution — was removed from the jurors’ consideration. “When, as here,
the federal constitutional error involves the trial court’s failure to instruct on

122 test when ‘the

a necessary element, reversal is required under the Chapman
defendant contested the omitted element and raised evidence sufficient to
support a contrary finding’ but the error is not prejudicial when it is clear
‘beyond a reasonable doubt that the omitted element was uncontested and
supported by overwhelming evidence.’” (People v. Huggins (2006) 38 Cal.4th
175, 259 [citing and quoting Neder v. U.S. (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 19]; see also
Peoplev. Davis (2005)36 Cal.4th 510, 564 [omission of a disputed evidentiary
issue is harmless only if there is no record evidence that could rationally lead
to a contrary finding with respect to that element]; People v. Sakarias (2000)
22 Cal.4th 596; People v. Jackson (2003) 109 Cal.App.4th 1625, 1635.)
Additionally, since the other verdicts (for murder, attempted murder,
assault and conspiracy) could also have been based on the defective robbery

instruction, they too should be reversed. (See Sandstrom v. Montana (1979)

442 U.S. 510, 526; People v. Perez (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1219, 1232-34; People

121( ..continued)

RT 10463-64;6CT 1307-08.) (Compare CALCRIM 1600 which corrected this
defect by requiring an intent to permanently “deprive the owner” of the
property taken.)

122 Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18.
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v. Swain (1996) 12 Cal.4th 593, 607.)
B. Evidence As To Whether Or Not Appellant Intended To Steal

1. Prosecution Evidence In Support Of Intent To Steal

The prosecution relied on the testimony of Jose Luis Ramirez to allege
that appellant knowingly and intentionally helped Antonio Sanchez “steal”
property belonging to the victims. Jose Luis Ramirez testified that while
appellant and Antonio Sanchez were talking in the car, Sanchez said they were
“going to go to [Ramon Morales’] house to rob him and to kill him.”'*® No

one said anything in return. (40 RT 7854.)'** Jose Luis Ramirez also testified

'23 The existence of some kind of disagreement between Antonio Sanchez and
Ramon Morales was suggested by the testimony of several witnesses and was
not contested by the defense. (See Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § B(2), p.
20, incorporated herein.) In his video statement, appellant acknowledged the
existence of a disagreement and that Ramon Morales had threatened to kill
Antonio Sanchez. (4 SCT 1035-39; Exhibit 85A.)

124 Q. (By MS. LOMBARDO) What did Antonio say about
Ramon Morales?

A. That we were going to go to his house to rob him and to
kill him.

Q. What did Daniel say about Ramon Morales?

A. I don’t remember.

Q. When Antonio said that “we were going to go to Ramon
Morales’s to rob him and kill him,” did anyone comment
in return?

A. Like what?

Q. Did anyone say anything?

A. No.

Q. Did anyone say, “Yes, that’s what we’ll do”?

A. No. No.

Q. Did anyone say, “No, I don’t want to go”?

A. No.

(continued...)
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that while parked in the car at the victims’ residence, before going inside,
Antonio Sanchez and appellant talked about going in to “get some drugs, steal
stuff and kill them.” (41 RT 8006.)"** Jose Luis Ramirez further testified that
once inside the house Antonio Sanchez said to “take whatever we could.” (41
RT 8020.)

Jose Luis Ramirez maintained that he was helping his uncle, Antonio

Sanchez, take Ramon Morales’ things because that’s what Antonio Sanchez

124(..continued)

Q. Did Daniel make any comments?

A. I don’t remember. (40 RT 7854:13-7855:7.)

123 Q. Did anyone talk about what would happen once they got
into the house?
A. You mean outside the house?
Q. Before you went into the house.
A. When we were parked, they were talking about it.
Q. What was the plan once the group of you got inside the
house?
A. That we were going to go in, get some drugs, steal stuff
and kill them.
Q. Kill who?
A. Whoever was inside.

Q. Who made the statement about killing whoever was in the
house?

A. Daniel and Antonio.

Q. Was there a reason that everyone inside the house was to
be killed?

A. Because they were going to be witnesses.

Q. They did not want to leave any witnesses?

A. No.

Q. Who made the statement that there should be no witnesses
left?

A. Antonio.
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wanted. (42 RT 8215.) Jose Luis Ramirez testified that he searched the house
looking for things to “steal” and that he made three trips from the house to the
car after taking items such as a VCR and stereo equipment. He also took a
necklace from the bed stand and a jar of “Tres Flores” [three flowers] hair
oil-which was the brand he used. (41 RT 8042; 8045-46; 44 RT 8633; 8649-
50; 8655-56.) Jose Luis Ramirez also took a .32 caliber handgun which
Antonio gave him shortly after they entered the residence. (41 RT 8022-23;
8238-39; 8042.)'*® Jose Luis Ramirez took the .32 handgun, the necklace and
the hair oil with him when he left. (See Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts §
D(4), p. 31, incorporated herein.)'?’

The property in the house was “tossed” around as if someone was
searching for something. (See Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § E(2), p. 36,
incorporated herein.) Appellant’s fingerprints were found on two boxes of
ammunition and a box of “Huggies” in the bedroom of the residence. (See
Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts § E(6), p.38.) Jose Luis Ramirez’ fingerprints
were found on a cash/tackle box in the bedroom. (/bid.)

2. Evidence From Which The Jurors Could Have Been Left With
A Reasonable Doubt That Appellant Intended To Steal

a. The Jurors Could Have Disbelieved Jose Luis Ramirez’
Testimony
Because the prosecution’s intent-to-steal theory was based primarily on
the testimony of Jose Luis Ramirez, any evidence which challenged the

credibility of Ramirez logically provided the jurors with a rational basis to

126 He did not see where Antonio Sanchez got the handgun from inside the
house. (42 RT 8238.)

7 However, to Jose Luis Ramirez’ knowledge, appellant did not take

anything from the house. (42 RT 8215.)
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doubt that the prosecution had proved appellant intended to steal. (See e.g.,
Peoplev. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 831 [jurors may be left with a reasonable
doubt if they are “simply not persuaded by the prosecution evidence”]; People
v. Hammon (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1117, 1129 [jurors may reject testimony based
on the “vulnerable status” of the prosecution witness; see also Burr v. Sullivan
(9th Cir. 1988) 618 F.2d 583, 586.)

The following record evidence was relevant to the credibility and
believability of Jose Luis Ramirez:

— Advantageous Plea Bargain. In exchange for testifying against

appellant Jose Luis Ramirez was allowed to plead guilty to three counts of
robbery and one count of burglary. He received a sentence of 11 years, 8
months. (40 RT 7802-04; 7813-14; 42 RT 8233-8238.) If Ramirez had not
testified he would have received a life sentence. (42 RT 8238; Exhibit 52.)

— Admission Of Untruthfulness: Deliberate Lie About Seeing Through

The Window. Jose Luis Ramirez admitted under oath that he “was lying”
about being able to see appellant with a gun through the window of the
residence. (42 RT 8217-18.)"*

— Jose Luis Ramirez Was Intoxicated. Jose Luis Ramirez told a

prosecution investigator that he was drunk on the evening of November 16,
1994. (50 RT 9874.) Also, Amy Arrendondo testified that Ramirez and the

others were intoxicated. (43 RT 8468-72.) At trial, Ramirez denied that he

128 Jose Luis Ramirez later told the police that he was looking through the
window when he saw appellant with a gun in his hand. (42 RT 8217-18.)
However, because appellant would not have been visible through the window,
Jose Luis Ramirez was deliberately lying to the police, and he admitted this lie
at trial. (42 RT 8217-18.) At trial he changed his story and testified that he
saw appellant with the gun while he was looking through the front door, which
was ajar about 4 inches. (42 RT 8217-18.)
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was intoxicated. (41 RT 8067.)

— Contradictory Statements About The Events Prior To The Entry. Jose

Luis Ramirez made various contradictory statements about things that were
allegedly done prior to entering the victims’ residence. (See Guilt Phase:
Statement Of Facts § G(1), pp. 41-44, incorporated herein.)

— Post-Offense Statements Inconsistent With The Alleged Plan To Rob

And Kill. At trial Jose Luis Ramirez testified that Antonio Sanchez and
appellant discussed robbing and killing Ramon Morales and anyone else in the
residence. (See Claim 10 § B(1), pp. 139-40, incorporated herein.) However,
when Jose Luis Ramirez talked to Antonio Sanchez on the phone the day after
the killings Jose Luis Ramirez said “I didn’t think you were going to do that.”
(42 RT 8247-48.) Also Jose Luis Ramirez admitted that if he had thought that
anything serious was going to happen to the Morales’ he would have warned
them before they entered the residence. (42 RT 8242; 8250.)

— Contradictory Statements Regarding Defendant’s Alleged Use Of A

Knife. Jose Luis Ramirez told the police that appellant did not have a weapon.
(50 RT 9852-53.) However, at trial he testified that appellant carried a knife
into the house and held it to the throat of Fernando Martinez. (41 RT 8015-17.)
The jurors rejected Jose Luis Ramirez’ testimony finding that appellant did not
use a knife. (4 CT 969-70; 973-74; 977-787.)

— Contradictory Statements About Whether Appellant Had A Handgun.

Version 1: Jose Luis Ramirez originally told the police that he didn’t
see appellant with any kind of gun at any time on November 16, 1994. (41 RT
8011.)

Version 2: Jose Luis Ramirez later told the police that appellant took
two guns from a box in the kitchen and gave one of the guns to him (Ramirez)

and put the other one in Antonio’s pocket. (42 RT 8225-28.)
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Version 3: Jose Luis Ramirez testified at trial that appellant obtained
two handguns from a box near the refrigerator one of which appellant kept
after putting the other in Antonio Sanchez’ coat pocket. (41 RT 8032-33.)

b. Affirmative Evidence Disputing Intent To Steal

i Appellant’s Video Taped Statement Denying
Intent To Take The Victim’s Property

In a videotaped statement admitted into evidence appellant stated that
he entered the residence with the others, but not for the purpose of robbery or
murder. Instead, appellant only intended that property belonging to Antonio
Sanchez be taken. (Exhibit 85A;4 SCT 1036-39; 51 RT 10018.)'*° Thus, the
jurors could have relied on appellant’s statement to conclude that appellant did
not intend to rob or murder the victims.'*

Furthermore, in reference to the “looting” by Jose Luis Ramirez,
appellant stated “we didn’t go there for that purpose either.” (Ibid.)

ii. Appellant Had No Motive To Rob Or Kill The
Victims

Defense counsel emphasized that the dispute was between Antonio
Sanchez and Ramon Morales and that there was no “evidence to prove to you
that [appellant] had some sort of stake in this matter.” (52 RT 10268; see also
52 RT 10266:19-25 [appellant had no grudge against anyone; no motive]; 52
RT 10266:28-10267:2 [same].) The prosecutor agreed with this assessment:

12 In the taped statement, appellant also denied any intent to murder the

victims, explaining that the guns were a precaution because “Ramon Morales
had threatened to kill Antonio Sanchez.” (/bid.)

3% This statement was placed into evidence by the prosecution. (51 RT

10018.) (See Exhibit 85B: Tape; Exhibit 85A: translated transcript of the
tape).
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“You know, Antonio really was the one that had the bone to pick here. He was
the one that had it in for Ramon Morales.” (52 RT 10224:19-24.)

iil. Appellant’s Intoxication

Jose Luis Ramirez testified that during the day of November 16, 1994
they bought 48 cans of beer which the four of them drank, each drinking about
the same amount. (41 RT 8066-67; see also Guilt Phase: Statement Of Facts
§ B(8) and (9), pp. 26-27, incorporated herein.)

Amy Arredondo testified that appellant and the others were drinking
beer at her house around 5:00-5:30 p.m. (43 RT 8458-61.) Appellant was
intoxicated when they left. (RT 8462.)

Bertha Sanchez testified that during the afternoon of November 16,
1994 she saw the defendant pull up outside of her house as she was leaving to
do laundry. (43 RT 8419-20.) Antonio, Jose Luis Ramirez and Joaquin were
with him. (43 RT 8420.) When she returned at 7:30 or 8:00 they were still
there. (43 RT 8421.) She was mad at them because they were outside
drinking. (43 RT 8421; 8429.) Bertha had seen appellant drinking on many
occasions and that evening she believed he was so drunk that she would not
have felt safe riding in a car that appellant was driving. (43 RT 8429-30.)
Jorge Acosta, who had observed appellant intoxicated before, believed that
appellant was sufficiently intoxicated on the day of the murders that he might
get in an accident or be arrested for drunk driving. (50 RT 9837-39.)"'

1v. Appellant’s Character Evidence

Appellant was not involved in selling or distributing drugs. (41 RT

8063.) Nor was there any evidence that he was a violent person. (See 44 RT

B! Appellant was slightly built (5 CT 1101) thus providing a rational basis for
the jurors to infer — based on their common sense — that the alcohol had a
greater than average impact on appellant.
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8711-13 [appellant was a “nice guy”].) When intoxicated, appellant was “very
happy, a dancer.” (43 RT 8429; 8447.) |

c. Physical Evidence Corroborating Appellant’s Denial Of
An Intent To Steal And Loot

I. No Cash Was Taken From The Victims

Each of the victims had cash on their person which was not taken.
Ramon Morales had $204.37 in his pockets, Fernando Martinez had $123.00
and Martha Morales had $51.00 in her purse. (46 RT 9107-09; 47 RT 9206-
07.)

The fact that the cash was not taken contradicted Jose Luis Ramirez’
claim that they were there to “take whatever we could” (41 RT 8020), and
corroborated appellant’s contention that they were looking for things that
Antonio Sanchez had left at the Morales residence. (Compare People v.
Tufunga (1999) 21 Cal.4th 935, 945, fn. 2 [claim of right not available when
defendant had “indiscriminately taken items of value”]; People v. Waidla
(2000) 22 Cal.4th 690 [same].)

ii. Other Items Of Value Were Left

Even though the house appeared to have been thoroughly searched (38
RT 7428; 38 RT 7435; 7439; 45 RT 8865; Exhibits 3; 5(D); 65),'*? numerous

132 The house was a detached garage which had been converted into a

residence. (38 RT 7414-15;7469; 44 RT 8622; 45 RT 8807.) The home was
one bedroom, single-family residence, with a kitchen, living room and
bathroom. (45 RT 8807.) The living room and kitchen were approximately
10 x 10. (38 RT 7428.)
There were things strewn out on the kitchen floor (RT 7428; Exhibit 3)
and the garbage can had been dumped over. (45 RT 8865.)
The mattresses were tossed about, the TV was knocked over, and other
items in the room were disturbed. The bedroom was in disarray. (38 RT 7435;
(continued...)
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items of value were not taken including jewelry (48 RT 9409), a watch (48 RT
9408-09), a television (38 RT 7439), five boxes of ammunition (45 RT 8828;
8833-34; 46 RT 9032; 9067; 9069), a Taser gun (46 RT 9070) and three
handguns (46 RT 9073; 9081; 50 RT 9871.)

As with the cash, the failure to take these items of value was
inconsistent with Jose Luis Ramirez’ claim of a plan to steal “whatever we
could.” (41 RT 8020.)

iil. Physical Evidence Corroborating Appellant’s
Contention That Jose Luis Ramirez Took Items
From the Morales Residence

Jose Luis Ramirez allegedly took three items with him when he left the
residence — hair oil, a necklace and a .32 handgun which Antonio Sanchez
gave him. (41 RT 8042.) The hair oil was the brand Jose Luis Ramirez used
and he pawned the necklace, keeping the proceeds for himself. (41 RT 8042;
8045-46; 44 RT 8633; 8649-50; 8655-56.)'*

C. Arguments Of Counsel To Jury
The prosecutor relied on the testimony of Jose Luis Ramirez to argue

that appellant acted with intent to steal the victims’ property. (52 RT 10254:11

132(, .continued)

7439; 45 RT 8865; 46 RT 9077; see also Exhibit 5(D) [photo]; Exhibit 65
[videotape taken by Detective Waller].)

Jose Luis Ramirez testified that he and Joaquin Nuifiez searched the
house looking for things to steal. (41 RT 8018; 8020.)

'33 Jose Luis Ramirez gave the .32 gun to a friend of his, Daniel Barba, whom
Ramirez said was a gang member. (41 RT 8046-47; 42 RT 8243.) Ramirez
was a member of the Surenos gang. (42 RT 8243.)
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[“They went there to steal”].)'** The prosecutor also relied on the fact that
there had been “rifling through things” in the house to argue that they “were
looking to get items” and that “someone has gone through this house.” (53 RT
10405; see also 52 RT 10254 [“rifling”]; 37 RT 7253 [opening statement: the
“house is being tossed”].)

On the other hand, the defense argued that the jury should not credit the
testimony of Jose Luis Ramirez because “he admitted he lied” on one occasion
and he also “lied . . . about Danny’s involvement in this case . . . because
[Ramirez] need[ed] to embellish [appellant’s] participation so [Ramirez] won’t
spend life in prison.” (52 RT 10272.) Thus, the defense argued: “Jose Luis
Ramirez has a real motive here. He’s made the story even more‘damning and
conjured, more make-believe.” (52 RT 10272.)

Defense counsel further argued that appellant did not know about
Antonio Sanchez’ alleged plan to rob and kill the victims: “What did Danny
Covarrubias say in that video tape? He said he didn’tknow. ‘We didn’tknow
what was going to happen.” That’s the absolute truth. He didn’t know what
was going to happen that evening.” (52 RT 10270.) Counsel further argued
that appellant’s lack of knowledge was corroborated by evidence such as
appellant’s character, intoxication and his intent to return to Mexico the day
after he arrived in Salinas. (52 RT 10266:3-19 [appellant expected to return

to Mexico the next day so he did not have “any kind of intent to kill, rob,

134 However, in discussing the elements of robbery the prosecutor followed the
instructional definition which did not include intent to steal. (52 RT 10232-33;
see also 52 RT 10224-25 [“theft . . . [is] taking something from someone else
with the intent to permanently deprive; to keep it from the other person”]; 52
RT 10233 [“. .. property is taken with intent to permanently deprive the
victim of the property”] .)
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135

commit a burglary against anyone when he came”]; 52 RT 10268; 10271.)

Additionally, counsel emphasized that the dispute was between Antonio
Sanchez and Ramon Morales and that there was no “evidence to prove to you
that [appellant] had some sort of stake in this matter.” (52 RT 10268; see also
52 RT 10266:19-25 [appellant had no grudge against anyone; no motive]; 52
RT 10266:28-10267:2 [same].) The prosecutor agreed with this assessment:
“Y ou know, Antonio really was the one that had the bone to pick here. He was
the one that had it in for Ramon Morales.” (52 RT 10224:19-24; see also 52
RT 10244 [“. . .look at the . . . photos of Roman Morales, he was overkilled.
He wasn’t just killed. He was overkilled with that AR-15.”].)

Defense counsel also argued that Jose Luis Ramirez stole items from
the house on his own accord as evidenced by the fact that he took the “Tres
Flores” hair oil because it was the brand he used. (52 RT 10271 [“Jose saw
this as a great opportunity”].)

D. The Jurors’ Verdicts Show That They Disbelieved Jose Luis

Ramirez

1. The Jury Unanimously Rejected Jose Luis Ramirez’ Testimony
That Appellant Used A Knife

According to Jose Luis Ramirez, immediately after they entered the

residence appellant held a knife to the throat of Fernando Martinez, who was

133 “It is not unreasonable to assume that Danny Covarrubias, himself,

really didn’t believe that anything serious was going to happen either. There
was unrebutted testimony about Danny Covarrubias. What happens to him
when he’s had too much to drink? He gets happy. He’s the kind of guy that,
he wants to dance. Does that sound like a person who intended to kill the
Moraleses that evening? I think not. Amy Trejo said Danny was a nice guy.
She said she could never, ever imagine that he would do anything like this.”
(52 RT 10271:7-17.)
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sleeping on the living room floor, and told him not to look at anyone. (41 RT
8015-17.) However, the jurors rejected this testimony finding that appellant
did not use a knife. (4 CT 969-70; 973-74; 977-787.)

2. The Jury Failed To Agree That Appellant Used A Handgun

Based in large part upon Jose Luis Ramirez’ testimony that he saw
appellant with a handgun, the prosecution alleged that appellant used a
handgun during the crime. However, the jurors could not agree on this special
allegation. (4 CT 970-995.)

3. The Jury Failed To Credit Jose Luis Ramirez’ Testimony That
Appellant Intended To Kill The Victims

In its conspiracy allegation in Count 9, the prosecution‘ specifically
contended that appellant and Antonio Sanchez planned to murder the victims
as asserted by Jose Luis Ramirez. However, while the jury did convict
appellant of conspiracy to commit robbery and burglary, it could not agree on
the allegation of conspiracy to commit murder. (4 CT 996-97.)

4. The Prosecutor Acknowledged The Possibility That Some Jurors
Disbelieved Jose Luis Ramirez

The prosecutor candidly acknowledged the possibility that one or more
jurors may have disbelieved Jose Luis Ramirez and concluded that appellant
did not intend to kill, did not personally shoot a firearm and only intended to
help Antonio Sanchez recover his things from the residence. (See 67 RT
13229.)

E. Jury Instructions On Robbery

1. Definition Of Robbery

Robbery was defined for the jurors by CALJIC 9.40 which enumerated
the following five elements:

“l. A person had possession of property of some value
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however slight;

2. The property was taken from that person or from [his]
[her] immediate presence;

3. The property was taken against the will of that person,;

4. The taking was accomplished either by force or fear;
and

5. The property was taken with the specific intent
permanently to deprive that person of the property.” (6 CT
1307-08.)

This was the only definition of robbery the jurors received. No other
instruction required the jurors to find the property of another was taken with
the intent to permanently deprive the owner of that property.'?¢
Nor did the jurors receive any instructions on claim of right. (See Claim

12, pp. 195-205, incorporated herein.)

2. Robbery Based Instructions Applicable To The Murder,
Burglary, Attempted Murder And Conspiracy Charges

The prosecutor relied, inter alia, on robbery based theories of liability
as to all ten substantive counts as well as the burglary and robbery special
circumstances. The following instructions specifically referred to robbery
without further defining it:

— Felony murder based on robbery and burglary [entry
with intent to commit a robbery] (53 RT 10447-48; 6 CT 1276-
77);

— Conspiracy murder based on conspiracy to commit
robbery and burglary (53 RT 10449; 6 CT 1279);

— Natural and probable consequences of aiding and
abetting robbery and burglary (53 RT 10435-36; 6 CT 1256-57);

— Burglary with intent to commit robbery (53 RT 10465-

3¢ The jurors also received CALJIC 9.41 — defining the element of fear (53
RT 10465; 6 CT 1309) — and CALJIC 9.42 — defining the degrees of robbery.
(53 RT 10465; 6 CT 1310.)
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66; 6 CT 1311-12)."
F. Legal Principles

1. The Judge Has A Sua Sponte Duty To Instruct On Intent To
Permanently Deprive The Owner Of The Property Taken

It is beyond dispute that robbery, like theft, requires intent to steal
which is defined as “the intent to deprive the owner of the property
permanently. [Citation.]” (People v. Ortega (1998) 19 Cal.4th 686, 713.) Itis
also beyond dispute that because such intent to steal is an essential element of
robbery, the judge has a sua sponte duty to instruct on it. “As one of the
essential elements of robbery is a specific intent to steal [citations], it follows
that it was the trial court’s duty in the case at bench to so instruct the jury even
without a request therefor by the defendant. [Citations.}” (People v. Ford
(1964) 60 Cal.2d 772, 792-93; People v. Stewart (1968) 267 Cal.App.2d 366,
375-76 [“The jury must, in addition to the statutory definition of robbery, also
be told that a felonious taking involves the specific intent to steal — i.e., the
intent to permanently deprive an owner of his property”]; see also former
CALIJIC 9.10 quoted in People v. Stankewitz (1990) 51 Cal.3d 72, 104
[elements of robbery include the requirement that the taking be “accomplished
... with a specific intent permanently to deprive the owner of his property”];

see also CALCRIM 1600 (2006.)"

37 Both the preamble and enumerated elements of the burglary instruction
included entry with intent to commit robbery as an alternative theory upon
which to convict appellant of burglary. (53 RT 10466; 56 RT 11004-05; 6 CT
1311-12))

138 Penal Code § 211 does not expressly require intent to steal, i.e., intent to
permanently deprive the owner of his or her property. Instead, the statutory
(continued...)
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2. The Duty To Instruct On Intent To Permanently Deprive The
Owner Of The Property Does Not Depend On Whether Or Not
Instruction On Claim Of Right Is Warranted

The duty to instruct sua sponte on the intent to permanently deprive the
owner of his/her property as an element of robbery discussed above is
distinguishable from the duty to instruct on the defense of claim of right. (See
generally People v. Tufunga, supra,21 Cal.4th 935.) In every robbery trial the

judge has a duty to sua sponte instruct on each element of robbery, including

138 _..continued)

language defines robbery as “the felonious taking of personal property in the
possession of another. . ..” (Penal Code § 211, italics added.) CALJIC 9.40
— the instruction given in the present case — tracks the statutory language by
only requiring the taking of personal property in the possession of another and
intent to permanently deprive “that person” of the property.

However, the legislature’s use of the phrase “felonious taking”
demonstrated its intent to include the common law requirement of “larcenous
intent” in the crime of robbery. (People v. Haley (2004) 34 Cal.4th 283, 317,
People v. Seaton (2001) 26 Cal.4th 598, 644 [robbery requires a “union of act
and larcenous intent”]; People v. Turner (1990) 50 Cal.3d 668, 721 [same];
People v. Coleman (1989) 48 Cal.3d 112, 146 [robbery and burglary may be
based “on the same larcenous intent”); People v. Ainsworth (1988) 45 Cal.3d
984,1019 [robbery conviction upheld because “no reasonable juror could have
concluded that defendant shot [the victim] without a larcenous intent”]; People
v. Ramkeesoon (1985) 39 Cal.3d 346, 351[“If defendant had not harbored a
larcenous intent before or during the assault, the taking” was not robbery];
People v. Rosen (1938) 11 Cal.2d 147, 151; Harris v. Reynolds (1859) 13
Cal.514,518; Peoplev. Miramon (1983) 140 Cal.App.3d 118, 132 [California
case law has defined the full scope of the offense by recognition of other
required common law elements, including larcenous intent].) Hence, it is
beyond dispute that “robbery, like theft, requires the intent to deprive the
owner of the property permanently. [Citation to Witkin and Epstein.]” (People
v. Ortega, supra, 19 Cal.4th at 713; see also People v. Pollock (2004) 32
Cal.4th 1153, 1174; People v. Cash (2002) 28 Cal.4th 703, 736; People v.
Cummings (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1233, 1311-12; People v Bacigalupo (1991) 1
Cal.4th 103, 126; People v. Kunkin (1983) 9 Cal.3d 245, 251.)
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intent to steal. (See People v. Ford, supra, 60 Cal.2d at 792-93.) This duty is
not affected by whether or not a claim of right instruction may also be required
sua sponte or on request. A claim of right instruction is given in addition to,
notin place of, the elemental instruction on intent to permanently deprive. (See
People v. Tufunga, supra, 21 Cal.4th at 948, citing People v. Davis (1998) 19
Cal.4th 301, 305 [intent to steal requires intent to permanently deprive the
owner of possession “without a good faith claim of right”], italics by Tufunga
court; People v. Barnett (1998) 17 Cal.4th 1044, 1142-43 [even if‘ an actor
takes property with intent to permanently deprive the owner of it, felonious
intent exists only if the actor did not believe “in good faith that he had a claim
of right to it”]; see also Claim 10, p. 156, fn. 141, herein [discussing
CALCRIM 1600 and 1863].)"*

In sum, the claim of right cases do not relieve the trial court of its sua
sponte obligation to instruct the jury, in every robbery case, on the required
element of intent to permanently deprive the owner of the property. (See
People v. Ford, supra, 60 Cal.2d at 792-93 [erroneous failure to sua sponte

instruct on intent to permanently deprive the owner].)

G. CALJIC 9.40, As Given In The Present Case, Omitted The
Requirement Of An Intent To Permanently Deprive The Owner Of
The Property Taken

In the present case the jurors were given the CALJIC 9.40 instruction

139 For example, in People v. Butler (1967) 65 Cal.2d 569, 572-73 the
defendant took the victim’s wallet with intent to permanently deprive the
victim of the wallet. (Id.at571-72.) However, because the defendant honestly
believed he had a rightful claim to the property, a special defense theory
instruction on claim of right was required. (Id. at 573; see also People v.
Tufunga, supra, 21 Cal.4th at 942 [defendant took money he “conditionally
gave” to the victim]; People v. Rosen (1938) 11 Cal.2d 147, 149-50 [defendant
took property he lost gambling].)
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on robbery. (6 CT 1307-08; 52 RT 10463-64.) This instruction omitted the
element of intent to steal because it merely required the taking of property “in
the possession of another” with the intent of permanently depriving “that
person” of the property.'*® In other words, the instruction allowed the jurors
to find that appellant intended to commit robbery even if he only intended to
help Antonio Sanchez take his own property. This defect in CALJIC 9.40 was
recognized by the Judicial Council’s Blue Ribbon Commission on Jury

Instructions which included the omitted element in the CALCRIM instruction

4% Robbery was defined for the jury as follows:

Every person who takes personal property in the
possession of another against the will and from the person or
immediate presence of that person accomplished by means of
force or fear and with the specific intent to permanently deprive
that person of the property is guilty of the crime of robbery in
violation of Penal Code Section 212.

Immediate presence means an area within the alleged
victim’s reach, observation or control, so that he or she could, if
notovercome by violence or prevented by fear, retain possession
of the subject property.

Against the will means without consent.

In order to prove this crime, each of the following
elements must be proved:

One, a person had possession of property of some value,
however slight.

Two, the property was taken from that person or from his
or her immediate presence.

Three, the property was taken against the will of that
person.

Four, the taking was accomplished either by force or by
fear.

And five, the property was taken with the specific intent -
to permanently deprive that person of the property. (53 RT
10464; see also 6 CT 1307-08.)
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on robbery as follows:
To prove that the defendant is guilty of this crime, the People
must prove that:

1. The defendant took property that was not (his/her)
own;

2. The property was taken from another person’s
possession and immediate presence;

3. The property was taken against that person’s will;

4. The defendant used force or fear to take the property
or to prevent the person from resisting;
AND

5. When the defendant used force or fear to take the
property, (he/she) intended (to deprive the owner of it
permanently. . . .

(CALCRIM 1600 (2006) [emphasis added].)'"'

In sum, the robbery instruction given in the present case omitted the
essential element of intent to steal because it did not require an intent to
deprive the owner of the property permanently.

H. The Error Violated State Law And The Federal Constitution

1. Due Process And Trial By Jury

Withdrawal of the intent to steal element violated the Due Process and

Trial By Jury Clauses of the California Constitution (Article I, section 15 ) and

' The CALCRIM instruction on robbery also illustrates the distinction
between intent to steal as a core element of robbery and claim of right as a
defense theory to negate larcenous intent. Even though the CALCRIM
instructions contemplate the giving of a defense theory instruction on claim of
right when appropriate (see CALCRIM 1863), by making intent to
permanently deprive the owner of the property a core element, the CALCRIM
Committee correctly recognized that the jurors must be instructed on that
element regardless of whether or not a specific claim of right instruction is
requested or warranted. (See People v. Ford, supra, 60 Cal.2d at 792-93; see
also § F(1), p. 152, above, incorporated herein.)
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the federal constitution (S5th, 6th and 14th Amendments) as applied to
California through the Incorporation Doctrine. (Duncan v. Louisiana (1968)
391 U.S. 145; see also Tennessee v. Lane (2004) 541 U.S. 509, 562.)

In particular, the error violated the presumption of innocence which
provides that a person accused of a crime is presumed innocent unless the jury
finds that every essential fact necessary to prove the charged crime and every
element of the crime has been proved by the prosecution by a reasonable
doubt. (Apprendiv. New Jersey (2000) 530 U.S. 466; U.S. v. Gaudin (1995)
515 U.S. 506; In re Winship (1970) 397 U.S. 358; People v. Figueroa (1986)
41 Cal.3d 714.)

“At a minimum it is the court’s duty to ensure the jury is adequately
instructed on the law governing all elements of the case. . . .” (People v.
Iverson (1972)26 Cal.App.3d 598, 604; McDowellv. Calderon (9th Cir. 1997)
130 F.3d 833, 836.) The failure to instruct on an essential element of the
charge violates the state (Article I, §§ 7, 15, 16 and 17) and federal (6th and
14th Amendments) constitutional rights to due process and trial by jury. (In
re Winship (1970) 397 U.S. 358; People v. Figueroa (1986) 41 Cal.3d 714.)
The rights to due process and to a public trial before an impartial jury
“indisputably entitle a criminal defendant to ‘a jury determination that [he] is
guilty of every element of the crime with which he is charged . . .
[Citation.]” (Apprendi v. New Jersey, supra, 530 U.S. at 476-77; see also
Peoplev. Cummings (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1233,1312-14; Conde v. Henry (9th Cir.
1999) 198 F.3d 734, 741-42; United States v. Voss (8th Cir. 1986) 787 F.2d
393, 398.)

2. Meaningful Opportunity To Present A Defense

Furthermore, the error also violated appellant’s right to “a meaningful

opportunity to present a complete defense.” (See Holmes v. South Carolina
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(2006) U.S. [126 S. Ct. 1727; 164 L. Ed. 2d 503] [internal

citations omitted].)'*?

When an element which the defendant seeks to negate is omitted from
the instructions the defendant’s theory of the case is nullified. (See e.g.,
People v. Coria (1999) 21 Cal.4th 868, 881; People v. Beeman (1984) 35
Cal.3d 547, 562 [“correct instruction on the element of intent was particularly
important in this case because appellant’s defense focused on the question of
his intent more than on the nature of his acts”]; People v. Pierson (2001) 86
Cal.App.4th 983, 993-94; U.S. v. Sayetsitty (9th Cir. 1997) 107 F.3d 1405,
1414 [defendant has a due process right to have the jury consider defenses
recognized by state law which negate elements of the defense].) Indeed,
absent an appropriate instruction, the right to present evidence would be
entirely meaningless. (U.S. v. Escobar de Bright (9th Cir. 1984) 742 F.2d
1196, 1201-1202 [“[p]ermitting a defendant to offer a defense is of little value
if the jury is not informed that the defense, if it is believed or if it helps create
a reasonable doubt in the jury’s mind, will entitle the defendant to a judgment
of acquittal”]; Conde v. Henry (9th Cir. 1999) 198 F.3d 734, 739-42 [same];
see also People v. Cox (1991) 53 Cal.3d 618, 695-96 [defendant has right to
reasoned, considered judgment of the jury].)

3. Heightened Reliability At Guilt And Penalty Trial

Omission of the intent to steal element of the charge also violated the

12 See also Martin v. Ohio (1987) 480 U.S. 228, 233-34; Crane v. Kentucky
(1986) 476 U.S. 683, 690; Rock v. Arkansas (1987) 483 U.S. 44; Chambers v.
Mississippi (1973) 410 U.S. 284, 302; Richmond v. Embry (10th Cir. 1997)
122 F.3d 866, 871; Taylor v. Singletary (11th Cir. 1997) 122 F.3d 1390, 1394
[right to present defense witness testimony resides in the compulsory due
process clause and the due process clause of the federal constitution}; U.S. v.
Lopez-Alvarez (9th Cir. 1992) 970 F.2d 583, 588.
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Eighth Amendment requirements of heightened procedural protections and
reliability at both the guilt and penalty phases of a capital trial. (See Beck v.
Ohio (1964) 379 U.S. 891; Kyles v. Whitley (1995) 514 U.S. 419 [same].)
Furthermore, the error also undermined the reliability of the guilt and
penalty verdicts in violation of the Due Process, Trial By Jury, Compulsory
Process and Confrontation Clauses of the 6th and 14th Amendments to the
federal constitution. (See generally Crawford v. Washington (2004) 541 U.S.
36; White v. Illinois (1992) 502 U.S. 346, 363-64; Donnelly v. DeChristoforo
(1974) 416 U.S. 637, 646; Beck v. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S. 625; Thompson
v. City of Louisville (1960) 362 U.S. 199, 204.)
L. Omission Of The Intent To Steal Element Was Prejudicial As To
The Robbery Charge

1. Standard Of Prejudice

Harmless error analysis should not “be applied to instructional error
which withdraws from jury consideration substantially all of the elements of
an offense and did not require by other instructions that the jury find the
existence of the facts necessary to a conclusion that the omitted element had
been proved.” (People v. Cummings (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1233, 1315.)"** In the
present case, the omission of both the-intent-to-steal and the intent-to-take-
property-of-another elements, as described in Claims 10 and 11 of this brief,
were no less fundamental than the omissions in Cummings. Accordingly, the

robbery convictions should be reversed without the necessity of engaging in

'3 Cf., Blakely v. Washington (2004) 542 U.S. 296, 314 [“The framers would
not have thought it too much to demand that, before depriving a man of ...his
[life] [or] liberty, the state should suffer the modest inconvenience of
submitting its accusation to ‘the unanimous suffrage of 12 of his equals and
neighbors,’ [citation]... .”].
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any harmless error analysis.

Moreover, the error also warrants reversal under the standard of
prejudice applicable to removal of a single element of the charge. (People v.
Flood (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 503; see also Neder v. U.S., supra, 527 U.S. 1,
8-15.)

“When, as here, the federal constitutional error involves the trial court's
failure to instruct on a necessary element, reversal is required under the
Chapman test when ‘the defendant contested the omitted element and raised
evidence sufficient to support a contrary finding’ but the error is not
prejudicial when it is clear ‘beyond a reasonable doubt that the omitted

22

element was uncontested and supported by overwhelming evidence.’” (People
v. Huggins (2006) 38 Cal.4th 175, 259 [citing and quoting Neder v. U.S.,
supra, 527 U.S. 1, 19]; see also People v. Davis (2005) 36 Cal.4th 510, 564;
People v. Sakarias, supra, 22 Cal.4th 596; People v. Jackson (2003) 109
Cal.App.4th 1625, 1635.)

Under this standard, harmless error is demonstrated if the record
satisfies at least one of the following requirements:

1) Itis clear “beyond a reasonable doubt that the omitted element was
uncontested and supported by overwhelming evidence. . ..” (Neder, supra,
527 U.S. at 19; see also People v. Jackson, supra, 109 Cal.App.4th 1625,
1635.) Or, stated otherwise, “there is no ‘record ... evidence that could
rationally lead to a contrary finding’ with respect to that element.” (People v.
Davis (2005) 36 Cal.4th 510, 564 [citing and quoting Neder v. U.S. (1999) 527
U.S. 1, 19]; see also People v. Hughs (2002) 27 Cal.4th 287, 348-53 [no

factual scenario whereby jury could have found omitted element unproved];

Peoplev. Ayers (2005) 125 Cal.App.4th 988, 998 [“overwhelming proof” that
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the jury would not have found the omitted element].)"**

2) The jurors “necessarily resolved the assertedly omitted factual
question through other properly given instructions.” (People v. Holloway
(2004) 33 Cal.4th 96, 139-40; see also People v. Sakarias, supra, 22 Cal.4th
596; People v. Flood, supra, 18 Cal.4th 470.)'*°

'** See also Mitchell v. Esparza (2003) 540 U.S. 12, 18-19 [“no evidence”
disputing omitted elements]; People v. Jurado (2006) 38 Cal.4th 72, 123 [no
“evidence” in the record]; People v. Guerra (2006) 37 Cal.4th 1067, 1138
[evidence was “undisputed”]; People v. Haley (2004) 34 Cal.4th 283 [no
evidence of lack of intent]; People v. Prieto (2003) 30 Cal.4th 226, 256-257
[“no evidence”]; People v. Bolden (2002) 29 Cal.4th 515, 560 [“evidence . .
. was overwhelming”]; People v. Rodriguez (2002) 28 Cal.4th 543, 555,
Moreno, J., concurring and dissenting [evidence “overwhelming” and
“undisputed”]; People v. Sengpadychith (2001)26 Cal.4th 316, 324 [“error did
not contribute to the jury’s verdict”]; People v. Catlin (2001) 26 Cal.4th 81,
156 [“overwhelming” evidence of omitted element]; People v. Sakarias
(2000) 22 Cal.4th 596, 623-626 [“no substantial evidence” from which the
jurors could have failed to find the omitted element]; People v. Flood (1998)
18 Cal.4th 470, 507 [“overwhelming, undisputed evidence”]; People v. Green
(2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 1315, 1333-1335 [testimony on omitted element was
“uncontested”]; People v. Palmer (2005) 133 Cal.App.4th 1141, 1157-1158
[evidence “overwhelmingly” proved the omitted element}; People v. Nicholson
(2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 823, 834 [“undisputed evidence” established the
omitted element]; People v. LeCorno (2003) 109 Cal.App.4th 1058,1066-1067
[omitted element was “undisputed” and jury necessarily found the element];
Peoplev. Ortiz(2002) 101 Cal.App.4th 410,416 [omitted element established
by “uncontradicted testimony”]; People v. Andrade (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th
579, 587-590 [omitted element established by “uncontradicted testimony™];
United States v. Schlisser (2nd Cir. 2006) 2006 U.S. App. LEXIS 4894, 8-9
[“overwhelming evidence”].

143 See also People v. Haley (2004) 34 Cal.4th 283, 314-317 [jury necessarily
found defendant guilty on a proper theory]; People v. Cole (2004) 33 Cal.4th
1158, 1208 [omitted element included in another instruction]; People v. Heath
(2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 490, 498 [omitted element necessarily found in
reaching verdict on another count]; People v. Singh (2004) 119 Cal.App.4th

(continued...)
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3) The error was harmless under the Cantrell-Thornton'*® exception
which requires that the parties recognized the omitted issue, presented all
evidence at their command on the issue and the record not only es‘tablishes the
element as a matter of law but shows the contrary evidence not worthy of

consideration. (People v. Flood, supra, 18 Cal.4th at 506.)

2. In The Present Case The Omitted Element Was Contested And
The Jurors Could Rationally Have Found It Unproved

The instructions omitted the following factual issue: Did appellant
intend to steal the victims’ property — as alleged by Jose Luis Ramirez — or did
appellant merely intend to help Antonio Sanchez’ take his own property —as
contended by appellant?

Without a doubt this was a contested issue which the jurors rationally
could have resolved in favor of appellant.

First, the evidence that appellant intended to steal was weak because it
was based on the plea-bargained testimony of Jose Luis Ramirez, a lone
accomplice-witness whose veracity was so substantially discredited that the
jurors failed to find all three special allegations which depended solely or
primarily on belief of the accomplice’s testimony.

Second, appellant disputed the existence of intent to steal in his video

statement which the prosecution acknowledged was “accurate and complete.”

143(_..continued)

905, 913-14 [omitted element found in another verdict]; People v. Petznick
(2003) 114 Cal.App.4th 663, 678-684 [omitted element found in another
verdict]; Peoplev. LeCorno (2003) 109 Cal.App.4th 1058,1066-1067 [omitted
element was “undisputed” and jury necessarily found the element].

14¢ See Peoplev. Cantrell (1973) 8 Cal.3d 672 and People v. Thornton (1974)
11 Cal.3d 738, both overruled on other grounds in People v. Flannel (1979) 25
Cal.3d 668, 684, fn. 12.
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(50 RT 9820.)

Third, appellant’s disavowal of intent to steal was corroborated by the
fact that, even though the house was thoroughly searched, numerous items of
value were left behind such as three handguns, a Taser gun, five boxes of
ammunition, jewelry, a television set and $378 in cash. This suggested an
intent to recover specific items of property rather than a generalized intent to
loot and steal anything of value. (Compare People v. Tufunga, supra, 21
Cal.4th at 945, fn. 2 [claim of right not available when defendant had
“indiscriminately taken items of value”]; People v. Waidla (2000) 22 Cal.4th
690 [same].)

Fourth, the only things alleged to have been personally taken by
appellant and Antonio Sanchez were handguns: a .32 handgun which Antonio
Sanchez gave to Jose Luis Ramirez and two other handguns which appellant
allegedly took from the wooden box in the kitchen. The other items were
taken by Jose Luis Ramirez including a necklace which he sold the next day
and a bottle of hair oil which was the brand that Jose Luis Ramirez used. This
further corroborated appellant’s contention that Jose Luis Ramirez was acting
on his own when he took those items from the residence.

Fifth, appellant did not know the victims and had nothing to do with the
disagreement between Ramon Morales and Antonio Sanchez, which allegedly
motivated the attack. In other words, as argued by defense counsel, appellant
had no “stake in this matter” and no motive to take the victims’ property. (52
RT 10268.)

For any or all of the above reasons, the jurors could rationally have

found that the prosecution failed to prove intent to steal.
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3. The Jurors Did Not Resolve The Omitted Factual Issue In
Another Context

The defective robbery instruction (CALJIC 9.40) was the only
instruction which defined and enumerated the required elements of robbery for
appellant’s jury. Therefore, the jurors had no alternative but to accept and
follow the judge’s definition of robbery as the one which must govern their
deliberations. (See 6 CT 1223 [“You must accept and follow the law as I state
it to you .. .”]; see also § I(6)(b), pp. 169-71, incorporated herein.)

Nor did the jurors necessarily find the omitted intent to steal element by
convicting appellant of burglary or conspiracy to commit burglary. The
burglary instructions did include intent to steal as one of the alternative intent
elements. (See 53 RT 10466; 56 RT 11004-05; 6 CT 1311-12.) And, the

147

prosecution did discuss the intent to steal option in her argument.”™" However,

intent to rob was also an alternative intent element for burglary. (6 CT 1311-

7 The prosecutor’s argument focused on the intent to steal and intent to
murder theories of burglary. However, the prosecution’s argument did not
expressly eliminate intent to commit robbery as an option. The prosecutor
followed the basic statutory definition of burglary format by defining the
required intent in the alternative: intent to steal “or” intent to commit another
felony. (52 RT 10231; 10254.) In the first discussion the argument suggested
that the only other felony was murder. (52 RT 10231 [burglary requires
entering with “intent to steal” or “with intent to commit a felony; in this case,
murder].) However, in the second discussion the prosecutor said that it “could
be murder.” (52 RT 10254 [“Remember, burglary is an unlawful entry with
an intent to . . . steal something when you’re inside, or to commit another
felony. In this case it could be murder”].) Hence, the prosecutor’s argument
did not expressly rule out intent to commit robbery as an option for conviction
of burglary.

Moreover, the jurors were duty-bound to follow the instructional
definition of burglary — which included the intent to commit robbery option —
and to reject any conflicting definition given by the prosecutor in argument.
(See § I(6)(b), pp. 169-71, incorporated herein.)
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12.) And the verdicts failed to demonstrate that any, much less all, of the
jurors relied'*® on the intent to steal alternative to convict appellant of burglary.
(See Sandstrom v. Montana, supra, 442 U.S. at 526; People v. Swain, supra,
12 Cal.4th at 607; see also Suniga v. Bunnell (9th Cir. 1993) 998 F.2d 664, 670
[instruction on erroneous theory was reversible even though the theory was not
argued by the prosecutor and the evidence as to the correct theory was “very
strong”].)

In sum, the jurors did not necessarily find the omitted intent to steal
element in another context. (Compare People v. Haley, supra, 34 Cal.4th at
314-17; Peoplev. Cole, supra, 33 Cal.4th at 1208; People v. Holloway, supra,
33 Cal.4th at 139-40.)

4. The Cantrell/Thornton Exception Does Not Apply

Because the intent to steal element was not proved as a matter of law
and because the contrary evidence was not unworthy of belief, the
Cantrell/Thornton exception to the harmless error rule does not apply. (See
People v. Flood, supra, 18 Cal.4th at 506.)

5. The Omission Negated Appellant’s Defense

The error was also prejudicial because it negated appellant’s defensive
claim that he did not knowingly and intentionally participate in a plan to steal
property from the victims. (See People v. Coria (1999) 21 Cal.4th 868, 881;
see also People v. Beeman (1984) 35 Cal.3d 547, 562 [“correct instruction on

the element of intent was particularly important in this case because

** The jurors were not required to unanimously agree on a single theory of
burglary. (See People v. Hughs (2002) 27 Cal.4th 287, 348-49; People v.
Faila (1966) 64 Cal.2d 560; see generally 6 CT 1311-14 [standard burglary
instruction]; 56 RT 11003-06 [additional burglary instruction in response to
juror inquiry].)
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appellant’s defense focused on the question of his intent more than on the
nature of his acts”]; People v. Pierson, supra, 86 Cal.App.4th at 993-94
[failure to instruct on contested knowledge element was not harmless because
the evidence was not “undisputed” and “overwhelming” and the defendant
“was not allowed to present a full defense™]; Conde v. Henry, supra, 198 F.3d

at 739; see also generally Holmes v. South Carolina, supra, U.S.

[126 S. Ct. 1727, 1731; 164 L. Ed. 2d 503] [judgment reversed where
defendant denied a “meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense”

[internal citations omitted].)

6. The Error Was Not Cured By The Arguments Of Counsel

a. The Impact Of Neder Error Must Be Evaluated In Light
Of The “Record Evidence”

Error is harmless under Neder “where an omitted element is supported
by uncontroverted evidence,” as “where a defendant did not, and apparently
could not, bring forth facts contesting the omitted element . . . .” (Neder v.
U.S., supra, 527 U.S. at 19.) In other words, Neder requires a finding of
harmless error based on the “record evidence.” [Emphasis added.] (People v.
Davis (2005) 36 Cal.4th 510, 564; see also People v. Jurado (2006) 38 Cal.4th
72, 101-102; People v. Hughs (2002) 27 Cal.4th 287, 352-53.) Hence, the
analysis of Neder prejudice should focus on the “evidence” rather than the
arguments of counsel.

And, this is how the vast majority of cases have analyzed prejudice

under Neder.'”® Counsel has not found a single case in which a failure to

49 See p 161, footnote 144, incorporated herein [cases conducting Neder

harmless error analysis relying on the record evidence rather than argument of
counsel].
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instruct on a contested element was held to be harmless under Neder based
primarily on the prosecution’s argument.'*® This is so for the simple reason
that argument is not evidence and the jury is so instructed.'”’

Furthermore, prosecutorial argument is not a reliable indicator of how
the jurors reached their verdict. (See e.g., People v. Guerra (1985) 40 Cal.3d
377, 387-88 [even though the prosecutor “expressly discounted” the felony-
murder theory “[t]here is no principled way for us to determine which theory
the jury adopted. . . ’]; see also Suniga v. Bunnell, supra, 998 F.2d 664, 670
[instruction on erroneous theory was reversible even though the theory was not
argued by the prosecutor and the evidence as to the correct theory was “very

strong”].)"*?

'3 In People v. Catlin (2001) 26 Cal.4th 81, 154 this Court did refer to the
“evidence presented in the case and the arguments of counsel.” However, this
was merely a brief collateral discussion which was not essential to the holding
in Catlin. The record in Catlin fully satisfied the Neder standard without
consideration of the arguments of counsel. (See Neder test as articulated by
Peoplev. Sakarias, supra,22 Cal.4th at 625; see also People v. Palmer (2005)
133 Cal.App.4th 1141, 1157-58 [arguments of counsel mentioned in context
of “reinforcing” reviewing court’s finding of “overwhelming” evidence
establishing the omitted element].)

'3! “Statements made by the attorneys during trial are not evidence.” (6 CT
1225 [CALJIC 1.02]; see also 52 RT 10259:19-25 [judge admonished jury
during argument that “[w]hat [counsel] say is not evidence™].)

2 For example, in People v. Webster (1991) 54 Cal.3d 411, 442, the
prosecution’s argument relied solely upon a theory of robbery based on the
defendant’s taking of the victim’s car. On appeal, the defendant argued that the
car was not taken from the “immediate presence” of the victim because the
force and fear occurred after the parties had walked a substantial distance from
the car. The Supreme Court concluded that the evidence provided two
additional theories of robbery based on the separate taking of the car key from
the victim. Despite the lack of any prosecution argument on these theories

(continued...)
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Finally, as to a general proposition, “the arguments of counsel cannot
substitute for correct instructions from the court. . ..” (People v. Rogers (2006)
39 Cal.4th 826, 869, citing Carter v. Kentucky (1981) 450 U.S. 288, 304.)'*
Thus, even though the arguments of counsel may be appropriate to help “clear
up ambiguities in instructions,” they should not be considered in evaluating
Neder error which involves the unambiguous omission of a discrete element
of the charge."”*

In sum, the arguments of counsel should not be relied upon in

evaluating Neder error.

'32(...continued)

(Webster, 54 C3d at 442, fn. 16), the court determined that the jury “could”
have relied upon either of them. (/d. at 442.)

153 Compare People v. Rogers, supra, 39 Cal.4th at 869 [argument of counsel
considered in holding that failure to properly instruct on lesser included
offense was harmless under Watson standard]; People v. Fudge (1994) 7
Cal.4th 1075 [“detailed” argument by defense counsel considered in holding
that failure to give pinpoint instruction was harmless under Watson standard].

154 As explained in People v. Miller (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 412, 426:

While we have no trouble utilizing the argument of counsel to
help clear up ambiguities in instructions given, there is no
authority which permits us to use argument as a substitute for
instructions that should have been given. Logically, this is so,
because the jury is informed that there are three components to
the trial — evidence presented by both sides, arguments by the
attorneys and instructions on the law given by the judge. Jurors
are told that their decision must be based on the facts and the
law and if counsel says anything that conflicts with the
instructions that are given by the judge, they must follow the
instructions.

168



b. Even If The Arguments Of Counsel May Properly Be
Considered, They Do Not Establish Harmlessness In The
Present Case

The parties argued the knowledge and intent issues to the jury during

'35 Also, the prosecutor’s

argument. (See § C, pp. 14748, incorporated herein.)
argument on burglary focused on the intent to steal and intent to murder
theories.'®

However, any such arguments of counsel were insufficient to

demonstrate harmlessness under Neder."”” This is so because the jurors were

%3 The prosecutor argued that appellant acted with intent to steal. (52 RT
10253-54.) The defense argued, based on appellant’s video statement and
intoxication, that he “didn’t know what was going to happen that evening.”
(52 RT 10270.)

¢ The prosecutor suggested that the options for finding burglary were an
intent to steal or an intent to commit murder. However, the prosecution’s
argument did not eliminate intent to commit robbery as an option. The
prosecutor followed the basic statutory definition of burglary format by
defining the required intent in the alternative: intent to steal “or” intent to
commit another felony. (52 RT 10231; 10254.) The argument was ambiguous
about the nature of the other felony. In the first discussion, the argument
suggested that the only other felony was murder. (52 RT 10231 [burglary
requires entering with “intent to steal” or “with intent to commit a felony; in
this case, murder].) However, in the second discussion the prosecutor said that
it “could be murder.” (52 RT 10254 [“Remember, burglary is an unlawful
entry with an intent to . . . steal something when you’re inside, or to commit
another felony. In this case it could be murder”].) Hence, the prosecutor’s
argument did not expressly rule out intent to commit robbery as an option for
conviction of burglary.

'57 For example, in U.S. v. Alferahin (9th Cir. 2006) 433 F.3d 1148, 1157-58,
the Ninth Circuit conducted a Neder analysis where the instructions
erroneously omitted the materiality element of the charge. Despite the fact that
both counsel argued materiality to the jury as if it were an element of the

(continued...)
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duty-bound to follow the instructional definition of robbery provided by the
judge and to reject any arguments of counsel that conflicted with the judge’s
definition. The jurors were so admonished by CALJIC 1.00:

You must accept and follow the law as I state it to you,
regardless of whether you agree with the law. If anything
concerning the law said by the attorneys in their arguments . . .
conflicts with my instructions on the law, you must follow my
instructions. (6 CT 1223, emphasis added.)

Furthermore, the judge reiterated this admonition in response to a
defense objection during argument: “. . . [W]hat [counsel] say about the law
is not the law. You have to follow my instructions on that.”'*

Also, both the district attorney and defense counsel emphasized the

jurors’ duty to follow the law as given by the judge. The prosecutor

admonished the jury that “your job as jurors . ..isto... apply the...law that

you will be hearing from Judge Moody.” (52 RT 10217, emphasis added.)

Similarly, defense counsel admonished the jury to follow the law as stated in

the written instructions.'’

137(__.continued)

charge (id. at 1152-53), the reviewing court conducted its Neder analysis
primarily on the record evidence and concluded that the error was not harmless
because the defense presented evidence and argument contesting the omitted
materiality element. (/bid.)

138 THE COURT: Well, counsel is permitted to present to you, as I’ve said,
their theory of the case. They’re permitted to comment on the facts. They’re
permitted to comment on the law. § What they say is not evidence. And what
they say about the law is not the law. You have to follow my instructions on
that. (52 RT 10259:19-25, emphasis added.)

159 «“You’ll be given a copy of those instructions I believe, so you’ll have a
chance to look at it and say, gee, Mr. West said something. Miss Lombardo
(continued...)
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Hence, to the extent that the arguments of counsel conflicted with the
judge’s instructions, it must be presumed that the jurors followed the
instructions. (See e.g., People v. Vann (1974)12 Cal.3d 220, at 227, fn. 6 [“
... closing arguments . . . did not cure the error of the court’s omission . . .
[the] final charge . . . made it clear that the jurors were to follow the law as
explained by the court, and were not to follow rules of law stated in argument
but omitted from the instructions”]; see also People v. Miller, supra, 46

Cal.App.4th at 426.)'%°

'39(_..continued)

said something. But here’s what the judge has, and here’s what he instructed
us on. That’s the law. Whatever he says, that’s what goes. If you hear any
variations of that while I’m speaking or while Miss Lombardo’s speaking,
ignore us, because that’s the law.” (52 RT 10262:21-10263:1, emphasis
added.)

' The reviewing court must “presume that jurors treat the court’s instructions
as a statement of the law by a judge, and the prosecutor’s comments as words
spoken by an advocate in an attempt to persuade.” (People v. Clair (1992) 2
Cal.4th 629, 663; see also People v. Morales (2001) 25 Cal.4th 34, 47, People
v. Cole (2003) 33 Cal.4th 1158, 1204.) “The crucial assumption underlying
our constitutional system of trial by jury is that jurors generally understand and
faithfully follow instructions.” (People v. Mickey (1991) 54 Cal.3d 612, 689,
fn 17; see also People v. Delgado (1993) 5 Cal.4th 312; People v. Cruz (2001)
93 Cal.App.4th 69, 73 [“We presume that the jury ‘meticulously followed the
instructions given.’ [Citation.]”].)

This presumption is also well recognized by the Ninth Circuit. For
example, in Murtishaw v. Woodford (9th Cir. 2001) 255 F.3d 926, 968, the
trial court gave a confused and incorrect interpretation of the jury’s sentencing
discretion in a death penalty case. The Ninth Circuit held that the error could
not be rectified by counsel’s arguments. “This is particularly true given
California’s general approach to evaluating a jury’s interpretation of an
instruction based on the plain meaning of the language and the judicial
presumption that jurors follow the court’s instructions as law and consider
attorneys’ statements to be advocates’ arguments.” (255 F.3d at 969; see also

(continued...)
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7. Conclusion: The Robbery Conviction Should Be Reversed

The jury’s determination of the robbery charge should have turned on
whether the prosecution proved beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant acted
with intent to steal. However, because the judge instructed the jury using a
defective CALJIC instruction — which has since been repudiated by the
Judicial Council’s Blue Ribbon CALCRIM committee — the jurors were
permitted to convict appellant of robbery even if they believed that he did not
act with the intent to steal. Accordingly, the robbery conviction should be
reversed.

J. The Murder Convictions Should Be Reversed Because They Were

Founded On Robbery-Based Theories Of Liability

1. Overview

There is no question that the jurors relied on robbery felony murder to
convict appellant of first degree murder. (People v. Demetrulias (2006) 39
Cal.4th 1, 24-5 [“The robbery-murder special-circumstance finding also
dictated a finding of first degree felony murder under section 189 and the
corresponding felony-murder instruction . . .”]; see also People v. Sanders
(1990) 51 Cal.3d 471, 509-10 [same].)

However, because the instructions omitted the intent to steal element
of robbery, the robbery felony murder was a legally erroneous theory. And,

since the verdicts fail to demonstrate that all jurors relied on a proper legal

169(__.continued)

Payton v. Woodford (9th Cir. 2002) 299 F.3d 815 [reasonable jurors were not
likely to rely on the prosecutor’s statements instead of the instructions from the
court]; Morales v. Woodford (9th Cir. 2003) 336 F.3d 1136, 1146 [“The State
also argues that the closing arguments by counsel sufficiently educated the jury
that intent was essential. We must presume, however, that the jury took the
court’s instructions as its authority on the law . . .”].)
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theory of murder, the murder convictions should be reversed.

2. Standard Of Prejudice

As discussed above, the definition of robbery which governed the
jurors’ deliberations unconstitutionally omitted the intent to steal element of
the charge and negated appellant’s defense that he did not intend to steal.
Therefore, any robbery-based theory of liability advanced by the prosecution
which relied on the defective definition of robbery was also unconstitutional
and legally erroneous. (Seee.g., People v. Swain, supra, 12 Cal.4th at 607; see
also Peoplev. Green (1980) 27 Cal.3d 1,73 [“As we have repeatedly observed
... an error that relieves the jury from the necessity of making a difficult but
crucial finding as to state of mind is especially likely to be prejudicial.
[Citation.]”].)

And, the availability of such a legally erroneous theory is reversible
error even if other proper theories were also available:

“[1]t has long been settled that when a case is submitted to the jury on
alternative theories the unconstitutionality of any of the theories requires that
the conviction be set aside.” (Sandstrom v. Montana, supra, 442 U.S. 510,
526; see also Zant v. Stephens (1983) 462 U.S. 862, 881 [“general verdict must
be set aside if the jury was instructed that it could rely on any of two or more
independent grounds, and one of those grounds is insufficient, because the
verdict may have rested exclusively on the insufficient ground.”]; Yates v.
United States (1957) 354 U.S. 298, 312, [“[T]he proper rule to be applied is
that which requires a verdict to be set aside in cases where the verdict is
supportable on one ground, but not on another, and it is impossible to tell
which ground the jury selected.”]; Burks v. United States (1978) 437 U.S. 1;
Stromberg v. California (1931) 283 U.S. 359, 368 [“[I]f any of the clauses [of

the statute] in question is invalid under the Federal Constitution, the conviction
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cannot be upheld.”].) This line of cases, originating with Stromberg, makes
clear that “when a jury delivers a general verdict that may rest either on a
legally valid or legally invalid ground[,] . . . the verdict may not stand when
there is no way to determine its basis.” (Keating v. Hood (9th Cir. 1999) 191
F.3d 1053, 1062; see also United States v. Fulbright (9th Cir. 1997) 105 F.3d
443, 451, cert. denied, 520 U.S. 1236, 117 S. Ct. 1836, 137 L. Ed. 2d 1041
(1997) [“Where a jury returns a general verdict that is potentially based on a
theory that was legally impermissible or unconstitutional, the conviction
cannot be sustained.”].)"®'

A similar rule applies in California. (See People v. Swain (1996) 12
Cal.4th 593, 607 [reversal required when record did not establish whether or
not the jury relied on the incorrect theory]; People v. Perez (2005) 35 Cal.4th
1219, 1232-34; People v. Guit